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NOTICE

Notice is hereby given that the Twenty Third Annual General
Meeting of Fortis Healthcare Limited will be held on Thursday,
September 26, 2019 at 12:00 noon at National Institute of
Pharmaceutical Education and Research Mohali, Sector 67,
SAS Nagar, Mohali, Punjab-160062, to transact the following
business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:-

1.

To consider and adopt the Audited Standalone Financial
Statements of the Company together with Reports of the
Board and Auditors thereon and the Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements of the Company including Auditors’
Report thereon for the financial year ended on March 31,
2019.

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, the following
resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to provisions of Section
139 and other applicable provisions of the Companies
Act, 2013, if any, and rules made thereunder (including
any statutory modification(s), amendments(s) or re-
enactment thereof for the time being in force) and such
other approvals, consents, permissions of appropriate
authorities as may be required, approval of the Members
be and is hereby accorded for the appointment of
M/s B S R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants (Registration
No. 101248W/W-100022), who has given its consent along
with certificate under Section 141 of the Companies Act,
2013 and certificate issued by the Peer Review Board of
ICAL as Statutory Auditors of the Company and who shall
hold office of the Statutory Auditors from the conclusion
of Twenty Third (23") Annual General Meeting until the
conclusion of Twenty Eight (28") Annual General Meeting
to be held in the year 2024, and shall conduct the Statutory
Audit for the financial years commencing from April 1,
2019 to March 31, 2024, at such remuneration plus out of
pocket expenses and applicable taxes and other terms and
conditions as may be mutually agreed with the Statutory
Auditors.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors of
the Company be and is hereby authorised to delegate all or
any of the powers to negotiate, finalize, sign and execute
all necessary agreements, documents, deeds, papers, and
any modifications and supplements, as may be required in
this regard and to do all acts, deeds and things and take all
such steps as may be necessary, proper or expedient to give
effect to this resolution.”

SPECIAL BUSINESS:-

3.

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, the following
resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of
Section 148 and other applicable provisions, if any, of
the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Audit
and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (including any statutory
modification(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof, for the time
being in force) and Companies (Cost Records and Audit)
Rules, 2014, remuneration of ¥ 3,50,000 plus out of pocket
expenses and taxes, being paid to M/s. Jitender, Navneet &
Co., Cost Auditor appointed by the Board of Directors, to
conduct the audit of the cost records of the Company, for
the Financial Year ended March 31, 2019, be and is hereby
ratified and confirmed.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors of
the Company be and is hereby authorised to do all acts,
deeds and things and take all such steps as may be necessary;,
proper or expedient to give effect to this resolution.”

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, the following
resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of
Sections 152, 160, 161 and other applicable provisions,
if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the
Companies (Appointment and Qualification of Directors)
Rules, 2014 (including any statutory modification(s) or
amendment(s) thereto or re-enactment(s) thereof for the
time being in force) and in terms of Articles of Association
of the Company, Dr. Tan See Leng (DIN: 03321168) be
and is hereby appointed as Non-Executive Director of the
Company, liable to retire by rotation.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors
of the Company and/or any Committee thereof be and is
hereby authorised to do all acts, deeds and things and take
all such steps as may be necessary, proper or expedient to
give effect to this resolution”

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, the following
resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections
152, 160, 161 and other applicable provisions, if any, of
the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the Companies
(Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014
(including any statutory modification(s) or amendment(s)
thereto or re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being



in force) and in terms of Articles of Association of the
Company, Dr. Chan Boon Kheng (DIN: 08268826) be
and is hereby appointed as Non-Executive Director of the
Company, liable to retire by rotation.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors
of the Company and/or any Committee thereof be and is
hereby authorised to do all acts, deeds and things and take
all such steps as may be necessary, proper or expedient to
give effect to this resolution”

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, the following
resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections
152, 160, 161 and other applicable provisions, if any, of
the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the Companies
(Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014
(including any statutory modification(s) or amendment(s)
thereto or re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being
in force) and in terms of Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. Low Soon Teck (DIN: 01880497) be and
is hereby appointed as Non-Executive Director of the
Company, liable to retire by rotation.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors
of the Company and/or any Committee thereof be and is
hereby authorised to do all acts, deeds and things and take
all such steps as may be necessary, proper or expedient to
give effect to this resolution.”

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, the following
resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of
Sections 152, 160, 161 and other applicable provisions,
if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the
Companies (Appointment and Qualification of Directors)
Rules, 2014 (including any statutory modification(s) or
amendment(s) thereto or re-enactment(s) thereof for the
time being in force) and in terms of Articles of Association
of the Company, Mr. Chintamani Aniruddha Bhagat (DIN:
07282200) be and is hereby appointed as Non-Executive
Director of the Company; liable to retire by rotation.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors
of the Company and/or any Committee thereof be and is
hereby authorised to do all acts, deeds and things and take
all such steps as may be necessary, proper or expedient to
give effect to this resolution”

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, the following
resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections
152, 160, 161 and other applicable provisions, if any, of
the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the Companies
(Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014
(including any statutory modification(s) or amendment(s)
thereto or re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being
in force) and in terms of Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. Shirish Moreshwar Apte (DIN: 06556481)
be and is hereby appointed as Non-Executive Director of
the Company;, liable to retire by rotation.

10.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors
of the Company and/or any Committee thereof be and is
hereby authorised to do all acts, deeds and things and take
all such steps as may be necessary, proper or expedient to
give effect to this resolution”

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, the following
resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections
152, 161 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the Companies
(Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014
(including any statutory modification(s) or amendment(s)
thereto or re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being
in force) and in terms of Articles of Association of the
Company, Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi (DIN: 02775637) be
and is hereby appointed as Director of the Company, not
liable to retire by rotation.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors
of the Company and/or any Committee thereof be and is
hereby authorised to do all acts, deeds and things and take
all such steps as may be necessary, proper or expedient to
give effect to this resolution.”

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, the following
resolution as Special Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of
Sections 196, 197, 203 read with Schedule V (Section
II(B) of Part II) and other applicable provisions, if any,
of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rules made thereunder,
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015 (including any statutory modifications
or re-enactments thereof, for the time being in force)
and Articles of Association of the Company, basis the
recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee and the Board of Directors and all other
applicable statutory/regulatory approvals, consents and
permissions as may be necessary in this regard and such
conditions as may be imposed by any authority while
granting such approval(s), consent(s) and permission(s)
and as may be agreed to by the Board of Directors of the
Company (which term shall be deemed to include any
Committee constituted/to be constituted by the Board, or
any director/officer authorized by the Board of Directors/
Committee for this purpose), consent of the Members of the
Company be and is hereby accorded for the appointment of
Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi (DIN:02775637), as Managing
Director (designated as ‘Managing Director & CEQ’) of the
Company, with effect from March 19, 2019 for a period
of 3 (three) years, not liable to retire by rotation, on the
following terms and conditions:

(a) Salary, Perquisites and Allowances per annum: Upto
% 7,00,00,000 (Rupees Seven Crore only) per annum,
with authority to the Board of Directors/ Nomination
and Remuneration Committee or such other

committee as may be constituted from time to time to

vary/alter theremuneration in terms of Schedule Vand
other applicable provisions if any, of the Companies

Act, 2013.



The aforesaid perquisites and allowances shall be
evaluated, wherever applicable, as per the provisions
of Income Tax Act, 1961 or any rules thereunder or
any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment(s)
thereof; in the absence of any such rules, perquisites
and allowances shall be evaluated at actual cost.

Besides above, Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi shall also
be entitled to the following facilities which shall not
be included in the computation of above-mentioned
ceiling on total remuneration subject to the
Company’s Policy in this regard from time to time:

(i) Provision of Company maintained Car(s)

(ii) Encashment of Earned Leave at the end of the
tenure

(iii) Entitlement for travel (Class / Mode) shall
be as per the Company Policy from time to
time, expenses for which will be borne by the
Company on actual cost basis.

Further, Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi shall be eligible for
such other facilities and benefits etc. as per rules/policy of
the Company from time to time.

(b) Increment in salary, perquisites and allowances
and remuneration by way of incentive / bonus/
performance linked incentive, payable to
Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi, shall be determined by the
Board of Directors/ Nomination and Remuneration
Committee of the Board, in terms of the policy of the
Company and applicable provisions of the Companies
Act, 2013 in addition to the aforesaid remuneration.

(c) It is clarified that employees stock options, if any,
granted to Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi, from time to
time, shall not be considered as a part of perquisites
under (a) above and that the perquisite value of
stock options exercised shall be in addition to the
remuneration under (a) above.

(d) Reimbursement of Expenses: Business related
expenses including expenses incurred for travelling,
board and lodging shall be reimbursed at actuals and
not considered as perquisites.

(e) Sitting Fee: Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi shall not be
eligible to any sitting fee for attending Meetings of the
Board and/or any of its Committee(s).

(f) General:

(i) Subject to the superintendence, control
and direction of the Board, Dr. Ashutosh
Raghuvanshi shall perform such duties and
functions as would be commensurate with his
position and as may be delegated to him by the
Board from time to time.

(ii) He shall adhere to such other policies, service
conditions, rules of the
Company, as applicable from time to time

and regulations

(iii) If, at any time, Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi
ceases to be the Director of the Company
for any reasons whatsoever, his office to the

extent as Managing Director shall forthwith be
terminated

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein
above or in accordance with the terms and conditions of
his appointment, Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi will be paid,
current remuneration (including fixed salary, incentives,
increments & other allowances thereto and retirement
benefits) and as may be further decided by the Board of
Directors/ Nomination and Remuneration Committee, as
minimum remuneration subject to necessary approvals
and compliances as per the applicable provisions of the
Companies Act, 2013.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors
of the Company and/or any Committee thereof, be and is
hereby authorised to do all acts, deeds and things and to
sign, execute and file and/or modify all such forms, papers
and documents as may be considered necessary and take
all such steps as may be proper or expedient to give effect
to this resolution.”

By Order of the Board

For Fortis Healthcare Limited

Sd/-

Date: August 6, 2019 Sumit Goel
Place: Gurugram Company Secretary

NOTES:

1.

The Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of
the Companies Act, 2013, is enclosed herewith and forms
part of this Notice.

A MEMBER ENTITLED TO ATTEND AND VOTE
AT THE MEETING IS ENTITLED TO APPOINT A
PROXY(IES) TO ATTEND AND VOTE INSTEAD OF
HIMSELF/HERSELF AND SUCH PROXY(IES) NEED
NOT TO BE A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY. Proxies,
to be effective shall be duly filled, stamped, signed and
deposited, notless than 48 hours before the commencement
of the Meeting at the Registered Office of the Company.

Pursuant to the provisions of Companies Act, 2013 and the
rules thereunder, a person can act as proxy on behalf of
members not exceeding fifty and holding in the aggregate
not more than ten percent of the total share capital of the
Company carrying voting rights. A member holding more
than ten percent of the total share capital of the Company
carrying voting rights may appoint a single person as proxy
and such person shall not act as proxy for any other person
or shareholders.

Pursuant to provisions of Regulation 36 of the SEBI (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2015 and secretarial standards, the particulars of Directors
seeking appointment/re-appointment at this Annual
General Meeting are annexed to the Notice.

The cut-off date for the purpose of remote e-voting and for
physical voting is September 19, 2019. The E-voting facility
will be available from September 23, 2019 (from IST 0900
Hours) to September 25, 2019 (till IST 1700 Hours) after
which the e-voting facility will not be available.



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

The Members are requested to bring their copy of Annual
Report to the Meeting.

Members / Proxies are requested to bring their Attendance
slip/proxy form duly filed in, sent herewith alongwith the
Notice of the AGM at the Meeting. The members who hold
shares in dematerialized form are requested to bring their
Client Master List / Depository Participant Statement/
Delivery Instruction Slip reflecting their Client ID and
DP ID No. for easier identification of attendance at the
meeting.

Members are requested to notify any changes of address:

a.  To their depository participants in respect of shares
held in dematerialized form, and

b.  to Company/Registrar and Transfer Agent (“Karvy”)
in respect of shares in physical form, under their
signatures and quoting folio number (including for
change of residential status/ e-mail id, bank details
etc.)

In case of joint holders attending the meeting, only such
joint holder whose name appears at the top in the hierarchy
of names shall be entitled to vote.

Corporate members are requested to send a duly
certified copy of the Board Resolution/power of attorney
authorizing their representative to attend and vote at the
Annual General Meeting and to the scrutinizer at e-mail
id: rastogiassociates7@gmail.com.

For security reasons, no article/baggage will be allowed
at the venue of the meeting. The Members/attendance are
strictly requested not to bring any article/baggage, etc. at
the venue of the meeting.

Those members who have not yet got their Equity Shares
dematerialized, are requested to contact any of the
Depository Participants in their vicinity for getting their
shares dematerialized.

Members may avail the nomination facility as provided
under Section 72 of the Companies Act, 2013.

Non-Resident Indian Members are required to inform
Registrar and Transfer Agent- Karvy Fintech Private
Limited (“Karvy”) immediately of:

(a) Change in their residential status on return to India
for permanent settlement, and

(b) Particulars of their bank account maintained in India
with complete name, branch account type, account
number and address of the bank with pin code
number, if not furnished earlier.

Members desiring any information as regards the Accounts
are requested to write to the Company Secretary, giving
at least 7 days notice prior to the date of Annual General
Meeting to enable the Management to reply at the Meeting.

The Notice of Annual General Meeting will be sent to those
members/ beneficial owners whose name will appear in the
register of members/list of beneficiaries received from the

16.

17.

19.

20.

21.

22.

depositories as on August 16, 2019. A member who is not
a member as on the cut-off date i.e. September 19, 2019
should treat this Notice for information purpose only.

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has undertaken a
‘Green Initiative in the Corporate Governance’ by allowing
paperless compliance by companies. Also, the SEBI (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2015, permits companies to send soft copies of Annual
Report to all those shareholders who have registered
their email address for the said purpose. Members are
requested to support this Green Initiatives by registering
/ updating their e-mail address for receiving electronic
communications. The Notice for Annual General Meeting
along with the Annual Report of the Company will be made
available on the Company’s website ~-www.fortishealthcare.
com.

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) has
mandated the submission of Permanent Account Number
(PAN) by every participant in securities market. Members
holding shares in electronic form are, therefore, requested
to submit their PAN to their Depository Participants
with whom they are maintaining their demat accounts.
Members holding shares in physical form can submit their
PAN to the Company/ Karvy.

Members who have not registered their e-mail address
are requested to register their e-mail address for receiving
all communications including Annual Report, Notice,
Circulars, etc. from the Company electronically.

Electronic copy of the Notice is being sent to all members
whose email IDs are registered with the Company/
Depository Participants for communication purpose
unless any member has requested for a hard copy of the
same. For members who have not registered their email
address, physical copy of the Notice is being sent in the
Permitted mode.

All Statutory Registers, documents referred to in the
Notice and the explanatory statement will be available
for inspection at the Company’s registered office and/or
corporate office during normal business hours between
10:00 a.m. to 12.00 noon on the working days (except
Saturday) upto the date of Annual General Meeting.

In compliance with the provisions of Section 108 of the
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 20 of the Companies
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 (substituted
by Companies (Management and Administration)
Amendment Rules, 2015) and other applicable provisions,
if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 and of SEBI (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2015, the assent or dissent of the shareholders in respect of
the resolutions contained in the Annual General Meeting
Notice is also being taken through e-voting facility

provided through Karvy.

The e voting event number, User ID and Password along
with the detailed instruction for remote e-voting are
provided in the notice of remote e-voting, being sent along
with the Notice of Annual General Meeting.



23. 'The results on resolutions shall be declared on or before
closing business hours i.e. 06:00 p.m. on Friday, September
27, 2019 at the registered office of the Company and the
same along with the scrutinizer’s report shall also be
available on the website of the Company and on the website
of Karvy and that of BSE & NSE. The resolutions will be
deemed to be passed on the Annual General Meeting date
subject to receipt of the requisite number of votes in favor
of the resolutions.

24. Route map of the venue of the meeting along with the
landmark forms part of this notice.

25. The Shareholders can opt for only one mode of voting i.e.
remote or physical polling at the meeting. In case of voting
by both the modes, vote casted through remote e-voting
will be considered final and voting through physical ballot
will not be considered. The members who have cast their
vote by remote e-voting may also attend the meeting.

26. The Board of Directors has appointed Mr. Ramit Rastogi,
Company Secretary in Whole time Practice (C.P. No.
18465) as a Scrutinizer to scrutinize the voting process in a
fair and transparent manner.

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT
(Pursuant to Section 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013)
Item No. 2

Pursuant to the resignation of M/s. Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP,
Chartered Accountants as Statutory Auditors of the Company,
the Members, on the recommendation of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee and the Board of Directors, approved
the appointment of M/s. B S R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants
(Registration No. 101248W/W-100022) as Statutory Auditors
of the Company to conduct the statutory audit for the period
ended March 31, 2019.

Further, the Board on the recommendation of Audit and Risk
Management Committee, hereby recommends the appointment
of M/s B S R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants (Registration
No. 101248W/W-100022) as Statutory Auditors of the Company
for a period of five years to conduct the statutory audit for the
financial years commencing from April 1, 2019 to March 31,
2024. The Board took into consideration the credibility of the
proposed audit firm being one of the largest audit firms having
presence across the country & affiliates around the globe and
has a pool of trained & qualified resources in various domains,
suitable for the audit assignment as required for a Company of
our size. Accordingly, the proposed auditors shall hold the office
of Statutory Auditor from the conclusion of ensuing Twenty
Third (23") Annual General Meeting until the conclusion
of Twenty Eight (28") Annual General Meeting to be held in
the year 2024. The details of the remuneration of the Statutory
Auditors forms part of the Annual Report.

M/s. B S R & Co. LLP have given their consent to act as the
Auditors of the Company and have confirmed that the said
appointment, if made, will be in accordance with the conditions
prescribed under Sections 139 and 141 of the Act.

None of the Directors / Key Managerial Personnel of the
Company/their relatives are, in any way, concerned or interested,

financially or otherwise, in this Resolution except to the extent
of their respective shareholding, if any.

The Board of Directors recommends the Resolution as set
out at Item No. 2 for the approval of members as an Ordinary
Resolution.

Item No. 3

The Board of Directors, on the recommendation of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee, has approved the appointment
and remuneration of the Cost Auditors to conduct the audit of
cost records of the Company, for the Financial Year ended
March 31, 2019 as per the following details:

Name of the Cost Audit Firm | Amount (In Rupees)
M/s. Jitender, Navneet & Co.

3,50,000 (plus out of pocket
expenses and taxes)

In accordance with the provisions of Section 148 of the Act
read with the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, the
remuneration payable to the Cost Auditors as recommended by
the Audit and Risk Management Committee and approved by
the Board of Directors, has to be ratified by the members of the
Company.

Accordingly, consent of the members is sought for ratification of
the remuneration payable to the Cost Auditors for the Financial
Year ended March 31, 2019.

None of the Directors / Key Managerial Personnel of the
Company/their relatives are, in any way, concerned or interested,
financially or otherwise, in this Resolution except to the extent
of their respective shareholding, if any.

The Board of Directors recommends the resolution as set out
at Item No. 3 for the approval of the Members as an Ordinary
Resolution.

Item Nos. 4 to 8

The Board of Directors of your Company on the recommendation
of Nomination and Remuneration Committee, had co-opted
Dr. Tan See Leng, Mr. Low Soon Teck, Dr. Chan Boon Kheng
and Mr. Chintamani Aniruddha Bhagat as Additional Non-
Executive Directors w.e.f. November 13, 2018 and Mr. Shirish
Moreshwar Apte as Additional Non-Executive Director w.e.f.
December 31, 2018, in terms of Section 161 of the Companies
Act, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as “the Act”). Further, the Board
of Directors on the recommendation of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee, at its meeting held on May 24, 2019,
recommended for the approval of Members, the appointment of
aforesaid directors as Non-Executive Directors of the Company
as set out in the Resolutions relating to their appointment.

The Company has received requisite notice(s) in writing in
terms of Section 160 of the Act, proposing their candidature
for the office of Non-Executive Non Independent Directors of
the Company, liable to retire by rotation. Further, none of the
above-mentioned directors is disqualified from being appointed
as Director in terms of Section 164 of the Act and have given
their consent to act as Director of the Company. It is hereby
confirmed that none of the above-stated Directors, as on date,
are related to one another.



A brief profile of the aforementioned directors alongwith
requisite details pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Board
of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015 and the Secretarial Standard on General
Meetings is given below:

(A) Dr. Tan See Leng

Dr. Tan See Leng, aged 54 years, was appointed the
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of IHH
Healthcare Berhad (“IHH”) in January 2014 after serving
as an Executive Director on the IHH Board for two years.
Dr. Tan is also the Group CEO and Managing Director of
Parkway Pantai Limited, a position he assumed in 2011.
He also serves on the Boards of IHH subsidiaries, namely
Parkway Pantai Limited and Acibadem Saglik Yatirimlari
Holding A.S. ("ASYH”) Group and a Board Committee of
ASYH.

Prior to this, Dr. Tan was the CEO of Parkway Holdings
Limited from April 2010, a position he rose to fairly quickly
after he joined Parkway in 2004 as Chief Operating Officer
of Mount Elizabeth Hospital. As a young entrepreneur,
Dr. Tan founded a private primary healthcare group at the
age of 27 and subsequently developed it into the second
largest primary healthcare group in Singapore before
successfully selling the company to one of the leading
global health-plan providers.

With over 27 years of healthcare experience, Dr. Tan has
served as an active member of various medical committees
such as Singapore Ministry of Health’s MediShield Life
Review Committee. He has been reappointed Adjunct
Assistant Professor of Duke-NUS Graduate Medical School
Singapore, Office of Education, for the period until 2019.
He also serves on the Advisory Board of Lee Kong Chian
School of Business at Singapore Management University
and on the Board of Parkway Trust Management Limited
(“PTM”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of IHH.
PTM manages Parkway Life Real Estate Investment Trust
which is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited.

Dr. Tan holds a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of
Surgery (MBBS), National University of Singapore and
Master of Medicine (Family Medicine), National University
of Singapore.

Directorships held in other Companies as on date
(Excluding foreign companies)

S. |NAME OF THE NATURE OF INTEREST
No. |COMPANIES OR CONCERN
1 SRL Limited Additional Director

Memberships/ Chairmanships of committees of other
companies as on date (considered only Audit Committee
and Stakeholders Relationship Committee)- NIL

As on the date of appointment i.e. November 13, 2018,
he does not hold any shares or any other convertible
instrument in the Company, either in his individual
capacity or on a beneficial basis for any other person.

(B) Dr. Chan Boon Kheng

Dr. Chan Boon Kheng, aged 51 years, is Group Head,
Strategic Planning & Business Development (Merger &

©

Acquisition) of IHH Healthcare Berhad and CEO, SEA
Operations of Parkway Pantai Limited. A trained doctor
with a Master of Business Administration (Honours) from
the University of Chicago, Dr. Chan has over 15 years of
healthcare management and consultancy experience across
SEA and the Middle East. He was advisor to healthcare
companies as well as private equity funds on mergers and
acquisitions. From 2010 to early 2017, he was the Group
President of Sasteria Pte Ltd, a privately held healthcare
investment company while concurrently serving as the
Group President of Thomson Medical & Executive Director
of TMC Life Sciences Limited.

Directorships held in other Companies as on date
(Excluding foreign companies)

S. INAME OF THE NATURE OF INTEREST
No. [COMPANIES OR CONCERN
1 SRL Limited Additional Director

Memberships/ Chairmanships of committees of other
companies as on date (includes only Audit Committee
and Stakeholders Relationship Committee)- NIL

As on the date of appointment i.e. November 13, 2018
he does not hold any shares or any other convertible
instrument in the Company, either in his individual
capacity or on a beneficial basis for any other person.

Mr. Low Soon Teck

Mr. Low Soon Teck, aged 54 years, is the Group Chief
Financial Officer of IHH Healthcare Berhad (“IHH”). He
brings with him over 20 years of experience in finance,
legal and general management in leadership roles.

Prior to joining IHH, Mr. Low served with the RCMA
Group, a commodities supply chain management
company, as its Chief Financial Officer between 2013 and
2015. From 1994 to 2013, he was employed in the Kuok/
Kerry Group, holding various senior positions in diverse
businesses within the group in Hong Kong and Singapore.
His last position in the group was as Chief Financial Officer
of PACC Offshore Services Holdings Group, the offshore
marine arm of the Kuok/Kerry Group. Prior to this,
Mr. Low served as Group Treasurer at Wilmar International
Limited, after its merger in 2006 with Kuok Oils and
Grains where he had served as Group Financial Controller
following his relocation from Hong Kong to Singapore in
2005.

Whilst Mr. Low was based in Hong Kong from 1994 to
2005, he held various positions within the Kerry Group
including that of Director of China Operations at SCMP
Group, publisher of the South China Morning Post. In
this role, he was responsible for business development,
newspaper publishing and circulation operations as well as
managing a chain of retail convenience stores.

Mr. Low began his career as a solicitor in Singapore
at a boutique law firm from 1991 to 1993, focusing on
corporate and banking laws. He holds Master of Business
Administration, University of Chicago.



Directorships held in other Companies as on date
(Excluding foreign companies)

S. INAME OF THE
No. [COMPANIES

NATURE OF INTEREST
OR CONCERN

1 |Continental Hospitals|Alternate Director
Private Limited

Memberships/ Chairmanships of committees of other
companies as on date (includes only Audit Committee
and Stakeholders Relationship Committee)- NIL

As on the date of appointment i.e. November 13, 2018
he does not hold any shares or any other convertible
instrument in the Company, either in his individual
capacity or on a beneficial basis for any other person.

(D) Mr. Chintamani Aniruddha Bhagat

Appointed to the Board of IHH Healthcare Berhad (“THH”)
in 2016, Mr. Chintamani Aniruddha Bhagat, aged 50 years,
is currently the overseeing Executive Director for the
Healthcare sector of the Investments Division of Khazanah
Nasional Berhad (“Khazanah”) and concurrently leads
Khazanal’s India operations. He also serves on certain
Boards and Board Committees of IHH subsidiaries under
Acibadem Saglik Yatirimlari Holding A.S. Group.

Prior to joining Khazanah, Mr. Bhagat spent 14 years at
McKinsey & Company in Singapore, including six years as
Managing Partner for the Singapore office. He was a leader
in the healthcare practice, serving hospital systems across
Asia; as well as a leader in the Principal Investor practice,
serving several sovereign wealth funds, private equity
firms, and family owned businesses. He also founded
and led McKinsey’s corporate governance service line.
Preceding his time in McKinsey, Mr. Bhagat held various
positions at an engineering and construction firm in India,
which culminated in his role as the Chief Executive Officer
for the firm. He is also a qualified architect.

Directorships held in other Companies as on date
(Excluding foreign companies)

S. INAME OF THE
No. |COMPANIES

NATURE OF INTEREST
OR CONCERN

1 |IDFC Limited Nominee Director

2 |Khazanah India
Advisors Private
Limited

Whole-time Director

Memberships/ Chairmanships of committees of other
companies as on date (includes only Audit Committee
and Stakeholders Relationship Committee)

S. |Name of Name of Designation
No. [Company |Committee |(Chairman/Member)
1 |IDFC Audit Member
Limited Committee
Stakeholder |[Chairman
Committee

As on the date of appointment i.e. November 13, 2018
he does not hold any shares or any other convertible

(E)

instrument in the Company, either in his individual
capacity or on a beneficial basis for any other person.

Mr. Shirish Moreshwar Apte

Mr. Shirish Moreshwar Apte, aged 66 years, was appointed
to the board of IHH Healthcare Berhad in September
2014. He is currently also the Independent Non-Executive
Chairman of Pierfront Mezzanine Fund Pte Ltd. He
concurrently serves on several boards of directors including
Commonwealth Bank of Australia, the Supervisory Board
of Bank Handlowy, Poland and Fullerton India Credit
Company Limited. Prior to his retirement from Citigroup
in 2014 as Chairman of Asia Pacific Banking, Shirish had
built up an impressively extensive 32-year career with
Citibank/Citigroup. He held numerous positions with
Citibank/ Citigroup serving in Singapore (2011-2013),
Hong Kong (2009-2011), London (2003-2009), Poland
(1997-2003) and London (1993-1997). He also supervised
operations in the emerging markets covering Central and
Eastern Europe, Middle East, Africa (“CEEMEA”) and
Asia Pacific. He was appointed head of Citi’s Corporate
and Investment bank in India, Chief Executive Officer
(“CEQ”) for Citibank Poland, and regional CEO first for
CEEMEA and then Asia Pacific. Shirish was also a member
of Citigroup’s Executive and Operating committees from
2008-2012 and the Group’s Business Practices committee.
He began his career in the banking division of Citibank
India in 1981.

Shirish holds a Bachelor of Commerce from Calcutta
University and Master of Business Administration from
London Business School majoring in finance. He is a
Chartered Accountant from the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of England & Wales.

Directorships held in other Companies as on date
(Excluding foreign companies)

S. INAME OF THE NATURE OF INTEREST
No. |COMPANIES OR CONCERN
1 |Fullerton India Credit |Director
Company Limited

Memberships/ Chairmanships of committees of other
companies as on date (includes only Audit Committee
and Stakeholders Relationship Committee)- NIL

As on the date of appointment i.e. December 31, 2018
he does not hold any shares or any other convertible
instrument in the Company, either in his individual
capacity or on a beneficial basis for any other person.

Except Dr. Tan See Leng, Mr. Low Soon Teck, Dr. Chan
Boon Kheng, Mr. Chintamani Aniruddha Bhagat and
Mr. Shirish Moreshwar Apte, being the appointee, for
their respective items, none of the other Directors/Key
Managerial Personnel of the Company/their relatives are,
in any way, concerned or interested, in the said resolutions,
except to the extent of their shareholding, if any.

The number of Board meetings attended during the
Financial Year 2018-19, of aforesaid Directors are given
in Corporate Governance Report forming part of Board’s
Report.



The Board of Directors recommends the resolutions as
set out at Item Nos. 4 to 8 for approval of the members as
ordinary resolution.

Item Nos. 9 and 10

The Board of Directors of your Company on the
recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee (‘the Committee’), approved the appointment
of Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi as an Additional Director,
in terms of Section 161 of the Companies Act, 2013
and further subject to the approval of the Members,
as Managing Director of the Company (designated as
Managing Director and CEO) w.e.f. March 19, 2019 on the
remuneration stated in the resolution above.

Further, the Board on the recommendation of Nomination
and Remuneration Committee, at its meeting held on May
24, 2019, recommended for approval of the Members, the
appointment of Dr. Raghuvanshi as a Director and also
as Managing Director of the Company, as set out in the
Resolution relating to his appointment.

He is not disqualified from being appointed as Director in
terms of Section 164 of the Act and has given his consent
to act as Director of the Company. It is hereby confirmed
that, as on date, he is not related to any other director of the
Company.

It is proposed to appoint Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi
as Managing Director of the Company (designated as
‘Managing Director & CEO) for a period of three years
w.e.f. March 19, 2019, at a remuneration as detailed out in
Item No. 10.

The above may be treated as written memorandum setting
out the terms of appointment of Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi
under Section 190 of the Companies Act, 2013.

The Board of Directors recommends the resolutions as set
out at Item No. 9 (Ordinary Resolution) and Item No. 10
(Special Resolution) for the approval of the Members.

None of the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel
of the Company or their relatives except Dr. Ashutosh
Raghuvanshi himself, is/are in any way, concerned or
interested, financial or otherwise, in the proposed resolution
except to the extent of their respective shareholding in the
Company, if any.

A brief profile of the Dr. Raghuvanshi alongwith requisite
details pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Board of
India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015, Part II of Schedule V of the Companies
Act, 2013 and the Secretarial Standard on General Meetings
is given below:

General Information

(i) Nature of Industry: Business of providing healthcare
services and running multi-specialty hospitals.

(ii) Date or expected date of commencement of
commercial production: The
incorporated on February 28, 1996.

Company was

II.

(iii) In case of new companies, expected date of
commencement of activities as per project
approved by financial institutions appearing in the
prospectus: NOT APPLICABLE

(iv) Financial performance (on standalone basis)
based on given indicators as per Audited Financial
Results for the year ended March 31, 2019:

(Amount in ¥ lacs)

Particulars For the year ended

31.03.2019 (Audited)

Turnover and other income [118,098.41

Net profit after tax 12,308.38

(v) Foreign investments or collaborations, if any: As
of March 31, 2019, Fortis Healthcare International
Limited was a direct foreign subsidiary of the
Company, details of investment whereof is provided
in Notes to Account

Information about the appointee
(i) Experience and Background details:

Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi, aged 57 years is a cardiac
surgeon turned management leader. After completing
his MBBS and MS in general surgery from Mahatma
Gandhi Institute of Medical Sciences, Dr. Ashutosh
went on to do MCH in Cardiac surgery from the
University of Bombay. Over the last 26 years, he
has been associated with the Bombay Hospital,
Apollo Hospitals, Vijaya Heart foundation and
Manipal Heart Foundation. He is credited with the
establishment of Rabindranath Tagore International
Institute of Cardiac Sciences, Kolkata, where he
joined as Director in 2000 and is today one of the
largest Multispecialty Hospitals in Eastern India.

Before joining Fortis, he was last working with
Narayana Health as Vice Chairman, Managing
Director & Group CEO and was responsible for the
operations of all the group hospitals across India and
internationally.

(ii) Past remuneration drawn: ¥ 11.66 Crore (in his
capacity as Vice Chairman, Group CEO and Managing
Director of Narayana Hrudayalaya Limited)

(iii) Recognition and Awards/Achievements:

He was honoured as the “CEO of the Year” in Health
Care Leadership Awards, 2015 organised by Stars
Group

(iv) Job profile and suitability:
As the Managing director of the Company, he is inter-
alia responsible for the following activities:

e  Providing guidance for creation of the annual
operating plan for the organization

e  Working with the Board to define & execute
strategies, to implement and develop the
business plan



(v)

(vi)

(vii)

e  Talent Strategy & Optimization

e Promoting culture
that reflects organization values, encourages
meritocracy through recognizing performance

and rewarding achievement

an organization wide

e Overseeing the operations of the organization
and ensure compliance with legal and statutory
requirements

e  Managing company wide resources within
budget guidelines

e Proving information to Board so that they
are appropriately informed of the company’s
financial position

¢ Developing and maintaining relations with other
relevant commercial or institutional bodies
in the medical, pharmaceutical, international
development and community health fields

e Overseeing company’s expansion and growth
plans, and evaluate synergies through a detailed
due diligence exercise

e  Ensuring representation at several industry
forums and promote organizational brand
building among various stakeholder groups.

Dr. Ashutosh will be responsible for the day-to-day
management decisions of Fortis Healthcare Limited,
and for implementing the Company’s long and short
term plans. He is expected to provide the necessary
leadership and strategic direction to the management
the
profitability and long-term growth objectives, aligned

team in achieving company’s short-term
to the vision, mission and core values of the Fortis
Group. His qualifications and experience makes him

a suitable person for the said position.
Remuneration proposed:
As provided in the resolution.

Comparative remuneration profile with respect
to industry, size of the Company, profile of the
position and person:

Though direct comparable data could not be obtained,
however, as a normal industry trend, the proposed
remuneration of Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi, who
is a professional, possessing invaluable and rich
knowledge, experience and insights complemented
with the vast business experience, is comparable
with Executive Directors of other Companies and
is in parity with the Industry Standards for such a
responsible position.

Pecuniary relationship directly or indirectly with
the Company or relationship with the managerial
personnel, if any:

Except proposed remuneration as stated above,
Dr. Raghuvanshi does not have any other pecuniary
relationship with the Company and its managerial
personnel.

(viii) Companies (other than Fortis Healthcare Limited,

Foreign Companies and Section 8 Companies) in
which Dr. Raghuvanshi holds Directorships (as on
date):

S. No. |Name of the Company

1. |SRL Limited
2. |Fortis Hospotel Limited

(ix) Details of Membership in Committees of other

Companies (excluding Private Companies, Foreign
Companies and Section 8 Companies):

S. |Name of
No |Company

Name of Committee|Designation
(Chairman/
Member)

Chairman

1 |SRL
Limited

Share Allotment
and Shareholders’/
Investors’ Grievance
Committee

*Includes Audit Committee and Shareholder’s/
Investor Grievance Committee only

Shareholding in the Company: NIL
Original date of appointment: March 19, 2019

During the Financial Year 2018-19, Dr. Ashutosh
Raghuvanshi has attended 1 Board Meeting of the
Company (only one meeting was held post his
induction to the Board).

III. Other information:

@@

Reasons for loss or inadequate profits:

The Indian healthcare industry has witnessed some
headwinds in the recent past as a result of certain
regulatory challenges which have impacted a number
of large healthcare organizations including the
Company. Healthcare per-se is also an industry with
long gestation periods and it takes a considerable
amount of time for facilities to breakeven and start
generating adequate returns.

Specifically, the performance of the Company
was due to the significant internal challenges that
the Company had faced including amongst other
things matters related to management focus and a
liquidity crunch which impeded investment and
capital expenditure in the business. Both internal and
external factors have hence impacted the Company’s
growth and profitability.

With the above, it is also pertinent to re-iterate
that the healthcare industry continues to provide
an attractive long term growth potential for Indian
healthcare organizations such as the Company.
The supply imbalance in
healthcare infrastructure, lack of access to good
quality healthcare, increasing healthcare insurance
penetration and the rising burden of chronic diseases

demand terms of

remain some of the strong growth drivers for the
industry. The Company is today relatively well
positioned to capitalize on this opportunity.



(i) Stepstakenorproposedtobetakenforimprovement

and Expected increase in productivity and profits
in measurable terms:

The Company has begun to witness signs of recovery,
stabilization and growth. With the primary infusion
of capital by IHH Healthcare Berhad, a leading global
healthcare organization - the Company today has a
significantly strengthened Balance Sheet allowing
it to improve its liquidity and as a result plans for
investment and capital expenditure for growth have
been reinitiated. Amongst the key initiatives that have
already seen results are a lower cost of borrowing,
an improved credit rating, acquisition of the RHT
portfolio of assets and an improving occupancy in the
hospital business.

Along with the above, there is also a steadfast focus
on specific actions to reduce costs across functions
and businesses and re-organize the existing corporate
and organization structure to ensure -efficiency
across the network and business. Costs in the areas
of manpower deployment, IT Infrastructure and
services and supply chain / procurement are being
reviewed to align with industry norms. In order to
further improve cash generation, there is a concerted
effort on optimizing working capital and unlocking
value from certain non-core assets. Alignment with
a global healthcare organization such as IHH will
also over a period of time bring in certain synergistic
benefits that will further help the Company to add
value to its business.

The Diagnostics business of the group has also
begun to witness an improvement in performance
and select strategic actions for increasing volumes
and utilization viz-a-viz optimizing the collection

commission shortly; the Company will expand in
a calibrated manner so as to increase utilization of
existing beds and ensure that it has a well-balanced
product mix in tertiary / quaternary care healthcare
delivery. This will result in faster profitability as
gestation periods will be significantly shorter and
involve lesser initial costs.

Some of the Company’s key facilities are renowned
in select medical specialties and the Company plans
to further bolster the performance of these so as
to have them contribute meaningfully to overall
performance going forward. Along with a cost focus,
plans to increase business from such key facilities are
expected to largely be a result of expanding current
medical programs such as transplants, oncology, etc,
introducing new medical specialties and deploying
state of the art medical technology so as to provide
patients with a superlative experience in their
treatment and care.

All these efforts have seen a relative enhancement in
performance over the previous period and as they
continue to gain momentum; are expected to further
lead to a progressively improving profitability for
the Company. Over the long term the Company’s
dedicated focus on the Indian market, its positioning
as a premier tertiary care healthcare delivery
organization with world class clinical capabilities and
an experienced leadership team should expectedly
result in the Company setting industry benchmarks
in terms of performance, profitability and stakeholder
value.

IV Disclosures- General disclosures are given under
Corporate Governance Report forming part of Board

center network, focusing on product lifestyle tests, Report.

preventive care packages and select marketing and By Order of the Board
digital initiatives will continue to gain momentum. For Fortis Healthcare Limited
The Company’s hospital business expansion strategy Sd/-

will largely be that of brownfield expansion. With the ~ Date: August 6, 2019 Sumit Goel
exception of one greenfield facility that it expects to ~ Place: Gurugram Company Secretary
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Route Map of the venue for the 23 Annual General Meeting of
Fortis Healthcare Limited

Day ¢ Thursday

Date : September 26,2019

Time : 12:00noon

Venue : National Institute of Pharmaceutical Education and Research Mohali,

Sector-67, SAS Nagar, Mohali, Punjab-160062
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MESSAGE FROM
THE CHAIRMAN

We have moved forward with sustained stability and aim
to bring into play a new realm of service delivery in India.
The Company has witnessed a significant change in its
governance structure in order to shed its past challenges

and give a renewed focus on business.

Ravi Rajagopal




Pear Sharebolders,

It gives me great pleasure to connect with you all
through the Annual Report for the year 2018-19. |
warmly acknowledge the trust reposed in the new Board
by our valued shareholders without whose support
our Company would not be where it is today. When
the reconstituted Board began work last year, we had
a huge responsibility on our shoulders to work closely
with the management and bring back the focus on our
healthcare objectives and business. What we have seen
during this period is that our Company’s commitment
to patient care carries great repute and this is what we
need to continue to build on, this year too.

According to the India Brand Equity Foundation 2019,
the healthcare market in India is expected to touch
USD 372 billion by 2022 owing to rising incomes,
increased access to insurance, lifestyle diseases and
greater awareness. This means we have a lot to do
in the business of therapy and cure, guided by some
remarkable specialists. As a brand, Fortis has several
facets. While it has been through some tough times in
the last one and a half years, we stand for much more.
Our focus and investment in clinical excellence over
the years has made sure that we excel and deliver on
the clinical and operational side. Our teams too believe
this and have stood by us through this difficult period.
| sincerely thank our specialists, clinicians, nurses,
paramedics, technicians and all the staff at Fortis who
have continued to deliver despite all the odds. | foresee
a very bright future for the Company.

We have now moved forward with sustained stability
and aim to bring into play a new realm of service
delivery in India. The Company has witnessed a
significant change in its governance structure in order
to shed its past challenges and give a renewed focus
on business. We continue to take appropriate measures
and legal recourse in critical matters and have ensured
full cooperation in all legal and regulatory matters with
relevant authorities.

Fortis has also, over the past year, successfully managed
to transparently and efficiently bring in significant and
reputed strategic investors into the company. With the
IHH coming in as the single largest shareholder, we are
witnessing one of the biggest and most remarkable
alliances that the healthcare industry in India has

Message from the Chairman

ever seen before. It represents the transformational
association of two healthcare giants to achieve

synergy in promoting patient-centric healthcare.
This partnership allows India to step onto the global
platform, foster exchange of knowledge and learnings
from best practices. IHH brings to us the potential for a
stronger and wide network of partners, patients, best-
in-class medical technology and other innovations that
will help Fortis stay ahead of the curve.

The successful closure of the RHT Health Trust (RHT)
buy-back in the last quarter of the Financial Year was a
historic event in Company’s journey, as it provides huge
annual saving of funds that can now be ploughed back
into the system for operational excellence and critical
projects. This certainly augurs well for the future of the
Company.

| look forward to working with you all in the coming
months.

Thank you,

L W N

Ravi Rajagopal
Independent Director, Chairman
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MESSAGE FROM
THE MANAGING DIRECTOR
& CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

With patients at the centre of all our decisions, we
aim to further bulwark our systems by enhancing
efficiencies and strengthening our processes. Clinical
excellence is — and will remain - the single most

important differentiator.

Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi




Pear Sharebolders,

As Fortis embarks on a new, exciting journey, it gives
me immense pleasure to share with you the Annual
Report for the Financial Year 2018-19. At the very
outset, | would like to express my gratitude towards
all our patients, shareholders, vendors, employees and
other stakeholders for their continued confidence in us
and this truly energises us to give our best, every day.

Having been a part of the healthcare delivery industry
for over three decades; | can say with unflinching
certainty that quality healthcare is a universal need and
the demand for it is only going to grow over time. The
healthcare delivery space in India has been consistently
expanding over the past few years, with the entry of
several private hospital chains that have revolutionised
the very concept of healthcare delivery. Indian hospitals
now offer world-class clinical expertise along with
superlative supportive care, which was once available
only to those who could afford to travel abroad.

Fortis has been a pioneer in the healthcare space
and continues to be a trend-setter. Entrusted with
the responsibility of taking the Company forward, |
would strongly be reinforcing our position as a premier
tertiary healthcare delivery organisation in India led by
our core belief that providing world-class healthcare
delivery and exceptional patient care have to be the
cornerstones of our success. This is what we shall
endeavour to imbibe by in word and spirit.

Having said that, the healthcare sector — and indeed the
entire business landscape in India — is going through a
period of tectonic realignment in the wake of multiple
regulatory changes ushered in over the past few years.
In spite of severe headwinds due to various factors
acting in concert, | do believe that Fortis has done
reasonably well through the year. In this new phase for
the Company, | believe that my experience as a clinician
along with having led a healthcare organisation in my
past role and responsibility; will expectedly help me
steer the organisation on the right path.

One of the most significant events undoubtedly,
was [HH’s investment of ¥ 4,000 Crore in Fortis.
This was a result of a prolonged, multi-step value
discovery process, carried out in a highly transparent

Message from the Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

and impartial manner. With IHH now as our single
largest shareholder, I'm excited at the opportunities
that present themselves. Our clinicians will have the
potential to obtain access to a stronger and wider
network of partners, patients, colleagues and growth
opportunities in addition to best-in-class medical
technology and other innovations, thus enabling
them to offer a superior patient experience. We have
a fantastic team of doctors, nurses, paramedics and
administrative staff that delivers one of the finest
healthcare services to massive number of patients from
India and abroad, every day and command remarkable
respect and trust. They undoubtedly, form the bedrock
of our patient-centric business model.

We have already, to an extent, benefitted from the fund
infusion made by IHH in November 2018 which has
allowed business operations to stabilise and enabled
the management to focus on a build-back plan.
Additionally, we look forward to further improve and
strengthen our operations so as to enable us to invest
for future growth, look at filling gaps in our product
and speciality mix and judicious deployment of our
resources.

23" Annual Report 2018-19 | 9



With most of the legacy issues behind us, we now look
forward to sail full steam ahead. In many ways, we are at
a point of resetting the course for the future. However,
what will not change ever is our commitment to our
patients, who are our primary stakeholders.

With patients at the centre of all our decisions, we
aim to further bulwark our systems by enhancing
efficiencies and strengthening our processes. Clinical
excellence is — and will remain - the single most
important differentiator. Towards that end, we plan to
strengthen our core specialities such as Cardiac Science,
Neuro Sciences, Gastro Sciences, Sciences,
Orthopaedics and Oncology, to name a few, across our

Renal

facilities. Nurturing and investing in clinical talent will
therefore be a strong thrust area.

10

| Fortis Healthcare Limited

Enhancing and optimising utilisation of our facilities
is another key focus area. We intend to build further
on the gains achieved so far by eliminating costs
wherever possible and improving care delivery whilst
providing an improved patient experience. We are
in the process of rolling out an organisation-wide
Hospital Information System to enhance operational
effectiveness and efficiencies, enabling excellence
in every sphere of patient care. Digital unification,
embracing emergent medical technologies and making
incremental upgrades to our existing facilities in order
to further enhance patient experience are some of the
fundamental areas that we will be focusing on in the
year ahead.

In conclusion, | would like to reiterate that today, there
is an increased demand for quality healthcare delivery
services led by greater awareness and expectations
for advanced and modern treatment. Your Company
is striving to meet this by continuing to focus on
building our clinical expertise, improving infrastructure
and strengthening core specialities to serve patients
with unfettered zeal and enthusiasm. | have no doubt
that we can achieve the previous performance and
profitability metrics that we had witnessed a couple of
years back and further strengthen from there to meet
the best in class industry standards.

| wish to thank all our stakeholders, investors and
partners for their continued faith in us. | am confident
that our strengths in patient-centric healthcare
delivery, strong associations and the credibility within
the medical fraternity will propel Fortis to the next level

of growth.
Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
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MESSAGE FROM
THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER - SRL

We believe in building trust in each interaction with our
customers by providing affordable and accessible quality

diagnostic services to our patients.

Arindam Haldar




Pear Sharebolders,

During the last fiscal 2018-19, we continued to build our
capabilities — people, services and reach - to serve our
customers better and enhance the value we deliver to
them. Today, in many respects, the diagnostics industry
is at a crossroad, where on one side, the launch of
Ayushman Bharat opens up a plethora of opportunities
for diagnostics players like ours, while on the other
hand, there are possibilities of price capping through
various policy interventions, which may impact
profitability. Amongst the number of challenges being
faced by the healthcare sector in India, improving
financial performance and operating margins is the top
issue today. However, your Company continues to grow
the business profitably.

Your Company strongly believes that India needs a new
healthcare model, a model that is based on preventive
care and on detecting and treating conditions way
before they occur. India is a country where merely
9.6% of overall healthcare expenditure is spent on
preventive healthcare. In other words, more than 90%
of overall healthcare expenses go into treating diseases
and its complications amounting to more than ¥ 3.6
lakh crores a year. Furthermore, close to 50% of such
expenses goes towards in-patient beds for lifestyle
diseases, especially in urban and semi-urban pockets.
Non-communicable diseases (NCD) can be prevented
more easily than communicable ones — namely Malaria,
TB, pneumonia or dengue. Yet NCDs are responsible
for 7 of every 10 deaths worldwide, reports the World
Health Organisation in its September 2017 release
note, while as much as 61% of deaths in India occur
due to non-communicable diseases. As NCD ratio is on
the rise, it's time for our nation to adopt a preventive
mindset as these diseases can be invariably tackled first
just by adopting a healthy lifestyle and by regularly
monitoring health parameters. Therefore, after months
of research and careful planning, our Marketing Team
launched a set of customised health-check plan under
the brand name‘SRL Care’based on an individual’s age,
gender, lifestyle, health history and life-stage.

We have been able to enhance our customer centric
programmes, such as Home Collection of samples,
which has seen huge growth over last year along with
an exponential growth in the usage and downloads
of our newly revamped mobile app. This year also
saw the launch of our consumer loyalty programme -
Club SRL, which is a unique membership programme
that rewards SRL Diagnostics customers with
special privileges, reward points and members' only
discounts.

Message from the Chief Executive Officer - SRL

Your Company has seen a moderately positive
performance in the financial year. While the revenue
growth was a bit soft, owing to the closure of a few
government and other multi-lateral projects and the
impact of heavy competitive forces, your Company
made superlative improvement in the margins earned.
Multiple initiatives focussed on process optimisation
and cost negotiations yielded positive results, resulting
in an increase of 11% in EBITDA and an increase of 16%
in PAT.

Being in healthcare, we are often humbled when we
see the impact that our work has on people across
the country. It is our inherent belief that every life is
invaluable and what we do is more than just a job, buta
calling or a duty. It is for this reason that your Company
has instilled four pillars that are strictly followed -
Accuracy, Empathy, Innovation and Transparency.
For over two decades, SRLs purpose has remained
focussed on helping people on their path to better
health in extraordinary ways. In FY 2018-19, your
Company continued this tradition by bringing quality
healthcare closer to the masses, be it through our
PPP partnerships in Himachal Pradesh and Jharkhand
or through projects like UNICEF we have been able
to positively impact customers at the bottom of the
pyramid. And now with our recent lab opening in
Tirupati, we are able to serve millions of pilgrims that
visit this holiest of places every year.
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SRL is privileged to have many large Private and Public
Hospitals, as its esteemed and largest customers. SRL
labs exist in more than 120 hospitals, the highest in
the country, reflective of the trust that your Company
commands amongst doctors. There is also a seamless
interface with the hospitals with the intent of enhancing
patient care and providing the highest standards
of service, which also allows SRL to continuously
optimise and innovate its test menu by bringing in
novel tests, especially in the realm of Critical Care and
core speciality areas of Oncology, Gastrointestinal (Gl)
Pathology, Nephro-pathology and Cardiology, among
others.

Your Company is committed to bringing world-class
diagnostic facilities to ensure early detection. In
November, we launched Liquid Biopsy test, one of the
super-specialised test to help Oncologists monitor on-
point Cancer genetics through blood samples. We also
partnered with Microsoft, to jointly work on developing
Artificial Intelligence (Al) based solutions for clinical
diagnostics — almost becoming like the flag-bearers of
Al in Clinical diagnostics in India. Today, Al is already
being applied in analysing next-generation sequencing
data from the human genome and for tailoring therapy
for individuals as per their genetic makeup, especially
in cancer treatment. Talking about blood and bone
marrow transplants, for instance, nearly 50,000 patients
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worldwide receive blood stem cell transplants each
year, and their fate may well lie in how quickly clinicians
are able to find them a well-matched donor through
HLA testing. In many cases finding that perfect match is
far from easy - it requires timely and accurate analysis
of a highly complex and variable region of the human
genome. Fortunately, the Centre of Excellence (HLA) at
Gurgaon has been the fore-runner in the country. In FY
18-19, we also launched Lung cancer profiler Next and
CRC Profiler Next, the two NGS based genetic panels
for organ specific cancer touching lung and colorectal
cancer. These tests are launched to help oncologists
take informed personalised therapy decisions for the
patients.

Your Company is duty bound to serve the needs of the
healthcare sector in an accurate and efficient manner
with around 45 accredited labs, where the industry
is highly unorganised with only about 1% of total
labs being accredited. Your Company’s commitment
to quality has been duly recognised by the College
of American Pathologists (CAP) and the National
Accreditation Board for Testing and Calibration of
Laboratories (NABL). Your Company has implemented
an extensive quality assurance framework, which we
call three-levelled quality defence, to ensure complete
quality compliance. Your Company has also invested in
the latest technology platforms and process efficiency
tools to facilitate automation to provide superior
services and quick turnaround to our customers and be
abreast of advancements in the diagnostics industry.

Lastly,Itakethisopportunitytothankallourstakeholders,
investors, private equity partners, vendors, technical
and business partners for their continued support and
faith in the Company. | also thank the Board members
for their continuing guidance and support at every
step and place on record my appreciation for every
employee of SRL whose hard work and dedication has
contributed to our success and journey to become the
largest diagnostic player in the country. | am confident
that our strengths in technology and people, trust and
respect within the medical fraternity amalgamated
with our re-energised strategy focussed on innovation
and customer-centricity will propel your Company to
its next phase of growth.

-

Arindam Haldar
Chief Executive Officer - SRL






" JClI RE-FACCREDITATION

Fortis Hospital, Mulund, earned the JCI re-accreditation for the
fifth time in a row.

BUSINESS PROCESS MANAGEMENT (BPM)
ASIA MASTER AWARD

Fortis Healthcare won the ‘Business Process Management
(BPM) Asia Master Award’ for the Enterprise level at the BPM
Asia Star Championship 2018 organised by CII.

' FICCI HEALTHCARE EXCELLENCE
AWARDS 2018

Fortis Healthcare received the prestigious FICCI Healthcare
Excellence Awards 2018 in the Social Initiative category for the
‘Umeed Dhadkan' programme.

’ MORETOGIVE
Fortis Healthcare's MORETOGIVE ad film won a Bronze at the
Indian Content Marketing Awards.

AWARDS & ACCOLADES
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MEDICAL TRAVEL
QUALITY ALLIANCE
(MTQUA)

Fortis Hospital, BG Road, Bengaluru,
was ranked by the Medical Travel
Quality Alliance (MTQUA) as one of
the Top 10 World’s Best Hospitals
for Medical Tourism for 2018.

BEST HOSPITAL
INDIA DIABETIC

For the fifth consecutive year, Fortis C-DOC, New
Delhi, was named the ‘Best Hospital in India Diabetic
Care’ recognition at the Current Index of Medical
Specialities Healthcare Excellence Awards 2018.

NATIONAL AWARDS FOR EXCELLENCE IN
ENERGY MANAGEMENT

Fortis Hospital, Mohali, and Fortis Flt Lt Rajan Dhall Hospital, Vasant Kunj,
won the second prize at the Cll 19th National Awards for Excellence in
Energy Management in the Building Category.

MEDICAL VALUE TRAVEL AWARDS 2018

Four Fortis hospitals - Fortis Escorts Heart Institute, New Delhi, Fortis M
Hospital, Chennai, Fortis Flt Lt Rajan Dhall Hospital, Vasant Kunj, and For
Memorial Research Institute, Gurugram - won laurels at the Advantage Healthcare
India - Medical Value Travel Awards 2018.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Company witnessed muted financial performance
during the Financial Year 2018-19. Factors thatimpacted
the performance include (i) regulatory changes with
respect to pricing on certain medical consumables
(ii) management bandwidth constraints due to the
Group’s and ex-promoter related issues (iii) prolonged
transaction and due diligence process and (iv) funding
constraints, which led to a less than optimal CAPEX
spend resulting in delay of key business initiatives and
also impacted the working capital cycle.

For FY 2018-19, the Company recorded an audited
consolidated revenue from operations of ¥ 4,469
Crore compared to ¥ 4,561 Crore reported during the
previous year. The Operating EBITDAC, that is, Earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA), before the net costs related to the Business
Trust, stood at ¥ 541 Crore, representing a margin
of 12.1% versus 14.4% in the previous financial
year. Operating profit/operating EBITDA (excluding
other income and before exceptional item) from the
operations for the year stood at ¥ 326 Crore compared

to ¥ 389 Crore in the previous year. The Net Profit after
Tax for FY 2018-19 stood at ¥ (299) Crore as against
%(1,009) Croreforthe corresponding previous year.FY19
and FY18 had exceptional losses due to impairment of
investments/ goodwill/ assets and one-off expenses
for FY18. Exceptional losses also include one offs for
certain provisions taken. FY19 Profit After Tax and
Minority Interests (PATMI) also includes significant
share in associate mainly due to RHT’s profit related to
divestment of assets to Fortis in January 2019.

INDIA HOSPITAL BUSINESS

The India Hospital business witnessed muted
performance with FY 2018-19 net revenue of ¥ 3,527
Crore compared to ¥ 3,683 Crore reported in the
previous year. The Operating EBITDAC i.e. EBITDA
before the costs related to the Business Trust stood at
X 336 Crore, representing a margin of 9.5% compared
to 13.6% margin reported in the previous financial year.

International patient revenues for the hospital business
during the year stood at¥ 397 Crore representing 11.3%
of overall hospital business revenue, compared to ¥ 402
Crore reported in the previous financial year.
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For FY 2018-19, the Average Revenue Per Occupied Bed
(ARPOB) stood at< 1.51 Crore compared to X 1.49 Crore
in FY 18. Average Occupancy across the Fortis network
stood at 67% compared to 70% during the previous
year. Average Length of Stay (ALOS) stood at 3.39 days
compared to 3.48 days in the previous financial year.

Fortis continues to strive towards providing the best-
in-class clinical services and patient care. Our stringent
medical processes and protocols are designed to
deliver superior clinical outcomes and enhance patient
satisfaction. Highly talented and respected clinicians
are ably supported with reliable and sophisticated
medical technology and globally accredited hospitals
for delivering superior results.

Through sustained monitoring and measuring of our
practices, the Company has been able to promote
transparency and enhanced patient care. Such
measures include clinical outcomes, quality and
infection prevention and control practices.

FINANCIALS OF DIAGNOSTICS BUSINESS (SRL LIMITED)

For the Financial Year 2018-19, SRL Ltd. reported
net revenues of ¥ 877 Crore (net of inter-company
sales) compared to ¥ 854 Crore reported during the
Financial Year 2017-18, a growth of 2.7%. The Company
operating EBITDA for the year stood at ¥ 180 Crore,
representing a margin of 20.6% compared to margin of
18.9% reported during the previous financial year. On
a standalone basis, SRL's gross revenue grew at 2.1% to
1,010 Crore compared to ¥ 990 Crore reported in FY18.

While the top-line remained muted, SRLs initiatives on
the cost side resulted in (1) a reduction in direct costs
as an outcome of improving lab efficiency and vendor
costs negotiations and (2) savings in manpower costs as
a result of lab rationalisation and staffing optimisation.

As of March 31, 2019, SRL had a network of 401 labs,
1,026 collection points and over 7,100 direct clients.

HOSPITALS

Fortis Memorial Research Institute (FMRI), Gurugram,
the flagship hospital of Fortis Healthcare, completed
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six years of operation in May 2019. In the short span,
the hospital has become synonymous with world-class
clinical excellence and compassionate patient care.

Many new clinical benchmarks were established
at FMRI during the year. The Liver Transplant Team
successfully performed the rare ‘dual lobe living donor
liver transplant! The Gynae-Oncology Team completed
225 advanced robotic surgeries in record time, which
was a first in Northern India. The team also commenced
Heated Intra Peritoneal Chemo Therapy (HIPEC)
procedure. The Haemato-Oncology & Bone Marrow
Transplant (BMT) Team completed 200 BMT procedures
during the year.

FMRI launched a first-of-its-kind initiative by a hospital,
the ‘Super Starter Inc. - A Healthcare Challenge! For its
first edition, FMRI received 50 entries from across the
globe, where ideas from entrepreneurs in the medical
technology space were showcased. The winners were
decided after multiple rounds of scrutiny and final
presentation by the shortlisted teams.

To offer better patient care, FMRI brought together all
Oncology-related departments - Medical Oncology,
Surgical Oncology, Radiation Oncology, Gynae
Oncology, Nuclear Medicine and BMT - under one
umbrella. A dedicated learning centre for autistic
children was inaugurated and a specialised Anaemia
Clinic was launched. Support group activities for kidney
patients and oncology patients were organised to raise
awareness.

The hospital won several awards and accolades during
the year. These included the ‘Best Hospital to Work For’
recognition from Association of Healthcare Providers
(India), ‘Central Sterile Services Department (CSSD)
Centre of Excellence Award, instituted by the Asia Pacific
Society of Infection Control (APSIC) and the ‘Pharmacie
de Qualite’ certification for excellence in procurement,
stocking and sale of pharmaceutical products, to name
a few.

Established as the first hospital of Fortis Healthcare
Limited, Fortis Mohali continues to retain its laser-
sharp focus on clinical excellence. The hospital runs



Operations Review

highly successful programmes in Cardiac Sciences,
Orthopaedics & Joint Replacement, Oncology,
Transplants, Critical Care, Neurosciences and Vascular
Surgery among others.

In July 2014, the hospital added Fortis Cancer Institute
(FCl) toits fold, offering the latest, most technologically
advanced and comprehensive cancer treatment in
the region. The facility houses an array of modern
equipment and has expertise in Gynae-Onco, Uro-
Onco, Paediatric-Onco, Ortho-Onco, Haemato-Onco,
Neuro-Onco and Breast-Onco, besides capabilities to
treat endocrine, liver, oral and ocular cancers as well
as colorectal cancers. FCl continues to gain the trust of
patients from all over the region and has become one
of the most sought-after cancer treatment facilities in
North India.

In 2018-19, Fortis Hospital, Mohali, became the
first centre in the region to perform Trans-catheter
Aortic Valve Replacement (TAVR). For patients with
high surgical risk, such as patients of critical aortic
stenosis, Percutaneous Aortic Valve Replacement is
a new treatment option. Non-surgical aortic valve
replacement comes as a boon to such patients. This has

further reinforced the hospital’s position as a leading
centre of excellence in Cardiac Sciences.

In 2017-18, Fortis Mohali introduced robotic surgery
to the region, becoming the first hospital to conduct
surgeries with the Da Vinci Xi robotic system. The
surgical robot eliminates hand tremors and provides a
magnified view for surgeons to operate upon, resulting
in extremely precise surgeries. This surgical precision
is needed for complicated cancer surgeries where
complete excision of cancerous tissue can drastically
slow down the progress of the dreaded disease.
Robotic surgeries are fast emerging as treatment of
choice and an increasing number of patients are opting
for such operations. In the year gone by, Robotic Head
& Neck Cancer surgeries were added to the hospital’s
repertoire of complex surgical procedures.

In the fields of Interventional Neuro Radiology and
Interventional Radiology, Fortis Mohali has continued
to strengthen its position as a Centre of Excellence,
by successfully saving many patients who reach
the hospital even after 24-hours of having a brain
stroke. Gastro and liver cancer patients have also
greatly benefitted from the Interventional Radiology
Department.
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Fortis Mohali has become the largest kidney transplant
centre in the region and is capable of conducting
ABO incompatible transplants, paediatric transplants,
robotic transplants and swap transplants in addition
to providing care for renal cancer as well as acute and
chronic kidney disease patients.

The hospital won several awards during the vyear,
including the prestigious ‘Green Hospital’ award at
Association of Healthcare Providers (India) Healthcare
Excellence Awards, Quality Council National Award
2018 for Neonatal Intensive Care, North West Qual Tech
Quiality Innovator Award and the prestigious‘Pharmacie
de Qualite’ certification, to name a few.

Patient satisfaction and patient-centric care have been
a strong focus of the hospital and this, coupled with a
highly respected clinical talent pool and state-of-the-
art infrastructure, have made Fortis Mohali the most
coveted hospital in the region.

Fortis Escorts, Okhla Road, a Joint Commission
International (JCI) accredited facility, has been setting
benchmarks in cardiac care with path-breaking
work over the past 30 years. It is recognised all over
the world as a Centre of Excellence in cardiac care,
providing the latest treatment such as Cardiac Bypass
Surgery, Interventional Cardiology, Non-invasive
Cardiology, Paediatric Cardiology and Paediatric
Cardiac Surgery. The hospital is backed by the most
advanced laboratories performing the entire range of
investigative tests in the fields of Nuclear Medicine,
Radiology, Biochemistry, Haematology, Transfusion
Medicine and Microbiology. The hospital houses Asia’s
first tele-ICU, which provides ‘intensive care beyond
boundaries!

During the year, Fortis Escorts introduced Impella and
MitraClip procedures for the first time in India. In 2015-
16, Fortis Escorts had added a programme in Liver &
Digestive Diseases with the launch of the Fortis Escorts
Liver & Digestive Diseases Institute. Extending its ambit
of medical services further, the hospital added two new
institutes in 2016-17, namely the Fortis Escorts Kidney
and Urology Institute (FEKUI) and the Fortis Bone &
Joint Institute (FBJI).
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In the year 2018-19, Fortis Escorts achieved significant
volumes in the existing as well as the newly introduced
medical specialities. During this period, 19 Trans-
catheter Aortic Valve Replacements (TAVRs), 42 liver
transplants, 16 kidney transplants, 3 heart transplants,
4 Impella and 1 MitraClip procedures were conducted.

Reinforcing its leadership position in Cardiac
Sciences, the hospital continues to focus on high-end
clinical offerings such as Heart Failure Programme,
Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO)
Programme, Minimally Invasive Cardiac Surgery and
high-end Electrophysiology services, to name a few. FBJI
is additionally focussing on spine-related disorders and
Sports Medicine, apart from various other orthopaedic
ailments. The Fortis Escorts Liver & Digestive Disease
Institute continues to focus on complex procedures
such as liver transplants, laparoscopic procedures,
Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangio-Pancreatography
(ERCP) and Endoscopic Ultrasound (EUS), among
others.

Fortis Escorts, Okhla Road, received many prestigious
awards in 2018-19. These include the 'Best Cardiology
Hospital in Delhi NCR' title at the Times Health Care
Achievers Awards 2018, '‘Best Cardiology Hospital in
India (Private)' recognition in The Week Magazine
Survey 2018, 'Best Place to Work for in Healthcare
Industry' recognition at the Association of Healthcare
Providers (AHPI) Awards 2018 and 'Best Hospital for
Cardiology' at the Advantage Healthcare Awards 2018,
among several others. The hospital has also received
the Green OT certification.

Fortis Hospital, BG Road, Bengaluru, is a tertiary
care hospital accredited by the Joint Commission
International (JCI), the National Accreditation Board
for Hospitals & Healthcare Providers (NABH) and
the National Accreditation Board for Testing and
Calibration Laboratories (NABL). Continuing its glorious
tradition, the hospital had undergone the fourth JCI
re-accreditation, second NABH re-accreditation, first
Emergency Room NABH audit, first NABH Nursing
Excellence re-accreditation audit, first NABH Ethics
Committee accreditation and ‘Pharmacie de Qualite’
certification during the year.
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Several new clinical programmes were launched in the
course of the year. These include the heart failure and
heart transplant programme, robot-assisted surgeries,
Onco-Gynaecology, Radiation Oncology and Nuclear
Medicine. Advanced and complex proceduresincluding
the first robotic Mitrafanoff with Malone Antegrade
Continence Enema (MACE) procedure, Trans-catheter
Aortic Valve Implantation (TAVI), Leadless Pacemaker
and 3D Mapping Guided Radiationless Ablation of
Atrioventricular Nodal Re-entry Tachycardia (AVNRT)
were also conducted.

Fortis BG Road won several recognitions through the
year. Prominent among these were the Breastfeeding
Promotion Network of India (BPNI) Certificate of
Appreciation for ‘Contribution towards celebration
of World Breastfeeding Week - World Alliance for
Breastfeeding Action (WABA) 2018, Conference of
Consortium of Accredited Healthcare Organisations
(CAHOCON) Award 2018 for ‘Risk stratification of
Surgical Site Infections (SSl) in a tertiary care hospital
and for Quality Improvement Plan (QIP) on prevention
and control of SSI"'and CAHOCON Award 2019 for video
presentation on ‘Antenatal care (Lamaze exercises).

Fortis Hospital BG Road was ranked 9th amongst the
world’s best hospitals for medical tourists by Medical
Travel Quality Alliance (MTQUA).

Fortis Hospital, Mulund

Fortis Hospital, Mulund, the first hospital in Western
India to receive the coveted Joint Commission
International (JCI) accreditation five times in a row, is
known for its clinical excellence in multiple specialities,
including Cardiac Sciences, Orthopaedics, Oncology
and Neurosciences among others. The hospital has
carved a niche for itself in the organ transplants space,
with 102 heart transplants inclusive of seven heart and
lung transplants being conducted so far.

The hospital notched up several clinical successes
during the year. The hospital has successfully conducted
four Trans-catheter Aortic Valve Implantation (TAVI)
procedures. A foreign patient was treated for a difficult
tracheo-esophaegeal repair.

Fortis Hospital, Mulund, also installed Da Vinci Xi Robotic
Surgical system, the most advanced robotic surgery
technology. The four-armed surgical robotic system is
being used for the specialities of Urology, Oncology,
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Gynaecology, Head & Neck and Gastrointestinal
surgery.

The facility continued its journey as a centre for
academic excellence with multiple DNB and other
Fellowship programmes.

The Nursing Team kept the flag flying high by
participating in various local, state, national and
international seminars and conferences. On various
occasions, the team members were recognised for their
papers and posters on innovative clinical practices.

The facility was recognised for its excellent clinical and
nursing capabilities at various fora. Fortis Mulund was
honoured with the Best Cardiology Services Award
at the Times Healthcare Achievers Awards, held in
Mumbai. The Nursing Team won the first prize at the
7th Infusion Nurses Society Conference, the Neonatal
Nursing Conference and Conference of Consortium of
Accredited Healthcare Organisations (CAHOCON). The
hospital also received the Best Paper award at the at the
International Conference on Emergencies.

Fortis Hospital, Noida, is a 206-bed super speciality
having excellent clinical capabilities in Liver Transplant,
Kidney Transplant, Cardiac Sciences, Neurosciences,
Orthopaedics, Oncology including Medical, Surgical,
Radiation and Haematological Oncology, and Critical
Care. Fortis Noida is National Accreditation Board for
Hospitals & Healthcare Providers (NABH), NABH (Blood
Bank) and National Accreditation Board for Testing
and Calibration of Laboratories (NABL) accredited. The
hospital is spread across a 5-acre land, which allows
for better flexibility to adapt and accommodate future
requirements of patient care.

Fortis Hospital, Noida, was one of the first facilities
in the State of Uttar Pradesh to carry out liver and
bone marrow transplants. The hospital is known
for its highly successful liver transplant and kidney
transplant programmes. It addresses a wide range of
healthcare needs and prides itself in performing many
first procedures in Uttar Pradesh. For instance, Fortis
Noida was among the first private hospitals to perform
liver transplants and ABO (blood group) incompatible
kidney transplants. In view of the importance of its
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Transplant Programme, a full-fledged Transplant Block
is being set up to include out-patient departments,
operation theatres, intensive care units and rooms for
patients. The hospital conducted 114 liver transplants
and 54 kidney transplants in FY 2018-19.

During the same period, Fortis Noida has done 569
joints replacements, 1,478 urological surgeries, 1,521
cardiology procedures and cardiac surgeries and 701
neuro surgeries.

The hospital received the Green OT certification,
underscoring its sustainable and environment-
friendly approach towards healthcare. In line with its
commitment to patient care, Fortis Noida has one of
the fastest and most powerful CT scanners and state-
of-the-art MRI equipment. The hospital was recognised
as the ‘Comprehensive Neurosciences Service Provider
Company of the Year’ by Frost & Sullivan in 2015.

Commitment towards patient welfare and providing
quality healthcare is reflected in the unique design
attributes of the hospital. The facility won top honours
at the National Energy Conservation Awards instituted
by the Government of India for several consecutive
years. The Society for Emergency Medicine, India,
named Fortis Noida as a Centre of Excellence in 2015.
The Week Magazine recognised Fortis Hospital, Noida,
as the third best hospital in Delhi-NCR under the multi-
speciality hospital category in 2018.

Fortis Hospital, Shalimar Bagh, (FHSB) New Delhi, a
green field facility, completed eight years of operations
in December 2018. The 262-bed hospital has received
accreditations from National Accreditation Board for
Hospitals & Healthcare Providers (NABH) and National
Accreditation Board for Testing and Calibration of
Laboratories (NABL). It has been certified by NABH for
Nursing Excellence. The hospital offers multi-speciality
and tertiary care in a wide range of specialities
and has Centres of Excellence in Cardiac Sciences,
Neurosciences, Orthopaedics & Joint Replacement,
Mother & Child Care, Oncology, Gastroenterology,
Gastrointestinal Surgery & Minimal Access Surgery,
Renal Sciences & Critical Care. Besides, FHSB is also
a leading centre for gender reassignment surgeries.
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The Fortis Cancer Institute at FHSB is a comprehensive
Oncology set-up, complete with Medical, Surgical and
Radiation Oncology facilities.

Many clinical benchmarks have been set at FHSB during
recent years. Inits journey of clinical excellence, the unit
has a record of having done over 9,000 angiographies,
4,100 angioplasties, 1,800 joint replacements; 878
bariatric surgeries; 7,500 deliveries, 85,000 dialysis
procedures, 13,000 Oncology procedures, close to
1,000 Positron Emission Tomography-Computed
Tomography (PETCT) scansand over 100 Endobronchial
Ultrasound (EBUS) procedures so far.

The hospital has a robust academic programme. It is
accredited by the National Board of Examination for
Diplomate of National Board (DNB) courses in seven
clinical specialities. It is also recognised by the Indian
Society of Critical Care Medicine for Indian Diploma
in Critical Care Medicine (IDCCM) and Certificate in
Critical Care Medicine (CTCCM) courses for doctors as
well as IDCCM courses for nurses. The Indian Academy
of Paediatrics and the National Neonatology Forum has
recognised the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) for
conducting Fellowships in Neonatology.

The hospital has won several accolades during these
years. These include the Federation of Indian Chambers
of Commerce & Industry (FICCI) Heal Award (Poster
Presentation) in 2014, Best Poster Presentation award
at the first national Conference of Consortium of
Accredited Healthcare Organisations (CAHOCON) in
2015, the Green OT Certification and the ‘Pharmacie
de Qualite’ certification, to name a few. The hospital
has also received rich accolades on various prestigious
forums for its energy efficiency initiatives.

Fortis Hospital, Anandapur

Fortis Hospital, Anandapur, Kolkata, has positioned
itself as a trusted healthcare provider for the patients
in Eastern India and the neighbouring countries.
This multi-speciality hospital has strong focus on
Cardiac Sciences, Pulmonology, Gastroenterology,
Neurosciences, Orthopaedics and Renal Sciences.

During the year, Fortis Anandapur became the first in
Eastern India to successfully conduct a heart transplant.
The Department of Cardiac Sciences conducted Trans-
catheter Aortic Valve Implantation (TAVI) procedure
with Indian-made aortic valve implant for the first
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time in Eastern India. The Department of Respiratory
Medicine along with the Department of Paediatrics
at the hospital conducted Endobronchial Ultrasound
(EBUS) on an eight-year-old child, who is reportedly the
youngest ever child in India to undergo the procedure.
The Department of Paediatrics also saved the life of an
eight-year-old patient with multi-organ failure post 35
days of hospitalisation. The Department of Renal Care
also successfully conducted the first ABO Incompatible
Renal Transplant at the unit.

The hospital continued the impetus on research and
medical education, conducting multiple projects in the
areas of Respiratory Medicine, Cardiology, Neurology,
Gastroenterology, Nephrology and Endocrinology.

In 2018, Fortis Hospital, Anandapur, became the
first hospital in Kolkata to receive the Gold Level
‘Pharmacie de Qualite’ certification from Bureau Veritas.
The Anandapur unit also received National Board of
Examinations (NBE) accreditation for DNB Cardiology
Programme. Green OT certification for Fortis Anandapur
was renewed during this year. International Patient
Safety Goals (IPSG) were also implemented at the unit.

Five DNB courses in Cardiology, Respiratory Medicine,
Genito-Uro Surgery (Urology), Emergency Medicine
and Anaesthesiology are running at Fortis Hospital,
Anandapur, in association with NBE. Diploma courses
in Dialysis Technology, Cath Lab Technician, Medical
Laboratory Technician and Radiology are being
offered in association with the State Medical Faculty
of West Bengal. Apart from these, a diploma course
in Respiratory Technician is also conducted at Fortis
Anandapur in association with Jadavpur University
and a Master’s degree in Emergency Medicine (MEM)
is offered in association with Society for Emergency
Medicine of India (SEMI) apart from Indian Diploma in
Critical Care Medicine (IDCCM).

Founded in 1989, Fortis Malar Hospitals (earlier known
as Malar Hospitals), was brought into the Fortis family
in early 2008. It is now well established in Chennai as
a premier corporate hospital, providing quality super-
speciality and multi-speciality healthcare services.

Fortis Malar has created a name for itself as a premier
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cardiac transplant centre, having achieved the unique
distinction of successfully completing around 293 heart,
lung and combined heart and lung transplants as on
March 31, 2019. In addition, 15 Left Ventricular Assisted
Device (LVAD) surgeries have also been done in the
last two years by the cardio-thoracic team. During the
year, more than 100 knee and hip replacements were
performed by the Orthopaedic team - several of them
being single sitting bi-lateral Total Knee Replacement
(TKR) procedures.

During the year, the hospital also got itself accredited
with National Accreditation Board for Hospitals &
Healthcare Providers (NABH) after fulfilling all entry
level requirements.

Fortis Escorts Hospital, Jaipur, Rajasthan’s first National
Accreditation Board for Hospitals & Healthcare Providers
(NABH) accredited hospital and a proud recipient of
NABH certification for Blood Bank, Laboratories and
Nursing Excellence accreditation, completed 12 years of
its glorious existence this year. With the aim of bringing
world-class healthcare service within the reach of every
individual in the State, the hospital is committed to
maintaining its high standards of clinical excellence,
research and academic programmes.

With 49 specialities, state-of-the-art technology and
perfect blend of experience and innovation, Fortis
Jaipur has built world-class capabilities in high-
end procedures such as complex kidney transplant,
congenital heart defect, complex cardiac surgery,
gastrointestinal and bariatric surgery, minimally
invasive surgery, computer-aided neuro surgery,
robotic joint replacement, trauma and critical care to
name a few.

The hospital has won many coveted recognitions
over the years, including the Silver, Gold and Platinum
awards at the national level from Quality Council
of India for six consecutive years. Fortis Jaipur has
also won Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce
& Industry (FICCI) awards for clinical excellence,
patient friendliness and for various patient safety and
quality improvement projects. Fortis Jaipur is the only
hospital in Rajasthan to be certified with Green OT
certification.
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has

Fortis Jaipur been accredited for various
academic programmes, including the National
Board of Examination (NBE) for various Diplomate of
National Board (DNB) courses in specialities such as
Internal Medicine, Paediatrics, Gastroenterology and
Anaesthesia. The hospital has also been accredited
by Indian Society of Critical Care Medicine (ISCCM)
for offering Critical Care Medicine Certificate course
for nurses and doctors. The hospital also runs courses
such as Post Graduate Diploma in Hospital and
Health Management (PGDHHM), Certificate Course in
Healthcare Waste Management (CHWM) and Certificate
Course in Home Based Health Care (CHBHC).

FORTIS LA FEMME

Women'’s health goes way beyondjust theirreproductive
age. There exists a gap in terms of holistic healthcare
solutions directed at physical and mental health issues
of women across age groups adolescence, youth,
midlife and later years. Internationally, this lacuna has
been long acknowledged, spurring pioneers like the
Mayo Clinic and The Women’s in Australia to bridge
the gap. La Femme is a healthcare offering dedicated
to improving Women and Child health and well-being.

La Femme Vision, Mission & Values

La Femme’s vision is to be a globally respected woman
and child healthcare provider known for exemplary
clinical and holistic wellness care. Its mission is to
be the global healthcare destination for women
and children, with world-class clinicians, superlative
nursing and empathetic teams creating a culture of
patient centricity where patients feel safe, cared for and
nourished in mind, body and spirit.

Fortis La Femme Positioning

Across the country, most women and child centres
are seen primarily as birthing centres with negligible
focus on other specialities. Fortis La Femme breaks that
stereotype and is positioned as an all-encompassing
‘Women’s Health’ provider. The addressable target
group spans women in the age group of 15 to 65
years. The new positioning for Fortis La Femme has
been conceptualised to provide a comprehensive;
tailor-made, clinical and holistic care offering designed
just for women; caring for their complete health and
wellness needs, in warm and nurturing spaces.
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Being a women-centric business, the focus is to create
a powerful brand that touches the target group at
an emotional level, becoming her true partner for all
health and wellness issues.

La Femme takes an integrated approach to women'’s
health and covers every medical aspect in Obstetrics,
Gynaecology, In-Vitro Fertilisation (IVF), Neonatology,
Anaesthesia (Painless Labour), General & Laparoscopic
Surgery, Cosmetic Surgery, Geneticand Foetal Medicine,
and Preventive Medicine. La Femme also has a unique
department catering to the holistic birthing care needs,
Mamma Mia, which complements the Fortis La Femme
brand, offering a range of complementary services like
Lamaze classes, pre and post-natal fitness and yoga,
massage therapy and fertility counselling.

FY 2018-19 saw La Femme GK Ill, New Delhi, receive
recognitions for its commitment to clinical excellence
and patient care. The facility received the ‘Most Trusted
Hospital Award in Gynaecology’ from Readers Digest
and was also named the ‘Radio City Icon! The facility
successfully underwent an NABH surveillance audit.
The hospital also started its in-house pharmacy for in-
patients, which also dispenses IVF drugs.

The first batch of Federation of Obstetrics &
Gynaecological Societies of India (FOGSI) Gynae
Endoscopy Programme successfully completed the
course, giving a further fillip to patient care capabilities.

The second La Femme standalone hospital, a 72-
bed greenfield project in Bengaluru, now offers the
entire gamut of medical services such as Minimal
Access Surgery, Bariatric Surgery, Cosmetology, Plastic
Surgery, Dermatology, Surgical Oncology, ENT, Uro-
Gynaecology, Urology, Clinical Psychiatry, Clinical
Psychology, Antenatal & Postnatal Physiotherapy and
Massage, Yoga, Lamaze Classes and Reflexology, Weight
Loss and Nutrition counselling apart from the core
specialties like Obstetrics & Gynaecology, Neonatology
and Paediatrics along with sub-specialities such as
Paediatric Cardiology, Paediatric Surgery and Paediatric
Orthopaedics, Foetal Medicine, General Surgery,
Internal Medicine, Endocrinology, Comprehensive
and Preventive Health Check programme, Medical

283

| Fortis Healthcare Limited

Gastroenterology, Medical Intensive Care (MICU),
Tertiary Level 3 Neonatal Intensive Care (NICU) and
Paediatric Intensive Care services (PICU).

The hospital also houses Amaara Human Milk Bank
which was launched in October 2017, the only not-
for-profit human breastmilk bank in Karnataka. The
hospital also launched speciality clinics such as
Adolescent Obesity Clinic, Polycystic Ovary Syndrome
(PCOS) Clinic, Menopause Clinic and Breast Clinic under
the banner of #Priority Health. The hospital is set to
launch In-Vitro Fertilisation (IVF) facility shortly along
with an Andrology Clinic.

La Femme has been recognised as the ‘Best Women'’s
Health Brand 2018 at the India Health & Wellness
Summit and Awards. La Femme Bengaluru was also
nominated in the ‘Best Women’s Healthcare Centre’
category for the Times Healthcare Achiever’s Award,
Bengaluru 2018.

The hospital has applied for National Accreditation
Board for Hospitals & Healthcare Providers (NABH)
accreditation. All the necessary documents have
been submitted to the NABH secretariat. It is also
planning to start the Diplomate of National Board
(DNB) and Member of Royal College of Obstetricians
and Gynaecologists (MRCOG) courses in Obstetrics &
Gynaecology.

The La Femme box-in-boxes have been able to focus on
women'’s health and keep the promises of exemplary
service, priority on patient privacy and clinical
excellence, leading to an improved patient experience.
FY 2018-19 saw the box-in-boxes registering revenue
and profitability upside, by way of attracting new
clinicians with strong caregiver engagement and
innovative business models.

Thisyear marks the commencement of institutionalising
systematic capturing of clinical outcomes at La
Femme. Clinical outcomes for caesarean section and
hysterectomy have been designed and implemented in
all units across La Femme.The outcome data is currently
being captured and validated. La Femme intends to
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publish this data online next year after benchmarking
and cross-validation.

CORPORATE FUNCTIONS
Medical Strategy & Operations Group

At Fortis, we continue to strive towards providing the
best in clinical services and patient care. Our stringent
medical processes and protocols are designed to
deliver superior clinical outcomes and enhance patient
satisfaction. Highly talented and respected clinicians
are ably supported with reliable and sophisticated
medical technology and globally accredited hospitals
for delivering superior results.

Through sustained monitoring and measuring of our
practices, we have been able to promote transparency
and enhanced patient care. Such measures include
clinical outcomes, quality and infection prevention and
control practices.

Robust medical processes and structured medical
audits aide in maintaining organisational standards
across hospitals.

Medical Programme and Clinical Talent
Management

In the Hospital and Healthcare delivery sector, Clinical
Talent, Medical Technology and Infrastructure continue
to be the driving force for deriving superior clinical
outcomes.

The Medical Operations Group at Fortis is instrumental
in establishing appropriate Medical programmes as
well as recruiting senior clinicians at hospitals in line
with the organisation’s overall strategy.

In addition to their clinical expertise, many senior
clinicians are members of medical councils, which are
advisory bodies supporting Fortis Healthcare’s mission
of clinical excellence, distinctive patient care, research
and education. These medical councils are utilised as
platforms for strengthening collaborative links with
clinicians as well as to harness their years of collective
wisdom and experience to achieve Fortis's vision
and mission. Our apex committee, the Fortis Medical
Council, has eminent senior clinicians, the MD & CEO
and senior administrators as members. This council
deliberates on policy matters which impact Pan Fortis
hospitals.
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One of the major areas of interest for us is the planning
of key medical equipment at hospitals in order to
complement our medical programmes. Postinstallation,
the Medical Operations Team continuously monitors
their utilisation rates to identify areas of sub-optimal
performance and suggest appropriate remedy. For
instance, a robotic surgical system is being transferred
from a National Capital Region (NCR) hospital to
Mumbai on account of greater value proposition being
offered on relocation of the equipment.

As a pioneering initiative, we started measuring and
reporting clinical outcomes well before any other
hospital in India. As globally agreed upon, clinical
outcomes are evidence based measurable indicators
for changes in health or quality of life resulting from
patient care with respect to a specific disease or
procedure. Publishing such data ensures transparency
and facilitates informed decision making by patients.

As part of the steering committee at International
Consortium  for Health Outcomes Monitoring
(ICHOM) for designing the Coronary Artery Disease
(CAD) Standard Set, Fortis has been instrumental in
promoting the evidence-based medicine. We are the
first healthcare chain in India to publish its ICHOM CAD
outcomes data on its website.

Since 2016, Fortis has partnered with Vital Health
(an ICHOM Certified Software Provider) for the use
of Quest ManagerTM software to ensure complete
compliance with respect to ICHOM norms. All Fortis
hospitals continue to record clinical outcomes data
for major specialties. This data is periodically reviewed
and deliberated upon by senior clinicians as well as
management personnel.

At present 11 clinical outcomes are being tracked across
the Fortis network which spans to the specialities/
procedures of CAD [Coronary Artery Bypass Graft
(CABG), Percutaneous Coronary Interventions (PCl)],
Transplant outcomes (Kidney, Heart and Liver), Total
Knee Replacement (TKR), Endoscopic Retrograde
Cholangio-Pancreatography (ERCP), Radiation
oncology, Obstetrics and Gynaecology (Hysterectomy,
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Caesarean section), Mental health (Depression and
Anxiety).

A Heart Failure registry has also been designed and
rolled out at our Delhi NCR hospitals. Improved
recording of Patient Reported Outcomes Measure
(PROM) for Coronary Artery Disease patients marks
a major milestone that measures patient experience
along with clinical outcomes.

Fortis has been selected as one of the global sites
for prestigious project (CAD Value Community) initiated
by ICHOM that aims at ‘measuring’ CAD outcomes and
the ‘cost’ of care by using standard methodology. It
will help set up foundation for learning and quality
improvement opportunities around both outcomes
and costs and enable the community to understand
variations in value delivery.

Fortis clinical outcomes can be viewed through below
mentioned link,
http://www.fortishealthcare.com/clinical-outcomes

Patient safety is the cornerstone of high-quality health
care. Fortis firmly believes in ‘Primum non nocere,
meaning ‘first, do no harm, and thus lays special
emphasis on patient safety measures. Patient safety and
infection prevention and control are key performance
indicator in the Fortis network of hospitals to bring
about desired patient outcomes. Sustained and
continuous monitoring at Fortis hospitals has led to
improvements in patient safety standards and quality,
such as reductions in hospital-acquired infections.

e (Clinical Excellence Scorecard (CESC): Key quality
parameters are monitored across the Fortis
network through monthly Clinical Excellence
Scorecard (CESC). Currently, 18 parameters are
tracked as part of the CESC, including infection
rates, medication errors and patient safety
parameters. Data for key quality indicators is
collected every month, analysed and shared with
relevant stakeholders.

Fortis hospitals continue to perform well against
the indicators, confirming the high level of
quality care being provided to our patients. As
an important step, Fortis has initiated Internal
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Benchmarking process for key CESC parameters.
[see graphs, ‘CAUTI Trend’ and ‘CLABSI Trend’].

Antimicrobial Stewardship (AMS): Antimicrobial
resistance has been identified as a global
emergency. Although antimicrobial resistance
is a natural feature of bacterial evolution,
inappropriate use of antimicrobials increases the
potential for resistance. Inappropriate prescribing
of antimicrobials continues to be an issue in India
and the Government of India released the National
Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy to guide the
response to the threat of antibiotic misuse and
resistance.

Fortis runs a coordinated AMS programme in
order to address the growing menace of microbial
resistance. Antibiograms are prepared hospital
wise and clinicians and hospitals are continuously
encouraged towards appropriate use of
antimicrobials (including antibiotics), reducing
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microbial resistance and infection rates especially
for multidrug-resistant organisms thereby
improving patient outcomes.

Morbidity and mortality increase in patients
infected with antimicrobial-resistant organisms
and such patients are more likely to have longer,
more expensive hospital stays and may be more
likely to die as a result of such infection.

Drug Resistance Index (DRI): The DRI is a single,
composite measure or index, reflecting the
relationship between drug resistance trend and
antimicrobial usage practice. As a monitoring tool,
the Drug Resistance Index (DRI) can assess the
effectiveness of the Antimicrobial Stewardship
(AMS) programme.

For the past five years, Fortis has been calculating
its own Drug Resistance Index using it as a
monitoring and analysis tool for antimicrobial
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harm to patients by learning from errors and
identifying hazards.

All incidents are subjected to robust investigation

to identify system/process deficiencies and
careful monitoring of the associated action plan
is done. Adverse clinical events are monitored and
reviewed, with detailed reports indicating the root

cause and the necessary action to be taken. The

Fortis Healthcare Accreditation & Certifications

opportunities for improvement thus identified
and shared with all stakeholders and form an
important part of the process review mechanism
to ensure prevention of occurrences of similar
events in future.

Accreditation and Certifications:

Fortis Healthcare Accreditation & Certifications
Accreditation/

- NABHHCO/ NABH NABH ) Green 0T Pharmacy
Accgfi%'ct:gg:/ Ja SHCO Entry Blood Em'\eur\B;c E)':lcl:erllrr]]gce ’gls\f?: NABL  Certification Certification Total
Accreditation  Level Bank gency by ABBOT by ABBOT
No.of 4 20 7 10 4 3 4 18 9 9 108
Hospitals
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Medical Processes: To develop a structured system-
based approach, and ensure standard processes
across the organisation, Fortis has implemented
Medical SOPs in Clinical, Para-Clinical and
Regulatory Areas. There are 35 centrally controlled
Procedure Specific Consent Forms. The SOPs
are reviewed periodically and updated based
on stakeholder’s inputs and regulatory changes
ensuring that adequate checks are maintained
in each process. The compliance of the various
hospitals on the processes is monitored through
the Management Control Framework at Unit,
Regional & Central Level.

Medical Process Assurance (MPA): A robust and
structured audit programme, conceptualised
to enhance the organisation’s governance
mechanism through continuous improvement
pertaining to clinical and para-clinical fields.

Operations Review

MPA supports the Medical and HR functions
in assessing risks and compliance towards laid

down protocols. Importantly, as an independent
assurance mechanism, MPA reviews the design
and operating effectiveness of the organisation’s
management control framework.

The programme comprises of a pre-defined audit
calendar for unit level field work. Subsequently,
management interactions lead to the identification
of improvement opportunities and development
of specific Management Action Plans. Finally,
remediation testing and review to ascertain the
level of understanding and implementation of
action plans at units.

Academics and Training:

International Clinical Observership Programme:
Fortis, in collaboration with Ministry of External
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Affairs initiated specialised training programmes
formedical doctorsfrom Africa. Underthisinitiative,
75 African doctors were trained successfully in
FY18-19. In FY19-20 100 African doctors would
be trained in two batches comprising 50 doctors
each. The candidates would represent countries
such as Tanzania, Republic of Niger, Zimbabwe,
Malawi, Algeria, Ethiopia, Kenya, Egypt, etc. and
will be stationed across our network hospitals in
various specialties to enhance their skills.

e  Fortis Certified Clinical Observership & Fellowship
Programmes: Fortis received 66 candidates
for the observership programme in specialties
like Gastroenterology, Cardiology, Psychiatry,
etc. Candidates represented countries such as
Cambodia, Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Uzbekistan
and Irag amongst others.

1. DNB Programme: SKYPE tutorials, across
network hospitals were initiated for
DNB students in the fields of Cardiology,
Anaesthesiology and Orthopaedics. The
classes are running regularly and successfully.

2. NBE Course Status:

e  Exit FY18: DNB+FNB Courses — 31 Specialities &
277 Students

e  Exit FY19: DNB+FNB Courses — 31 Specialities &
384 Students

Fortishasmajorly expandeditsresearchrelated activities
overthelast one year. Currently, Drug Controller General
of India (DCGI) approved Ethics Committees are active
in 17 Fortis hospitals, to oversee the research activities.
To ensure quality of research and processes, all these 17
sites are being accredited with National Accreditation
Board for Hospitals & Healthcare Providers (NABH) for
Research. Five have already achieved NABH accredited
status. Improved systems and processes have been put
in place to position Fortis as the preferred destination
for clinical research. As a consequence, Fortis has been
awarded 49 new research projects, worth ¥ 13. 5 Crore
(estimated), this year. Currently 143 Clinical Research
studies are ongoing at Fortis and 60 were completed
this year.
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Nursing as a practice and profession has progressed in
many ways despite various challenges. The key focus
areas for the year 2018-19 have been patient safety
and satisfaction, nursing engagement, training and
development with obvious positive outcomes. Through
this eventful year, our nurses rose to the challenge of
patient-centric care and left their mark in significant
ways. They were well supported by Nursing leadership
with consistent nursing engagement activities.

Nursing Quality: 10 units across India have received
Nursing Excellence re-certification from the National
Accreditation Board for Hospitals & Healthcare
Providers (NABH). This certification assesses nursing
services on seven standards related to nursing resource
management, care of patients, management of
medication, infection control, nursing empowerment,
patient education, guidance and communication, and
quality indicators to continuously improve patient care.

Quality improvement projects were undertaken in
most of the units based on their current challenges
with measurable outcomes e.g. Stop Stick Campaign to
reduce needle stick injuries promoting staff safety.

Nursing Operating System: NOS was restructured based
on Donabedian Model of ‘Structure, Process & Outcome’
which provides a framework for examining health
services and evaluating quality of nursing care. A total
of ten NOS parameters are analysed on monthly basis
to monitor overall health of nursing function across the
regions. This comprehensive tool helps us to strategies
further plan of action and develops target-oriented
interventions in key areas. Overall improvement is
evident in the Patient Satisfaction Score (which rose
from 73.7% to 82.8%), Nurse training hours (increased
from 6.6 to 8.8 per month), Nurse practice compliance
(improved from 97.2 to 98.7%). In spite of all the gains
achieved in this year, nursing attrition still remains an
area to conquer, although rigorous efforts are on in all
the regions.

Skill Enhancement: Structured Induction & Orientation
Programme incorporating OSCE continues to function



Operations Review

well in improving nursing skills for key procedures.
Simulation Labs are being utilised for fresh nurses
to enable them to be patient ready. This is also used
to build on the existing nurses’ knowledge and skills
related to hands on clinical procedures in critical

care. A comprehensive three-day programme,
‘Communicating Care is delivering Care’ (CCDC) was
introduced in the last year. This is facilitated by HR,
emphasising on developing soft skills to resolve
patient conflict and improving nursing handover. The
effectiveness of training is monitored through post
training feedbacks and practice audits. Peer exchange
programme launched for the Nursing function wherein
Unit level CNOs learnt from the experiences of their
significant counterparts. Nurturing Front Runners
Programme is planned for year Implementation of
Nurse Leadership Programme is a strategic 2019-20
targeting mid-level nurses.

Nurse Engagement Strategies: Certification courses
for professional development and career pathway are
running successfully in various regions. These include
Critical Care Nursing Programme, Oncology Nursing
and Ortho Nursing Programme, Paediatric Cardiac

Critical Care Programme, Comprehensive Operating
Room Nursing, Dialysis Nursing Programme, IV Therapy
Certificate Course, Medication Management Certificate
Course, Pressure Ulcer Management Certificate Course
and Heart Failure Certificate Programme. This is
followed by Competency Assessment Test. A Training
Effectiveness Monitoring Tool has also been developed
and implemented to strengthen our training process.
Nurses Week was celebrated with great fanfare and
nurses were awarded based on their performances.

Awards & Accolades: Our nurses received numerous
awards and accolades from various institutions. For
instance, Mohali received AHPI award for reducing
VAP in Neonatology, Fortis FIt Lt Rajan Dhall Hospital,
Vasant Kunj, New Delhi, received the prestigious award
for Nursing Excellence recognised by Association of
Healthcare Providers of India (AHPI). Fortis Mulund
received award from INS on paper presentation titled
‘Can you remove sting from IV; and best project award
on ‘Emergency Preparedness Be Aware! FMRI also
receive AHPI's ‘Best Hospital to Work With’ recognition.
Fortis Anandapur won the second prize for ‘Safety
Initiative’ from Infusion Nurses Society and the first
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prize for a project titled ‘An evidence-based approach
to reduce unplanned transfer of ICU patient’ from
Confederation of Indian Industry.

2018 was a defining year for us at Fortis Healthcare. All
Fortisians irrespective of the employee segments, role,
geographies not only displayed exemplary courage
and resilience in face of difficult and turbulent times
but also demonstrated faith and lived our core values.
As we embark on a new era of excellence, we continue
to put our focus on our most valued resource, our
employees. Through a distinctive set of integrated
policies, initiatives, programmes and practices,
people’s capabilities were consistently leveraged
and developed. Our committed and engaged talent
continued driving excellence and delivering value to
our patients, stakeholders and the community.

IHH on-boarding and subsequent integration heralded
a new future and synergies to deliver healthcare
excellence in India. Understanding the significance of
an engaged workforce during this critical transition
phase of the organisation’s journey- ‘Inspiration and
Connection’were at the heart of the people integration
strategy. Leveraging varied formats like town halls,
socials, mailers, newsletter, and leadership engagement
sessions, HR engaged with employees all across Fortis.
Special town halls were conducted in all cities by senior
leadership teams of IHH and Fortis. Acknowledging and
addressing employee concerns, understanding and
sharing of perspectives, outlining the vision and the
way forward, helped instil confidence and propelled
alignment to the 100-day plan. The subsequent buy-
back of Religare Health Trust (RHT) and engagement
plan helped incorporate the strength and diversity of
RHT talent into the organisation.

In line with our people-centred approach we continued
to strengthen our employee communication and
collaboration platforms. Varied platforms such as Hum
Tum Milenge (HTML), Townhall, Coffee with HR Head,
Fortis Swachh Abhiyaan, Sparkle, Long Service Awards
were optimized. ‘Workplace by Facebook, our digital
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platform, also facilitated inter-departmental and cross-
geographical information flows and collaboration.

Our business leaders played a key role in engaging
with teams and keeping them abreast with the
developments. The open communication channels,
consistent two-way communication across all levels
of the enterprise ensured that despite prevailing
uncertainties, the Fortisian spirit never waned.

Reviewing and reflecting on our fundamental ways of
working, SOPs, policies, systems controls related system
automations paved the way for driving efficiencies.
People analytics capabilities were augmented including
informed and predictive business decisions. ‘Looking
within’ to build efficiencies poises us now for the
next level of transformational strategic business
partnering.

Optimising the organisation design to create a higher
performing workforce was undertaken. This is work in
progress with many changes made at corporate office
level. Talent retention did turn challenging however the
strong brand value supported us to engage with key
potential hires. Focus on enhancing our Employee Value
Proposition throughout the employee life cycle helped
to attract and engage the best of our talent. Attritions
levels took a slight dip from previous year. Our resolve
in developing capabilities of our employees to reach
their potential remained steadfast with development
initiatives being made available to all segments of the
workforce.

Werecognise and salute the commendable contribution
of our nurses in providing ‘high quality nursing services’
which continue to be a differentiator and an enabler in
positioning Fortis as a leading integrated healthcare
delivery service provider.

‘Communicating Care is Delivering Care’ our flagship
Learning & Development programme for new nurses
focusses on imparting, skilling and reinforcing patient
centric service behaviours. The programme launched
as part of Nursing Induction Training is conducted
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jointly by nurse educators, senior nursing team
members, clinicians, unit leadership and the Learning
& Development Team. Over 2,000 new nurses were
covered as part of the initiative, garnering positive
feedback from their managers for their display of
patient centric behaviours. Other key metrics impacted
were Patient Appreciation (164% increase over the
year) and lower attrition (17% less for attrition for
trained nurses versus untrained).

Nursing leadership programmes were conducted for
39 senior nursing personnel. The programme focussed
on enhancing their Operational Excellence, People
Management, Business Orientation acumen. The
initiative further strengthened our talent pipeline for
leadership roles.

Continued focus on Service Excellence Training

Over 80,000 training hours were spent on all front
facing employees (including contractual employees)
to further enhance our service capability. 11,000 one-
on-one feedback & on floor guidance session were
conducted to enhance capability of all patient facing
empoyees to provide superior patient care experience.

Fortifying Patient Experience Programme

Intensive skill building programme was conducted for
46 Patient Relationship Officers (PROs). The programme
focussed on enhancing connect with patients &abilities
to provide faster and empathetic solutions for patient
concerns. Threefold rise in patient appreciations Going
Extra Mile (GEM) stories, along with increase in Net
Promoter Score & Patient Satisfaction scores were
reported.

Peer Exchange Programme

The exchange programme conducted by pairing
functionalleadersacrossFortisenabledthemtoshadow,
observe and mutually learn by drawing on each other’s
expertise and experiences. The programme provided
a structured platform to share high-performance
workplace practices for providing patient experience
and seamless operational excellences. Successful
implementation of efficient processes, practices, ways
of working were reported across the organisation.

Individual Development Planning (IDP) based
e-learning certification courses from premium
institutes were provided to 94 management executives
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(Band 1 & 2). The programmes enhanced functional
capabilities, people management and leadership skills,
as appropriate.

A number of initiatives to catalyse application,
stabilisation and sustaining of new behaviour/learnings
on the job were conducted. 680 Learning Forums
provided a ‘non-formal’ space for employees to share
experiences, practices, challenges, explore solutions
postattending alearningintervention. Focus on transfer
of learning on the job continued with 11,000 on-floor
observations/guidance sessions conducted on service
excellence behaviours for front facing employees.
Training Effectiveness Index, which measures the
extent to which the programme objectives have been
accomplished by the participants, recorded 81% as
against 75% annual target.

Fortis focus is to use best-in-class technology that
empower clinicians and other support staff to
deliver patient safety, clinical outcome, regulatory
interventions and financial results. Further, in order
to ensure that we deliver Clinical Excellence and
Distinctive Patient Care in a seamless and consistent
environment across our chain of hospitals, technology
and process standardisation is key.

To standardise the processes across locations, Fortis
embarked on a journey to replace legacy de-centralised
Hospital Information System with technologically
advanced and centralised system (named as OneFortis
HIS). We migrated five hospital units to new platform
within remarkable time of eight months. OneFortis HIS
platform is state-of-the-art, functionally rich, scalable
and technologically robust. The rollout methodology/
model has matured enough to deliver one hospital unit
every month, going forward. We have taken the next
steps towards adoption of clinical initiatives like Blood
Bank and Outpatient Clinical Record.

Advanced clinical image system was implemented
at Fortis BG Road, Bengaluru, to take advantage of
new technology and improve outcomes. The plan is
to integrate imaging system with HIS, thus saving on
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image distribution costs incurred to internal patient
care givers.

Fortis made a significant amount of difference by
focusing on revenue numbers and that has led to
greater visibility and faster decisions being made at
operational levels for the organisation.

The entire year was spent with a strong thrust on
building greater controls across the three domains of
ERP implementation. Many changes were completed
and the formal study by certified third party partner
have commenced to close all possible controls needed
in the system.

The organisation is focussed on the cloud journey. All
new IT initiatives and existing systems migration are
planned only with the cloud hosting. New HIS system
‘OneFortis’is completely getting rolled out on cloud, as
it has better security and compliance maintained by the
service provider. Major enterprise IT systems and new
HIS OneFortis on cloud are enabled to meet business
agility and scalability along with cost optimisation.

Patient portal mobile app project is continuing to
focus on regular improvement of features such as
Doctor appointment app and Preventive Health Check-
up appointment app. These features help patients
know about the availability of doctors and book their
appointment accordingly. A special mobile application
for doctor is also being rolled out to help doctors view
their patient appointment schedule and plan their
day accordingly. The app has been designed to help
doctors and patients to know schedule changes in real-
time and reduce waiting time for patients.

We continue to work with start-ups in India by
incubating and piloting innovative ideas thereby
building and enriching the healthcare technology
ecosystem. On these lines, Fortis conducted ‘Fortis
Superstarters Healthcare Start-up Challenge’ wherein
several national and international start-ups participated
with innovative ideas.






CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY




As a responsible corporate citizen and a member of the
Indian healthcare ecosystem, we at Fortis Healthcare
strongly believe that we can meaningfully alleviate the
problem of inequitable access to quality healthcare.
By creating and supporting social sector programmes
linked to health and well-being, we seek to leverage
our skills, experience, capabilities, technologies
and facilities to address a critical social need for the
vulnerable sections of society. We have continuously
enabled programmes and initiatives, based on rigorous
needs assessment, leading to not just improvement
in healthcare service delivery but also creating social
awareness and change. We believe this is the best way
to have the greatest impact, because our interventions
are capable of transforming lives and building aware
communities.

The CSR initiatives for Fortis Healthcare Limited are
led through Fortis CSR Foundation, a special Purpose
Vehicle designated to carry out CSR activities on behalf
of the Company. Fortis CSR Foundation (‘FCSRF’) is a
wholly owned subsidiary of Fortis Healthcare Limited,
a Company limited by shares not-for-profit, registered
under Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013.

These entities work in a collaborative and inclusive
manner not only to align and synergise the social
enterprise work of the group companies but also to
expand their circle of partnerships with Government,
Non-Government  Organisations  (NGOs), other
corporates and individuals.

Working with a dedicated team of employees and
Volunteers, FCSRF focuses on four programmes
namely: AANCHAL, CHHAYA, SAVERA and SEWA. These
programmes work towards:

e  Supporting treatment of underprivileged children
suffering from congenital heart defect under its
Umeed-Dhadkan initiative (AANCHAL)

e Supporting access to medical care through
charitable dispensaries, outreach clinics and
health camps (CHHAYA)

e Designing models on health information
dissemination to reach to vulnerable sections of

Corporate Social Responsibility

the community and drive awareness on preventive
and remedial healthcare through different
channels of communication (SAVERA)

Providing timely medical relief to people affected
in the event of natural disasters (SEWA)

Fortis Malar Hospitals and Hiranandani Healthcare
Private Limited support SAVERA programme
which focuses on preventive health and health
education under Section 135 of the Companies
Act, 2013.

SRL Limited supports CHHAYA programme which
focuses on providing primary and basic healthcare
services through charitable medical infrastructure
and health camps under Section 135 of the
Companies Act, 2013.

Fortis Healthcare Limited also supports the
disaster relief initiative SEWA through its volunteer
base and contributing donations in the event of
disasters.

231 Annual Report 2018-19 | 41



ABOUT SAVERA PROGRAMME

Better health is central to human happiness and well-
being. It also makes an important contribution to
economic progress, as healthy population live longer
and are more productive. The key to a healthy life is
awareness/knowledge of how to stay healthy.

In line with India’s Sustainable Development Goal of
‘good health and well-being, SAVERA programme
seeks to provide a platform to create awareness on
health issues and leverage on different channels of
communication. The objective is to design models
on health information dissemination to reach the
vulnerable sections of the community.

SAVERA, which focuses on ‘Health Education and
Preventive Healthcare, has identified two target
intervention areas on preventive health and health
education:

. First Aid and Basic Life Support (BLS) Training

Emergency needs are critical. Timely action of
providing first-aid is crucial in preventing or
minimising further suffering. Knowledge of
addressing emergency needs is important for
the community. The objective is to raise the level
of basic knowledge about First Aid response and
increase the number of people who can help.

«  Awareness of health and hygiene amongst
children

The objective is to raise the awareness on health
and hygiene among children by developing
illustrated knowledge material and equip the
capacity building of stakeholders working with
underprivileged children

(@) First Aid And Basic Life Support Training

Under this initiative, training on First Aid and Basic
Life Support (BLS) is provided to beneficiaries
enabling them to become first responders to
handle mishaps that can be tackled with simple
yet effective first aid, thereby saving lives in case
of emergency situations. Some of the key topics
covered under the 2.5 hours training programme
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are choking, nose bleeding, fainting, insect bites,
bruises, cuts and wounds, and Cardiopulmonary
Resuscitation (CPR). The participants are provided
First-Aid Guide and a First Aid Kit along with
certification.

Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited supported the
following:

Training on First Aid and Basic Life Support training
was provided to 1,531 beneficiaries in Tamil Nadu.
Target groups were:

(@) ‘School Safety First: Making schools safer
with First Aid and BLS training programme
to 1,153 Govt. Higher Secondary School
students and teachers. Youth being future of
the society, awareness was provided with the
theme:‘Learn First Aid, Be A Hero!.

(b) Anganwadi: In Integrated Child Development
Centres, training on First Aid and BLS was
provided to 138 Anganwadi workers and
helpers who are key personnel handling the
children.

() Non-Government Organisations:  First Aid
and BLS training was provided to 181 Social
workers and volunteers of NGO who work
with the community.

(d) Road Safety: First Aid and BLS training was
provided to 59 truck drivers as their early
intervention can save lives or decrease the
impact of injuries, leading to quicker recovery
or fewer injuries for the victims.

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited
(A Fortis Network Hospital) supported the
following:

Training on First Aid and BLS was provided
to 359 beneficiaries in Maharashtra. Target
group benefitting from this programme
included Govt. Higher Secondary School
students and teachers; Anganwadi workers
and helpers; bus drivers and conductors; and
construction workers.



First Aid and BLS training has enabled
the beneficiaries to be equipped with the
knowledge to address emergency healthcare
needs.

(b) Children’s Health Education And Awareness Of

Health & Hygiene

This programme works in collaboration with NGO
partners, corporates and District Child Centres,
and is targeted at underprivileged children.
The method adopted to raise awareness on the
nutritional needs and hygiene aspects of young
children is by developing illustrative books which
involves art therapy and storytelling session,
specifically for the not so privileged community
as storytelling and creative art work encourages
active participation thereby increasing their
willingness to apply the learning in their daily life.

Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited in FY 18-19
supported the following:

Awareness created amongst over 9,500 children
(street children, children in shelter homes, children

Corporate Social Responsibility

in adopted village schools and communities) in
Tamil Nadu through distribution of illustrative
art and storytelling books on health and hygiene
to eight NGO partners and three corporates
(including their Foundations, working with the
community children). NGO partners catered to the
awareness needs of 6,540 children and Corporates
& Foundations reached to 2,989 children.

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (A Fortis
Network Hospital) supported the following:

Awareness spread to over 1,700 children (street
children, children in shelter homes, children in
adopted Vvillage schools and communities) in
Maharashtra through distribution of illustrated
art and storytelling books on health and hygiene
through NGO partners and corporates (including
their Foundations working with the community
children).

Fortis Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre
Limited

Awareness created amongst over 2,400 children
(street children, children in shelter homes, children
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in adopted village schools and communities)
in Delhi, Uttar Pradesh, Bihar, Haryana, Punjab
through distribution of previous year’s illustrated
art and storytelling books on health and hygiene
through NGOs and corporates (including their
Foundations working with the community
children). Also, awareness on First Aid spread
through distribution of previous year’s First Aid
Guide to 220 children from different NGOs and
community schools, who participated in Khel Yatra
event, Delhi.

ABOUT CHHAYA

CHHAYA programme is designed to provide primary
and basic healthcare services to people in need. The
treatment is provided through charitable clinics and
outreach clinics set up across different regions and
health camps.

(a) CHARITABLE DISPENSARIES

CHHAYA programme supports access to medical
care through charitable dispensaries and health
camps. The initiative runs seven charitable
dispensaries and three outreach clinics. Each
dispensary has a doctor, nurse and paramedic staff.
The dispensaries provide free access to primary
healthcare services for routine ailments and are
open for six days of the week.

Fortis CSR Foundation has treated over 67,000
people through its charitable dispensaries in the
1st October 2018 to 31st March 2019 period.

1. Golden Temple Dispensary, Amritsar
. All India Women Conference (AIWCQ)
2. Birla Mandir Dispensary, New Delhi
3

Durgiana Temple Dispensary, Amritsar

Rag Pickers School, Amritsar

4. Aggarwal Dharamshala Dispensary, Bhogal,
New Delhi

5. Ramakrishna Ashram Dispensary, Dehradun

. Purukul ~ School for

Dehradun

6. Anubhavi Ashram Dispensary, Haridwar

Underprivileged,
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7. Gurudwara Sach Khand Darbar Dispensary,
Udaipur

(b) HEALTH CAMPS

The initiative collaborates with several like-
minded partners to conduct health camps for
economically weaker sections of society.

Number of patients who benefited through
charitable dispensaries in FY 2018-19: 1.23 lakhs

ABOUT SEWA PROGRAMME - DISASTER RELIEF
INITIATIVE

India is vulnerable to natural disasters with floods,
cyclones, earthquakes and landslides being a recurrent
phenomenon. In the event of a disaster, thousands of
lives are affected and livelihoods worth millions are
destroyed. The urgent need in such situations is access
to medical care. SEWA is a Disaster Relief Initiative that
aims to provide emergency medical relief services
in an organised and time sensitive manner to people
affected by natural disasters. SEWA’s core commitment
is to support the government’s efforts in providing
medical relief during a calamity.

When Kerala was ravaged by the century’s worst flood
last year, a 21-member SEWA Volunteer Team drawn
from various Fortis hospitals across India (including
doctors, nurses, paramedics and counsellor) reached
out to 2,774 beneficiaries and conducted medical relief
operations in Wayanad and Alappuzha, Kerala.

Key drivers of Kerala - Disaster Relief Initiative are:

«  Volunteerism
«  Payroll giving and donation programme

- Partnerships with NGOs and Health Department,
Kerala

+  Powerful communication engine that helps build
a culture of giving

Fortis units across India, raised donation from 4,506
employees for the disaster affected population.
The employees of Fortis (including doctors, nurses,
paramedics and counsellor) contributed to 2,175
volunteer hours during on ground medical relief
operations in Wayanad and Alappuzha, Kerala.






CLINICAL EXCELLENCE

First in India - Doctors at Fortis Escorts, Okhla Road,
used artificial lung support (ECMO) to treat pregnant Swine Flu
patient; saved both mother and unborn child.

Ateam of doctors at Fortis Memorial Research Institute,
Gurugram, conducted a laparoscopic left lateral hepatectomy
on a 23-year-old Iragi woman who donated a part of her liver to
her ailing son.

Doctors at Fortis Noida performed a complex lifesaving
surgery to remove a large metallic machine fragment from the
heart of a 32-year-old male factory worker.

An 8-year-old boy from Iraq suffering from a rare bone cancer,
Ewing’s Sarcoma, got a fresh lease of life at Fortis Hospital,
Mulund.

Doctors at Fortis Hospital, BG Road, Bengaluru
conducted its maiden complex paediatric heart transplant to
save a 13- year-old boy from Karnataka who was suffering from
dilated cardiomyopathy.
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Fortis Escorts Heart Institute,
New Delhi, performed India's first
‘Protected Angioplasty and Stenting
Procedure’ with the support of an
ImpellaHeart Pump on an 86-year-old
patient suffering from life threatening
heavily calcified triple vessel and left
main artery blockages.

Doctors at Fortis Hospital,
Shalimar Bagh, removed 14 live
round worms, measuring 15-20 cm
each, from a 38-year-old patient’s bile
duct.

A multidisciplinary team at Fortis
Hospital, Mulund, removed
a complex tumour (Renal Cell
Carcinoma) that had engulfed major
abdominal organs and extended
right up to the heart of a 55-year-old
patient.
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SRL Key Highlights:
2018-19

SRL is the Most Doctor Preferred Lab across key markets,

and is well poised to take the next leap of growth.




India's thriving economy is driven by urbanisation and
development of an expanding middle class, with rising
disposable incomes to spend on healthcare. While
currently only a small portion (~15%) is managed by
national and regional diagnostic chains, it is expected
to become much more organised and consolidated
with a lot of small and independent laboratory players

becoming franchisees for the larger players. Being
established in the industry for over two decades now,
your Company has made a name as one of India’s
largest diagnostic companies. Founded in 1995, your
Company has an impressive reach, providing superior
quality diagnostics services to its customers through
an efficient network of labs and collection points.
The vision to create SRL Diagnostics was driven by
the philosophy to provide high quality accurate
tests at affordable prices to the masses. Having been
committed to delivering quality services, your Company
has, since its inception, had a strong desire to achieve
high quality standards and a well-established quality
assurance programme in place. With its state-of-the-art
research and development, highly skilled physicians
and a proven heritage, your Company has stood the
test of time and won the trust of generations.

SRL - Key Highlights

Your Company enjoys the leadership position in the
diagnostics industry in terms of its size and reach to
the customers, present across the range of diagnostics
services of pathology and radiology. Your Company
enjoys being the largest player in terms of its laboratory
footprint in the industry, with 401 labs and wellness
centres. In addition to these, your Company has 1,026
collection centres and 7,197 sample pick-up points,
which are the direct clients. The international presence
of your Company spans across multiple countries with
three international labs and 76 collection centres. The
collection points serve to pick samples across India
and feed satellite and reference labs through a robust
logistics channel. Your Company’s association with the
Fortis hospitals gives it that cutting-edge expertise
in the managing of Labs inside the hospitals. Your
Company manages and operates 124 hospital labs,
both private and government, within and outside the
country. Expanding the reach, your Company also
launched its first laboratory in Tirupati, Andhra Pradesh,
in February 2019. The new lab will offer the services at
subsidised rates to about a million of pilgrims that visit
one of the holiest pilgrimage sites in the country as well
as the residents in surrounding areas.
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InFY18-19,yourCompany partneredwithUnitedNations
Children’s Fund’s (UNICEF) for the Comprehensive
National Nutrition Survey (CNNS). The purpose of
CNNS, supported by the MoHFW, Government of India,
in partnership with UNICEF, was to conduct a nationally
representative and comprehensive nutritional profiling
of pre-schoolers, school-age children, and adolescents.
Despite some extreme challenging environments, your
Company not just collected samples of these children
but also dispatched their reports back to these villages.
We are proud to say that the task we started in 2015
was completed successfully this year.

Aninteresting initiative that SRL undertakes, something
that is gaining popularity within the Nephrologists
community is ‘Plant for Transplant. As a part of this
initiative, our Marketing Team is planting a tree for
each life saved after a successful organ transplant. So
far, more than 1,700 trees have been planted under this
initiative that was commenced in June 2018.

Your Company is deeply committed to the healthcare
needs of this nation, with focusing on the preventive
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care segment. Your Company has launched a separate
preventive test packages division, SRL Care, which is a
series of specially designed preventive test packages by
the R&D Team which are customised basis your lifestyle,
demographics and health condition. The packages are
the highest growing products across all our divisions,
across the regions.

Over the past 24 years, SRL has incredibly strengthened
its technical/medical prowess and has become a
knowledge powerhouse in diagnostics. We are what
we are, for our incredible technical staff and the
doctors / PhDs. In the last fiscal, we were conferred
with numerous awards and accolades. We won the
‘Best Brand in Diagnostic Services in Pathology and
Radiology’ award at The Economic Times Best Brands
Awards-2019. We bagged the ‘Best Diagnostics Centre’
award at the CNBC-TV18’s prestigious India Healthcare
& Wellness Awards 2017-18 held in Mumbai. We also
got felicitated by MVIRDC World Trade Centre, Mumbai,
at the 8th Global Economic Summit for our pioneering
efforts in the field of medical diagnostics.



DIRECTORS” REPORT

Dear Members,

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting here the Twenty Third Annual
Report of your Company along with the Audited Standalone and Consolidated
Financial Statements and the Auditors’ Report thereon for the Year ended
March 31, 2019.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The highlights of Consolidated Financial Results of your Company and its
Subsidiaries are as follows:

(Z in Lacs)

Particulars Consolidated

Year ended Year ended
March 31,2019 March 31, 2018

Continuing Operations

1. Operating Income 446,936 456,081
2. Other Income 9,240 13,973
3. Total Income (1+2) 456,176 470,054
4. Total Expen.cht.ure (Excluding finance 424414 428,769
cost, depreciation & tax expenses)
5. Operating Profit (EBITDA) (3-4) 31,762 41,285
6. Fmancg (?harges, Depreciation & 56,975 49,675
Amortization
7. Loss before exceptional items and
tax (5-6) (25,213) (8,390)
8. Exceptional items (22,238) (88,103)
9. Loss before tax (7+8) (47,451) (96,493)
10. Tax Expenses 11,361 2,265
11. Net Loss for the year (9-10) (58,812) (98,758)
12. Sharein profits of associate companies 36,441 5,316
13. Loss for the year from continuing (22,371) (93,442)

operations (11+12)
14. Discontinuing Operations

Profit/ (Loss) before tax from
discontinuing operations

Tax expense of discontinuing
operations
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(R in Lacs)

Particulars Consolidated

Year ended Year ended
March 31,2019 March 31, 2018

Profit/ (Loss) after tax and before
minority interest from discontinuing - -
operations

Share in profits/ (losses) of associate
companies

Profit for the year from discontinuing
operations

15. Loss for the year (13+14) (22,371) (93,442)
Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (29,893) (100,921)
Non-controlling interests 7,522 7,479

Loss for the year before other
comprehensive income

16. Other comprehensive income (4,517) 367

17.Total  comprehensive  income
(15+16)

Total comprehensive income for the
year attributable to:

Owners of the Company (34,449) (100,541)
Non-controlling interests 7,561 7,466

(22,371) (93,442)

(26,888) (93,075)

The highlights of financial results of your Company as a Standalone entity are
as follows:

(Z in Lacs)

Particulars Standalone

Year ended Year ended
March 31,2019 March 31, 2018

Continuing Operations

1. Operating Income 65,649 65,948

2. Other Income 52,449 13,789

3. Total Income (1+2) 118,098 79,737

4. Total Expend1t.ure (Excluding finance 78.192 69.710
cost, depreciation & tax expenses)

5. Operating Profit (EBITDA) (3-4) 39,906 10,027

6. Financg Charges, Depreciation & 21,941 9.262
Amortization

7. Profit before exceptional items and 17,965 765
tax (5-6)

8. Exceptional items - (6,795)

9. Profit / (Loss) before tax (7+8) 17,965 (6,030)

10. Tax Expenses 5,656 343
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(R in Lacs)

Particulars Standalone

Year ended Year ended
March 31,2019 March 31, 2018

11. Net Profit for the year (9-10) 12,309 (6,373)
12. Sharein profits of associate companies - -

13. Profit/ (Loss) for the year from

continuing operations (11+12) 12,309 (6,373)

14. Discontinuing Operations
Profit/ (Loss) before tax from
discontinuing operations

Tax expense of discontinuing
operations

Profit/ (Loss) after tax and before
minority interest from discontinuing - -
operations

Share in profits/ (losses) of associate
companies

Profit for the year from
discontinuing operations

15. Profit / (Loss) for the year (13+14) 12,309 (6,373)
16. Other comprehensive income 22 32

17. Total comprehensive income

(15+16) 12,331 (6,341)

STATE OF COMPANY’S AFFAIR, OPERATING RESULTS AND PROFITS

For the fiscal year 2018-19, the financial performance of the company was
muted. Factors that impacted the performance include i) Regulatory changes
with respect to pricing on certain medical consumables, ii) Management
bandwidth constraints due to the Group’s and ex-promoter related issues, iii)
Prolonged transaction and due diligence process and iv) Funding constraints,
which led to a less than optimal CAPEX spend resulting in delay of key
business initiatives and also impacted the working capital cycle.

For FY2018-19, the Company recorded an audited consolidated revenue from
operations of ¥ 4,469 Crore compared to I 4,561 Crore reported during the
previous year. The Operating EBITDAC ie. EBITDA before the net costs
related to the Business Trust, stood at I 541 Crore, representing a margin
of 12.1% vs 14.4% in the previous financial year. Operating profit/operating
EBITDA (excluding other income and before exceptional item) from the
operations for the year stood at ¥ 326 Crore compared to I 389 Crore in
the previous year. The Net Profit after Tax for FY 2018-19 stood at a loss of
% 299 Crore as against loss of ¥ 1,009 Crore for the corresponding previous
year. FY19 and FY18 had exceptional losses due to impairment of investments
/ goodwill/ assets and one-off expenses; for FY18. exceptional losses also
include one-offs for certain provisions taken. FY19 PATMI also includes
significant share in associate mainly due to RHT’s profit related to divestment
of assets to Fortis in January 2019.
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Your Company accords the highest priority to providing
world-class quality and affordable healthcare services to
all patients. Your company’s stringent medical processes
and protocols are designed to deliver superior clinical
outcomes and enhance patient satisfaction. During the
year, your Company commenced several new medical
programmes and specialities across various facilities
whilst strengthening the existing medical offerings. Your
Company also has a number of ambitious projects on the
anvil, aimed at spurring growth and development.

The healthcare verticals of the Company primarily
comprise day care specialty, diagnostics and tertiary and
quaternary care. As of March 31, 2019, the Company
had a network of 43 healthcare facilities (including
projects under development) in India and abroad with
approximately 4,000 operational beds and the potential to
reach over 9,000 beds. In India, the Company is one of the
largest private healthcare chains comprising a network of
39 healthcare facilities, including 31 operating facilities,
3 satellite and command centers located in public and
private hospitals and 5 healthcare facility projects which
are under development or are greenfield land sites.

In addition, its Indian diagnostics business has a
presence in over 600 cities and towns, with an established
strength of 400 laboratories including 56 self-operated
laboratories (excluding labs in JV companies), 124
laboratories inside Hospitals including 27 labs located in
Fortis Healthcare facilities, 42 Franchisee labs, 7 wellness
centers and 3 international laboratories. It also has over
7,197 Direct clients, 1026 Collection Centers which
includes 97 collection centers that are owned and 76
collection centers at International locations.

Your Company is driven by the vision of becoming a
leader in the integrated healthcare delivery space and of
serving the larger purpose of saving and enriching lives
through clinical excellence.

There has been no change in the nature of business of the
Company during the year under review.

SIGNIFICANT MATTERS DURING THE YEAR
UNDER REVIEW

The Board has from time to time during the year
under review updated its stakeholders about the key
developments that took place by disseminating necessary
information to the stock exchanges and through various
means of communications to the investors. Some of key
activities are mentioned below:
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Investigations initiated by the erstwhile Auditand
Risk Management Committee and Regulatory
Bodies- During the Financial Year 2017-18, basis
the reports in the media and enquiries from, inter
alia, the stock exchanges received by the Company
about certain inter-corporate loans given by a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, the erstwhile
Audit and Risk Management Committee of the
Company carried out an independent investigation
through an external legal firm. The details as to the
terms of reference of the investigation are detailed
in the Notes to Financial Statements forming part
of this Annual Report. The investigation report
(“Investigation Report”) was submitted to the Board
on June 8,2018. The Board discussed and considered
the Investigation Reportand noted certain significant
findings of the external legal firm, which are subject
to the limitations on the information available to
the external legal firm and their qualifications and
disclaimers as described therein are also detailed
in the Notes to Financial Statements forming part
of this Annual Report. The investigations initiated
by Serious Fraud Investigation Officer (SFIO) and
SEBI are underway. SEBI had on October 17, 2018
passed an ad-interim ex-parte order to protect the
interests of shareholders of the Company and to
prevent any further deterioration of funds / assets
of the Company, which was subsequently revised
on December 21, 2018 and March 19, 2019. Vide
the said orders, the Company and Fortis Hospitals
Limited (FHsL), the wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, were inter-alia asked to pursue the
measures to recall the outstanding amount of ¥403
crore (approx.) along with due interest from the
erstwhile promoters and relevant entities. SEBI,
has correspondingly, also directed the erstwhile
promoters and the relevant entities to repay the
outstanding amount. The investigation by SEBI is
presently ongoing. Updates w.r.t. ongoing regulatory
investigations (viz. SEBI and SFIO), outcome of
the External Investigation Report and other legal
matters are also detailed in the notes to financial
statement.

Sale of certain units held in RHT Health Trust- In
order to meet urgent cash requirement, the Company
had sold 18.2 million units of RHT Health Trust (an
associate of the Company) held through the wholly
owned subsidiary Fortis Healthcare International
Limited on May 30, 2018 for a consideration of
13.65 million Singapore Dollars.



Withdrawal of the Scheme of Amalgamation
and Demerger amongst SRL Limited and Fortis
Malar Hospitals Limited- The Company had at its
board meeting held on August 19, 2016 approved
the composite scheme of arrangement and
amalgamation involving (a) transfer of the hospital
business undertaking of Fortis Malar Hospitals
Limited (“FMHL’) to the Company, as a going
concern, by way of slump sale, in lieu of payment
of a lump sum consideration by the Company
to FMHL (“Slump Sale”), (b) transfer of the
undertaking of the Company pertaining exclusively
to the diagnostics business as identified in the
Scheme to FMHL by way of a demerger in lieu of
issuance of equity shares by FMHL to shareholders
of the Company as per approved share entitlement
ratio (“Demerger”); (c) the amalgamation of SRL
Limited (“SRL’) into FMHL and dissolution of
SRL without winding up, and the consequent issue
of equity shares by FMHL to the shareholders of
SRL and the cancellation of equity shares of SRL
held by FMHL (“Amalgamation”), and various
other matters consequential or otherwise integrally
connected therewith. The Company had obtained
necessary approvals/ no objection from BSE
Limited, National Stock Exchange of India Limited,
equity shareholders and unsecured creditors of the
Company. Also, the Board had through circulation
on December 14, 2017, approved extension of the
Long Stop Date of the Scheme from December 31,
2017 to June 30, 2018. Considering that the entire
process, due to reasons beyond the Company’s
control, has been continuing for over 18 months
without a completion, it was agreed to abort the
Scheme. Accordingly, the Company at its hearing
on June 15, 2018 presented the matter before NCLT
and the same was duly approved. The said Scheme
has thus been terminated by the Company, SRL and
FMHL.

Preferential Allotment to IHH Healthcare
Berhad- In continuation to the bidding process
started during FY 2017-18, the Board carried
out a fresh, time-bound process for receiving
bids from interested parties, details whereof were
disclosed to the National Stock Exchange of India
Limited and BSE Limited. Pursuant to the above,
the Board of Directors of the Company on July 13,
2018, unanimously accepted the proposal of IHH
Healthcare Berhad, which included an infusion of
% 4000 crore in the Company through additional
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equity capital. The same was duly approved by
the regulatory bodies and the shareholders of
the Company and consequently the share capital
structure was also revised. Pursuant to this, the
Board had at its meeting held on November 13,2018,
approved allotment of 23,52,94,117 Shares at a price
of T 170 per share for an aggregate consideration
upto T 4000 crore (Rupees Four Thousand Crore
only) to Northern TK Venture Pte Ltd (NTK), an
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of IHH Healthcare
Berhad (IHH). Pursuant to the said allotment, NTK
also obtained the right to appoint the majority of
the directors on the board of the Company, and
the board was accordingly re-constituted, details
whereof are separately disclosed in this report.
Accordingly, pursuant to the allotment, NTK was
designated as a ‘promoter’ of the Company.

Open Offer- The Board had at its meeting held on
July 13,2018, accepted the binding bid made by IHH
Healthcare Berhad and entered into subscription
Agreement for issue of 23,52,94,117 Shares at a price
of ¥ 170 per share for an aggregate consideration
upto T 4000 crore (Rupees Four Thousand Crore
only) to Northern TK Venture Pte Ltd, an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of IHH Healthcare Berhad
(IHH). Pursuant to the said issue and in terms of
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial
Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations,
2011, IHH made the Mandatory Open Offer for
acquisition of upto 197,025,660 Equity Shares
representing additional 26% of the expanded voting
share capital of the Company (“Fortis Open Offer”)
and another Mandatory Open Offer for acquisition
of up to 4,894,308 fully paid up equity shares of face
value of INR 10 each, representing 26% of the fully
diluted voting equity share capital of Fortis Malar
Hospitals Limited (Fortis Malar Open Offer).

However, after the making of the Public
Announcement, the Hon'ble Supreme Court of
India had on December 14, 2018 passed an order
(“Order”) directing “status quo with regard to sale
of the controlling stake in Fortis Healthcare to
Malaysian IHH Healthcare Berhad be maintained”.
In light of the Order, the Open Offer was put on hold
until further order(s)/ clarification(s)/ direction(s)
issued by the Hon'ble Supreme Court of India.

Re-classification of category of shareholders-
The Company is in process of seeking regulatory
approvals for re-classification of Mr. Malvinder
Mohan Singh, Malvinder Mohan Singh- Trust,

239 Annual Report 2018-19 | H©hH



56

Dr. Shivinder Mohan Singh, Mr. Harpal Singh,
Mr. Abhishek Singh, Fortis Healthcare Holdings
Private Limited, Malav Holdings Private Limited
and RHC Holding Private Limited, from the
“Promoter and Promoter Group” to the “Public”
shareholding of the Company.

Changed Board and Key Managerial Personnel-
During the year under review, the Company
received a requisition from National Westminster
Bank Plc as Trustee of Jupiter India Fund (as
represented by Jupiter Asset Management Limited),
East Bridge Capital Master Fund Ltd. and East
Bridge Capital Master Fund I Ltd., the shareholders
of Company, for induction of Ms. Suvalaxmi
Chakraborty, Mr. Ravi Rajagopal and Mr. Indrajit
Banerjee as members of the Board and removal of
Mr. Harpal Singh, Ms. Sabina Vaisoha, Dr. Brian
William Tempest and Lt. Gen. Tejinder Singh
Shergill from the directorship of the Company.
Considering the profiles of the proposed board
members, the Board appointed Ms. Suvalaxmi
Chakraborty, Mr. Ravi Rajagopal and Mr. Indrajit
Banerjee as Additional Independent Directors w.e.f.
April 27, 2018. Subsequently, Mr. Harpal Singh,
Ms. Sabina Vaisoha and Lt. Gen. Tejinder Singh
Shergill resigned from the directorship w.e.f. May
20, 2018 and the shareholders at its meeting held
on May 22, 2018, regularized the appointment of
the Independent Directors and removed Dr. Brian
William Tempest from directorship. Pursuant to the
signing of Subscription Agreement with Northern
TK Venture Pte Ltd (NTK), an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of IHH Healthcare Berhad (IHH),
NTK obtained the right to appoint the majority of
the directors on the board of the Company, and the
Board accordingly appointed directors nominated
by IHH, on the boards of the Company. Complete
details of the various changes at Board level is
separately disclosed in this report.

During the year under review, the Key Managerial
Personnel (Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary) also underwent
changes, details whereof is separately disclosed in
this report.

Acquisition of Indian assets of RHT- During the
Financial Year 2017-18, the Board of Directors
approved a significant restructuring initiative aimed
at consolidating the entire India asset portfolio of
RHT Health Trust (“RHT”) into the Company
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and its subsidiaries. The Company and the Trustee
Manager of RHT entered into an arrangement for
acquisition of all the securities of RHT’s entities
in India, directly or indirectly holding the clinical
establishments and businesses for an enterprise
value of approximately I 4,650 Crore (“the
Transaction”). The Transaction was duly approved
by an overwhelming majority of Fortis shareholders
and was duly completed on January 15, 2019. As
disclosed earlier, the Transaction is expected to
be beneficial and value accretive for the Company
and its shareholders as it would save significant
clinical establishment fees that Fortis used to pay
to RHT Indian entities. In addition, it provides the
Company full control over all the assets i.e. hospitals
enabling direct and more focused management of
the business. The Transaction is expected to result
in significant improvement in the Company’s
operating profitability i.e. EBITDA and cash flows
and also lead to interest savings that would further
strengthen its performance, thereby enabling the
Company to potentially provide higher value for all
its shareholders.

Further, on March 29, 2019, the Compulsory
Convertible Debentures (CCDs) issued by
International Hospital Limited (IHL), Escorts Heart
and Super Speciality Hospital Limited (EHSSHL)
and Fortis Hospotel Limited (FHTL) held by the
Company were converted into Equity Shares.

» Other key movements- The Board terminated
the employment of Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh,
erstwhile Executive Chairman who was appointed
as Lead- Strategic Initiatives w.e.f. June 26, 2018. The
details in this regard have been duly incorporated in
the notes to financial statement.

DIVIDEND AND TRANSFER TO RESERVES

Keeping in view the losses for the year under review,
the Board of Directors of your Company have not
recommended any dividend for the Financial Year 2018-
19. Accordingly, there has been no transfer to general
reserves.

The Company has formulated a Policy on Dividend
Distribution in terms of SEBI Circular No. SEBI/LAD-
NRO/6N/2016-17/008 and the same is available on
the website of the Company at https://d3frl090092vlr.
cloudfront.net/FHL-Dividend-Distribution-Policy-
Feb-2019.pdf.



MATERIAL CHANGES

There are no material changes and commitments,
affecting the financial position of the Company which
have occurred between the end of the Financial Year
2018-19 and the date of this report.

STATEMENT IN RESPECT OF ADEQUACY OF
INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS WITH
REFERENCE TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statutory Auditors have, in their report to the Board
of Directors on the Internal Financial Controls Over
Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of
Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“The Act”) made
the following Qualified Opinion and are categorised
as “Qualified Opinion”. The Directors’ response to the
comments of the auditors is given below:

Qualified Opinion

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the Company as of and for the
year ended 31 March 2019, we have audited the internal
financial controls with reference to consolidated financial
statements of Fortis Healthcare Limited (hereinafter
referred to as the “Company” or “Holding Company”)
and such companies incorporated in India under the
Companies Act, 2013 which are its subsidiary companies
(together referred to as “the Group”), its associates and
its joint venture company (jointly controlled company)
as of that date.

In our opinion, except for the effects/ possible effects of the
material weaknesses described below on the achievement
of the objectives of the control criteria, to the best of our
information and according to the explanations given to
us and based on the consideration of the reports of the
other auditors referred to in the Other Matters paragraph
below, the Company, its subsidiary companies, its
associate companies and joint venture companies, which
are companies incorporated in India have, in all material
respects, maintained adequate internal financial controls
with reference to consolidated financial statements
and such internal financial controls were operating
effectively as at 31 March 2019, based on the internal
financial controls with reference to consolidated financial
statements criteria established by such companies
considering the essential components of such internal
controls stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal
Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the
“Guidance Note”).
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We have considered the material weaknesses identified
and reported below in determining the nature, timing,
and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2019 and this material
weakness has, inter alia, affected our opinion on the said
Consolidated Financial Statements and we have issued
a qualified opinion on the said Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

As explained in paragraph (a) of “Basis for Qualified
Opinion” paragraph of our Audit Report on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2019, pursuant to certain events/transactions in
earlier years, the erstwhile Audit and Risk Management
Committee (the ARMC”) of the Holding Company had
initiated an independent investigation by an external legal
firm and special audits by professional firms on matters
relating to systemic lapses and override of controls.
The report has since been submitted and is subject to
limitations on the information available to the external
legal firm and their qualifications and disclaimers as
described in their Investigation report. Further, the
investigation by different regulatory authorities in these
matters is still ongoing and an overall assessment of
the impact of the investigations is yet to be concluded.
Pending final outcome of the regulatory investigations
and enquiries, completeness of identification of
deficiencies cannot be ascertained.

A ‘material weakness’ is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal financial control over financial
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of the company’s annual
or interim financial statements will not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis.

Directors’ response to comments of the statutory
auditors in the Audit Report:

With regard to the Basis for Qualified Opinion above,
pertaining to the Investigation Report, it is submitted
that based on the investigation carried out by the external
legal firm, SEBI Interim orders dated October 17, 2018,
December 21, 2018 and confirmed vide order dated
March 19, 2019 and the information available at this
stage, all identified / required adjustments/ disclosures
arising from the findings in the Investigation Report,
were made in previous year. Further, the Board initiated
specific improvement projects during the current year
to strengthen the process and control environment. The
Board continues to evaluate other areas to strengthen
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processes. Further investigations by various regulatory
authorities are yet to be completed. With regard to other
comments all identified adjustments/disclosures have
been made. For more details please refer to Notes 14, 29,
30, 31, 32 to financial statement.

DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARY/JOINT VENTURES/
ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

During the year under review:

» The Company has through its subsidiary- Fortis
Cancer Care Limited divested its entire shareholding
in Lalitha Healthcare Private Limited (79.43% equity
stake) on June 29, 2018 due to recurring financial
losses and infrastructure constraints; and

» Pursuant to the closure of RHT Acquisition
transaction, Escorts Heart and Super Speciality
Hospital Limited, International Hospital Limited,
Fortis Health Management Limited and Hospitalia
Eastern Private Limited, became direct/indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company
effective January 15, 2019. Also, Fortis Hospotel
Limited became the wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company from the same date.

Further note that your Board of Directors have adopted
a policy for determining “material subsidiary” pursuant
to the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2015. The said policy is
available at https://d3frl090092vlr.cloudfront.net/Policy-
On-Material-Subsidiary-Feb-2019.pdf.

In terms of the said policy, as on April 1, 2019, Fortis
Hospitals Limited (FHsL), International Hospital
Limited (IHL), Fortis Healthcare International Limited,
Fortis Hospotel Limited (FHTL) and SRL Limited
are considered as Material Subsidiary(ies). Necessary
compliances w.r.t. material subsidiaries have been duly
carried out except that the Company is yet to appoint
an Independent Director from the Board of Fortis
Healthcare Limited on the Boards of IHL, FHsL and
FHTL.

PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL POSITION OF
EACH OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURE COMPANIES

The consolidated financial statements of the Companyand
its subsidiaries, prepared in accordance with applicable
accounting standards, issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India, forms part of the Annual Report.
In terms of the Section 136 of the Companies Act, 2013,
financial statements of the subsidiary companies are not
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required to be sent to the members of the Company. The
Company will provide a copy of separate annual accounts
in respect of each of its subsidiary to any shareholder of
the Company who asks for it and said annual accounts will
also be kept open for inspection at the registered office of
the Company. Performance and financial position of each
of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures included in
the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company
is enclosed herewith as “Annexure - I” in the prescribed
format (Form AOC-1).

The contribution of the subsidiary/associates/joint
venture companies to the overall performance of your
Company is outlined in Note No. 27 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2019.

LOANS/ADVANCES/INVESTMENTS/GUARANTEES

Particulars of Loans/Advances/Investments/guarantees
given and outstanding during the Financial Year
2018-19 are mentioned in Notes to the Financial
Statements.

PUBLIC DEPOSITS

During the year under review, your Company has not
invited or accepted any deposits from the public, pursuant
to the provisions of Section 73 of the Companies Act,
2013 read with the Companies (Acceptance of Deposit)
Rules, 2014 and therefore, no amount of principal or
interest was outstanding in respect of deposits from the
Public as of the date of Balance Sheet.

UTILISATION OF FUNDS

The details of utilization of funds raised through
preferential allotment during the year are mentioned in
Notes to Financial Statements.

AUDITORS
Statutory Auditors

M/s.Deloitte Haskins & Sells, LLP, Chartered Accountants,
were appointed as Statutory Auditors of your Company
w.e.f. September 23, 2015 for a period of 5 years. They
tendered their resignation as Statutory Auditors of the
Company vide their letter dated December 28, 2018 with
immediate effect.

Subsequently, the Board on the recommendation of
Audit and Risk Management Committee, at its meeting
held on December 31, 2018, appointed M/s B S R & Co.
LLP, to fill the casual vacancy and hold office until the
conclusion of ensuing Annual General Meeting to be held
in the year 2019 for conducting the Statutory Audit for
the period ended March 31, 2019. The said appointment



was approved by the shareholders through postal ballot,
result whereof was announced on February 6, 2019.

The Board on the recommendation of Audit and Risk
Management Committee, approved appointment of
M/s B S R & Co. LLP, (Registration No. 101248W/W-
100022), Chartered Accountants, as Statutory Auditors
of the Company for a period of five years up to the
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting to be held in
the year 2024. Accordingly, a resolution seeking Member’s
approval for the appointment of M/s B S R & Co. LLP,
Statutory Auditors is included in the Notice convening
the ensuing Annual General Meeting. Further, in terms of
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015, the proposed fees to be paid to the
Statutory Auditors of the Company for FY 2019-20 is
< 182.15 Lacs (plus out of pocket expenses and taxes).

There is no material change in the fees payable to the new
auditors from that paid to outgoing auditor except for the
increase in scope of work for Group audit. The terms of
appointment are same as of outgoing auditors.

The existing Statutory Auditors have, in their report to
the Board of Directors on the Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Company made the following
comments which are self-explanatory and are categorized
as “Emphasis of Matter”, hence no comments in this
regard have been offered by your Board of Directors:

a) Note 14(II) relating to outcome of income tax
assessments in respect of Escorts Heart Institute
and Research Centre Limited (EHIRCL), one of the
subsidiaries in the Group, regarding amalgamation
of two Societies and its subsequent conversion to
EHIRCL.

b) Note 14(II) relating to the outcome of the civil suit/
arbitrations with regard to termination of certain
land leases allotted by Delhi Development Authority
(DDA) and the matter related to non-compliance
with the order of the Honorable High Court of
Delhi in relation to provision of free treatment/beds
to poor by EHIRCL.

¢) Note 14(III) regarding matter relating to termination
of Hospital lease agreement of Hiranandani
Healthcare Private Limited, one of the subsidiaries in
the Group, by Navi Mumbai Municipal Corporation
(NMMC) vide order dated 18 January 2018.

Based on the advice given by external legal counsel, the
likelihood of outflow in the above litigations is remote
and accordingly no provision/adjustment has been
considered necessary by the management with respect
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to the above matters in the consolidated financial
statements.

The existing Statutory Auditors have, in their report to
the Board of Directors on the Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Company made the following
qualification:

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Fortis Healthcare Limited (hereinafter referred to as the
“Company” or ‘Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries
(Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred
to as “the Group”), its associates and its joint ventures,
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at
31 March 2019, the consolidated statement of profit
and loss (including other comprehensive income),
consolidated statement of change in equity and
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred
to as “the consolidated financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us, and based on
the consideration of the reports of auditors on separate
financial statements of such subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures as were audited by other auditors,
except for the effects/ possible effects, if any, of the
matters described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion”
paragraphs of our report , the aforesaid consolidated
financial statements give the information required by
the Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’) in the manner so
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with
the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of
the consolidated state of affairs of Group, its associates
and joint ventures as at 31 March 2019, of its consolidated
profit and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash
flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

(a) The matters stated below were also subject matter
of qualification in predecessor auditor’s audit
opinion on the consolidated financial statements
as at 31 March 2018:

(i) As explained in Note 31 of the consolidated
financial statements, pursuant to certain
events/transactions, the erstwhile Audit and
Risk Management Committee (the “ARMC”)
of the Company had initiated an independent
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investigation by an external legal firm and
special audits by professional firms on matters
relating to systematic lapses/override of
internal controls as described in Note 31 of the
consolidated financial statements. The report
has since been submitted and is subject to the
limitations on the information available to the
external legal firm and their qualifications and
disclaimers as described in their Investigation
report.

Additionally, different regulatory authorities
are currently undertaking their own
investigations, details of which are described
in Note 31 and Note 32 of the consolidated
financial statements and are stated below:

- SEBI has initiated an investigation in
respect of the wvarious issues. On
17 October 2018, 21 December 2018
and 19 March 2019, SEBI passed Orders
(“Orders”) and further investigations by
regulatory authorities is continuing. In
its Orders, SEBI observed that certain
inter-corporate deposits (“ICDs”) made
by Fortis Hospitals Limited (“FHsL’), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
with certain identified entities were so
structured that they seem to be prima
facie fictitious and fraudulent in nature
resulting in inter alia diversion of funds
from the Group for the ultimate benefit
of erstwhile promoters (and certain
entities controlled by them) resulting
in a misrepresentation in the financial
statements of the Group in earlier period.
Further, SEBI issued certain directions
inter alia directing the Company and
FHsL to take all necessary steps to
recover < 40,300 lacs along with the due
interest from erstwhile promoters and
various other entities, as mentioned in
the Orders. It has also directed erstwhile
promoter and the said entities to repay
the sums due. The aforesaid ICDs were
fully provided for in the books as at 31
March 2018. SEBI, in its Orders also
directed erstwhile promoters and the
said entities that pending completion of
investigation and till further order, they
shall not dispose of or alienate any of
their assets or divert any funds, except
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for the purposes for meeting expenses of
day to day business operations, without
the prior permission of SEBI. Erstwhile
promoters have also been directed not to
associate themselves with the affairs of the
Company in any manner whatsoever, till
further directions. The initial directions
issued by SEBI have been confirmed by
SEBI in their order dated 19 March 2019.

- Serious Fraud Investigation Office (SFIO),
Ministry of Corporate Affairs, under
Section 217(1)(a) of the Companies
Act, 2013, inter alia, has initiated an
investigation and has been seeking
information in relation to the Company,
its material subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates to which as informed to us
the Company has responded.

Since, the investigation and enquiries carried
out by regulators as aforesaid are currently
ongoing, need for additional procedures/
enquiries, if any, and an overall assessment of
the impact of the investigations on the financial
statements is yet to be concluded.

Based on investigations carried out by an
external legal firm, Orders by SEBI and
other information available currently, as
per the Management all identified/required
adjustments/ disclosures arising from the
findings in the Investigation Report and the
Orders by SEBI, were made in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2018.

Matters included in the investigation report
(but not limited to) and highlighted by the
predecessor auditor in their audit report for the
year ended 31 March 2018, are as below:

- Provisions against the outstanding ICDs
amounting to ¥ 44,503 lacs (including
interest accrued thereon of ¥ 4,260 lacs),
provision of ¥ 5,519 lacs towards amounts
paid as security deposit, advances towards
lease of office space and expenditure
incurred towards capital work in progress
and ¥ 2,549 lacs towards property advance
(including interest accrued thereon of
% 174 lacs) due to uncertainty of recovery
of these balances (refer to Note 29 and
30 of the of the consolidated financial
statements).



- The Company through its overseas
subsidiaries sold its investment held in a
fund at a discount. (money was received
on 23 April 2018) which was recorded
as a loss in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March
2018. In absence of sufficient information
available, rationale to demonstrate the
reasonability of the discount was not
established (refer to Note 30(c) and 31(b)
of the consolidated financial statements).

- Certain past transactions as mentioned
in the Note 31 of the consolidated
financial statements which may have been
prejudicial to the Group.

No additional adjustments/ disclosures were
required to be made in the consolidated
financial statements for the year 31 March 2019
in respect of the above.

As explained in Note 9(5) and 31(e) of the
consolidated financial statements, related party
relationships prior to loss of control of erstwhile
promoters/directors in the year ended 31 March
2018 were identified by the Management taking
into account the information available with the
Management and including the findings and
limitations in the Investigation Reports. In this
regard, specific declarations from the erstwhile
directors/promoters, especially considering
the substance of the relationship rather than
the legal form, were not available. Therefore,
the possibility cannot be ruled out that there
may be additional related parties of erstwhile
promoters/directors whose relationships may
not have been disclosed to the Group and,
hence, not known to the Management.

Further, as explained in Note 14 of the
consolidated financial statements, a Civil Suit
was filed by a third party against various entities
including the (Company relating to “Fortis,
SRL and La-Femme~ brands. The Company
has received four demand notices aggregating
to T 25,344 lacs in respect to this Civil Suit.
Allegations made by third party has been
duly responded to by the Company denying
(i) execution of any binding agreement with
the third party; and (ii) liability of any kind
whatsoever. Based on legal advice of external
legal counsel, the Management believes that

(i)

(iii)
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the claims are without legal basis and not
tenable. The matter is currently sub-judice.

Due to the ongoing nature of the various
regulatory inquiries/investigations, we are
unable to comment on the adjustments/
disclosures which may become necessary
as a result of further findings of the ongoing
regulatory investigations on the consolidated
financial statements including completeness/
accuracy of the related party transactions
which relate to or which originated before
31 March 2018, the regulatory non-
compliances, if any, and the consequential
impact, if any, on the consolidated financial
statements.

As explained in Note 29 and 30 during the
year ended 31 March 2018, interest income
of ¥ 4,434 lacs comprising T 4,260 lacs (on
the outstanding ICDs given) and ¥ 174 lacs
(relating to property advance) had been
recognized. A provision was however created
against the entire amount in the year ended
31 March 2018 and the provision was disclosed
as an exceptional item. The recognition of
aforesaid interest income as at 31 March 2018
on doubtful ICDs and property advance is not
in compliance with Ind AS 18 ‘Revenue’ (as
it does not meet the recognition criteria) and
consequently interest income and the provision
for doubtful interest disclosed as exceptional
items (net) are overstated to that extent. It had
no impact on loss for the year ended 31 March
2018.

As explained in Note 34 of the consolidated
financial statements, during the year ended
31 March 2018, the Company having
considered all necessary facts and taking into
account external legal advice, concluded that it
had paid amount aggregating to < 2,002 lacs to
the erstwhile Executive Chairman during his
tenure (ended during the year ended 31 March
2018) in excess of the amounts approved by the
Central Government under Section 197 of the
Companies Act 2013 for his remuneration and
other reimbursements. This is accordingly a
non-compliance with the provisions of section
197 of the Companies Act 2013. In the current
year, the Company has taken requisite actions
to recover this amount. Due to the uncertainty
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involved on recoverability of the said amounts
a provision for this amount has also been
recorded.

The Group has recorded a cumulative financial
liability as at 31 March 2019 of I 118,000 lacs
(included under “Other current financial
liabilities”) by debiting “Other Equity” in respect of
put option available with certain non-controlling
shareholders of SRL Limited (refer to Note 12(b) of
the consolidated financial statements). The Group
has not quantified the liability relating to previous
periods and therefore, we are unable to comment on
the impact of such liability for previous periods.

Director’s response to comments of the statutory
auditors in the Audit Report:

(i) With regard to the comments of the statutory
auditors in paragraph- a (i) of the Basis for
Qualified Opinion of Audit Report, pertaining
to the Investigation Report, it is submitted that,
based on the investigation carried out by the
external legal firm, SEBI Interim orders dated
October 17, 2018, December 21, 2018 and
confirmed vide order dated March 19, 2019
and the information available at this stage, all
identified / required adjustments/ disclosures
arising from the findings in the Investigation
Report, were made in the previous year. Further,
the Board initiated specific improvement
projects during current year to strengthen
the process and control environment. The
Board continues to evaluate other areas to
strengthen processes. Further, investigations
by various regulatory authorities are yet to be
completed. With regard to other comments all
identified adjustments/disclosures have been
made. For more details please refer to Notes
14, 29, 30, 31, 21 to financial statements.

(i) With regard to the comments of the statutory
auditors in paragraph- a(ii) of the Basis for
Qualified Opinion of Audit Report, there was
no impact on the net income for the previous
year.

(iii) With regard to the comments of the statutory
auditors in paragraph- a(iii) of the Basis for
Qualified Opinion of Audit Report, pertaining
to the LoA issued to the erstwhile Executive
Chairman, the Company, having considered
all necessary facts, has decided to treat as non
est the LoA issued to the erstwhile Executive
Chairman and is taking suitable legal measures
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to recover the payments made to him under
the LoA as well as all the Company’s assets in
this possession. For more details, please refer
to Note 34 to financial statements.

(iv) With regard to the comments of the statutory
auditors in paragraph - b, of the Basis for
Qualified Opinion of Audit Reportin relation to
put options granted to certain non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiary, due to contractual
agreement, facts and circumstances of the case
at that time, Group considered not to recognize
this liability in the previous year.

The Statement on Impact of Audit Qualifications as
stipulated in regulation 33(3)(d) is placed below:

Qualifications in the Auditor’s Report

The Board of Fortis Healthcare Limited, has dealt
with the matters stated in the qualifications in
statutory auditor’s report on the Consolidated
Financial Results of Fortis Healthcare Limited (“the
Parent” or “the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the Parent/Company and its subsidiaries together
referred to as “the Group”) and its share of profit /
(Loss) of its joint ventures and associates for the year
ended March 31, 2019 (“the Consolidated Annual
Results”) included in the Statement of Consolidated
Financial Results (“the Consolidated Statement”) to
the extent information was available with them.

(% in lacs)

SI. Particulars Audited Adjusted
No. Figures (as Figures
reported (audited

before figures after

adjusting for  adjusting for

qualifications) qualifications)$

1 Turnover / Total 456,176 Not
income Determinable
2 Total 478,547 ---Do---
Expenditure
3 Net Profit/ (22,371) ---Do---
(Loss)
4 Earnings Per (3.70) ---Do---
Share
5  Total Assets 1,195,127 ---Do---
6  Total Liabilities 483,878 ---Do---
7  Net Worth 711,249 ---Do---
8  Any other - -
financial
item(s) (as felt
appropriate
by the
management)

“$” for Qualifications a to b of the Auditor’s Report.



Qualification 1 of the Auditor’s Report

1.

Details of Audit Qualification:
As explained in basis of qualification a (i) above

Type of Audit Qualification :
Qualified Opinion

Frequency of qualification:
Second time

For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact
is quantified by the auditor, Management’s
Views:

Not Applicable

For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact
is not quantified by the auditor:

(i) Management’s estimation on the impact
of audit qualification:
Not quantifiable.

(ii) If management is unable to estimate the
impact, reasons for the same:

Please refer point no. (i) above of
Director’s response to comments of the
statutory auditors in the Audit Report.

(iii) Auditors’ Comments on (i) or (ii) above:

Due to the nature of various regulatory

inquiries/ investigations, the
consequential impact, if any, cannot be
ascertained.

Qualification 2 of the Auditor’s Report

1.

Details of Audit Qualification:
As explained in basis of qualification a (ii)

Type of Audit Qualification :
Qualified Opinion

Frequency of qualification:
Second time

For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact
is quantified by the auditor, Management’s
Views:

Please refer point no (ii) above of Director’s
response to comments of the statutory auditors
in the Audit Report.

For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact
is not quantified by the auditor:

(i) Management’s estimation on the impact
of audit qualification:

No Impact in the current year 2018-19

Directors’ Report

(ii) If management is unable to estimate the
impact, reasons for the same:
Not Applicable

(iii) Auditors’ Comments on (i) or (ii) above:
Not Applicable

Qualification 3 of the Auditor’s Report

1. Details of Audit Qualification:
As explained in basis of qualification a (iii)
above

2. Type of Audit Qualification :
Qualified Opinion

3. Frequency of qualification:
Second time

4. For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact
is quantified by the auditor, Management’s
Views:

Not Applicable

5. For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact
is not quantified by the auditor:

(i) Management’s estimation on the impact
of audit qualification:

Not quantifiable.

(i) If management is unable to estimate the
impact, reasons for the same:

Please refer point no (iii) above of
Director’s response to comments of the
statutory auditors in the Audit Report.

(iii) Auditors’ Comments on (i) or (ii) above:

A continuing qualification from previous
year as non-compliance with section 197
of the Companies Act, 2013 is pending to
be regularized.

Qualification 4 of the Auditor’s Report
1. Details of Audit Qualification:
As explained in basis of qualification (b) above

2. Type of Audit Qualification :
Qualified Opinion

3. Frequency of qualification:

First time

4. For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact
is quantified by the auditor, Management’s
Views:

Not Applicable
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For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact
is not quantified by the auditor:

(i) Management’s estimation on the impact
of audit qualification:

Not quantifiable

(ii) If management is unable to estimate the
impact, reasons for the same:

Please refer point no (iv) above of
Director’s response to comments of the
statutory auditors in the Audit Report.

(iii) Auditors’ Comments on (i) or (ii) above:

In our view based on contractual
agreement and facts available, the Group
is required to recognize liability of this put
option in earlier years.

Cost Auditors

Pursuant to Section 148 of the Companies Act,
2013 read with the Companies (Cost Records
and Audit) Rules, 2014, the cost audit records
maintained by the Company in respect of its
hospital activity is required to be audited. Your
Directors had, on the recommendation of
the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
appointed M/s. Jitender, Navneet & Co., Cost
Accountants to audit the cost accounts of the
Company for the Financial Year 2018-19 at a
remuneration of ¥ 3.5 lac (plus out of pocket
expenses and taxes). As required under the

S.  Remarks by auditors
No.

Companies Act, 2013, the remuneration
payable to the cost auditors is required to
be placed before the Members in a general
meeting for ratification. Accordingly, a
resolution seeking Member’s ratification for
the remuneration payable to M/s Jitender,
Navneet & Co., Cost Auditors is included in the
Notice convening the ensuing Annual General
Meeting. Further, in terms of the Companies
(Accounts) Rules, 2014, it is confirmed that
maintenance of cost records as specified by
the Central Government under sub-section (1)
of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013, is
applicable on your Company and accordingly
such accounts and records are properly made
and maintained.

Secretarial Auditor

Pursuant to the provisions of Section
204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration
of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, the
Company has appointed M/s. Sanjay Grover
& Associates, Practicing Company Secretary,
to undertake the Secretarial Audit of the
Company. The Company has complied with
the provisions of Secretarial Standards, to the
extent feasible. The Secretarial Audit Report
is enclosed herewith as “Annexure - II”. The
adverse remarks and management response to
the same is as given below:

Management Response

1 The audited financial statements/ results for the year The Audited Financial statements were
ended on March 31, 2018 were submitted to the stock approved by the board on July 6, 2018.

exchange(s) after a delay of 37 days against the specified
period as required under Regulation 33(3)(d) of SEBI
LODR. In respect thereto, necessary penal provisions

were duly complied with.

The same was delayed as the audit could
not be completed within the defined
timelines.

2 Statement on Impact of Audit Qualifications for audit The Financial results for the Quarter and
report with modified opinion was submitted with the Financial Year ended March 31, 2018,
stock exchange(s) after a delay of almost 1 month against were duly submitted to stock exchanges
the specified period as required under Regulation 33(3) on July 7, 2018, however, the statement
(d) of SEBI LODR. Necessary compliances including on Impact of Audit Qualifications for

newspaper publication(s) were duly complied with.

| Fortis Healthcare Limited

audit report with modified opinion was
erroneously submitted on August 9, 2018
instead.



No.

Remarks by auditors

Prior intimation to the stock exchanges was not given
for the board meeting held on July 07, 2018 for the
approval of annual financial statements/ results for
the year ended on March 31, 2018, which is not in
compliance with Regulation 29(2) of SEBI LODR.

Composition of Audit Committee was modified on
November 13, 2018 which was not in accordance with
Regulation 18 of SEBI LODR. The same was thereafter
rectified on January 30, 2019. In respect thereto,
necessary penal provisions were duly complied with.

No independent director(s) of the Company were
appointed on the board of Fortis Hospotel Limited and
Fortis Hospitals Limited, both being unlisted material
subsidiaries of the Company, which is not in compliance
with Regulation 24(1) of LODR.

The proceedings of Extraordinary General Meeting of
the Company held on August 13, 2018 was submitted
to the stock exchanges after the delay of 2 days which is
not in compliance with Regulation 30 of SEBI LODR.

Credit rating of the Company was revised by ICRA
Limited on September 06, 2018 and the same was
intimated to the stock exchanges on September 20, 2018
which is not in compliance with Regulation 30 of SEBI
LODR.

The Company disclosed to the stock exchanges about
Share subscription Agreement entered into with IHH
Healthcare Berhad on July 13, 2018, however, the same
was not in the format as prescribed under Para No. 5
of the SEBI Circular CIR/CFD/CMD/4/2015 dated
September 09, 2015.

Necessary documentation in respect of secured loan
obtained from Yes Bank amounting to ¥ 614 Crore is
not yet to be completed and accordingly, the Company
has not filed Form CHG-1 with Registrar of Companies,
Chandigarh.

Directors’ Report

Management Response

Since the Board Meeting was unplanned
and held at a shorter notice, necessary
intimation was not made. However, the
stock exchanges were regularly informed
on the developments.

The composition did not meet the
necessary regulatory requirements for
a span of approx. 1.5 months. The same
was duly rectified before March 31, 2019.

The Board is in process of identifying the
candidate for the said position(s).

The outcome of the Extra Ordinary
General Meeting was duly disclosed on
August 14, 2018, however intimation
regarding proceedings of the meeting was
delayed by two days due to inadvertent
omission.

This was occurred due to inadvertent
omission.

The Company has throughout the
bidding process kept the stock exchanges
and public at large updated on the
developments. Since all the disclosures as
stated in Regulation 30 w.r.t. ‘Entering of
an agreement’ were already available in
public domain, based on the legal advice,
a considered view was taken that there
is no requirement of making separate
disclosure in this regard.

Document for creation of charge has not
been executed till date and the necessary
filings will thereafter be taken care of.
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No.

10

11

12

13

Remarks by auditors

Disclosures as required under the provisions of Section
149(7) of the Companies Act, 2013 were not placed
before first meeting of board of directors held in
Financial Year ended on March 31, 2019, however, same
was placed at subsequent meeting of the board.

Disclosures as required under the provisions of Section
184(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 were not placed
before first meeting of board of directors held in
Financial Year ended on March 31, 2019, however, same
was placed at subsequent meeting of the board.

The Company has initiated the process of performance
evaluation of the Board as a whole, its Committees and
Individual Directors, as per the requirements of Section
134(3)(p) of the Act read with Regulation 17(10) of
SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015 and report of same is yet
to be placed before the board.

As reported in the secretarial audit report of Financial
year ended March 31, 2018, the remuneration of
 20,02,39,000/- paid to the erstwhile Executive
Chairman of the Company in relation to his role as
‘Lead: Strategic Initiatives, in the Strategy Function,
was in excess of the limits approved by the Central

Management Response

Due to paucity of time, the Board could
not consider the requisite disclosures in
the first meeting of the Financial Year
2018-19. A noting in this regard has been
duly recorded in the minutes also.

The Board Evaluation process was duly
completed by the date of this Board
Report.

The Company is in process of taking
necessary legal actions for recovery of
the amount paid to erstwhile Executive
Chairman and has filed a complaint
before Economic Offences Wing.
Investigation is pending.

Government as under Section 197 of the Act. As per the
management, the Company is in the process of seeking

refund of such excess amount paid to him.

o Internal Auditors

Upon the recommendation of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee, the Board of
Directors has appointed Mr. Rajiv Puri, Head
Risk and Internal Audit as the Chief Internal
Auditor of the Company and authorized him to
engage independent firms for conducting the
internal audit for the Financial Year 2018-19.
Accordingly, Pricewaterhouse Coopers Private
Limited was engaged to perform Internal Audit
for the Company/its subsidiaries.

Besides, the details of frauds as mentioned in the
Auditors Report, if any, as per the requirement of
Companies Auditor Report Order (CARO), Rules,
2016, there was no fraud reported by the above
stated auditors during the year under review.

SIGNIFICANT & MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY
THE REGULATORS

During FY 18-19, there was no significant material
order passed by the Regulators/ Courts which would
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impact the going concern status of the Company and
its future operations. Updates w.r.t. ongoing regulatory
investigations (viz. SEBI and SFIO) and other legal
matters are detailed in Notes to the Financial Statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE/STOCK OPTION

Pursuant to entering into Subscription Agreement with
Northern TK Venture Pte Ltd, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of IHH Healthcare Berhad (IHH), the Board
and the shareholders at their meetings held on July
13, 2018 and August 13, 2018, respectively, approved
increase in authorized share capital of the Company from
T 678,00,00,000/- to I 928,00,00,000/- details whereof
forms part of notes to financial statement. Subsequently,
the Board at its meeting held on November 13, 2018,
approved allotment of 23,52,94,117 Shares at a price of
% 170 per share to Northern TK Venture Pte Ltd.

The Company currently manages its stock options
through “Employee Stock Option Plan 2007 and
“Employee Stock Option Plan 2011”7 (“Schemes”) as
approved by the shareholders. The Nomination and



Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of
the Company, inter alia, administers and monitors the
Schemes of the Company. Each option when exercised
would be converted into one fully paid up equity share of
% 10 each of the Company. During the year under review,
no option was granted by the Company. Disclosure
pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Share Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014 for
the year ended March 31, 2019 is available at https://
s3-ap-southeast-1.amazonaws.com/s3.fortishealthcare.
com/ESOP+disclosure+2018-19.pdf.

During the year under review, under the terms of the
“Employee Stock Option Plan 20077, 3600 stock options
were exercised and under the terms of “Employee Stock
Option Scheme 20117 10,00,000 stock options were
exercised.

The certificate from the Statutory Auditors of the
Company stating that the Schemes have been
implemented in accordance with the SEBI Regulations
would be placed at the ensuing Annual General Meeting
for inspection by members.

The Company has not made any provision of money for
purchase of, or subscription for, its own shares or of its
holding Company.

Details pertaining to shares in suspense account are
specified in the report of Corporate Governance forming
part of the Board Report.

Extract of Annual Return is enclosed herewith as
“Annexure - I1I”,

ENERGY CONSERVATION, TECHNOLOGY
ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE

The particulars required under Section 134(3)(m)
of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 8(3) of
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, regarding
Conservation of Energy and Technology Absorption, is
given in “Annexure - IV”, forming part of the Board’s
Report. Further, details pertaining to Foreign Exchange
Earnings and Outgo is as given below:

Total Foreign Exchange Earned and Used (Based on
Standalone Financial Statements)

Particulars Amount
(in% Crore)

Foreign Exchange earned in terms of 7.30

Actual Inflows

Foreign Exchange outgo in terms of 1.11

Actual Outflows

Directors’ Report

Note: Earning and expenditure in foreign currency is on
accrual basis.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY - OUR
JOURNEY THROUGH THE PAST YEAR

As a responsible corporate citizen and a member of the
Indian healthcare ecosystem, we at Fortis Healthcare
strongly believe that we can meaningfully alleviate the
problem of inequitable access to quality healthcare. By
creating and supporting social sector programmes linked
to health and well-being, we seek to leverage our skills,
experience, capabilities, technologies and facilities to
address a critical social need for the vulnerable sections of
society. We have continuously enabled programmes and
initiatives, based on rigorous needs assessment, leading
to not just improvement in healthcare service delivery
but also creating social awareness and change. We believe
this is the best way to have the greatest impact, because
our interventions are capable of transforming lives and
building aware communities.

The CSR initiatives for Fortis Healthcare Limited are
led through Fortis CSR Foundation, a special Purpose
vehicle designated to carry out CSR activities on behalf
of the company. Fortis CSR Foundation (“FCSRF”) is
wholly owned subsidiary of Fortis Healthcare Limited
and company limited by shares not for profit registered
under Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013. During the
first two quarters the CSR activities of the organisation
was carried through Fortis Charitable Foundation.

Theseentitiesworkina collaborative and inclusive manner
not only to align and synergise the social enterprise work
of the group companies but also to expand their circle
of partnerships with Government, Non-Government
Organisations (NGOs), other corporates and individuals.

Working with a dedicated team of employees and
Volunteers, Foundation focuses on four programs
namely: AANCHAL, CHHAYA, SAVERA, SEWA. These
programs work towards:

e  Supporting treatment of under-privileged children
suffering from congenital heart defect under its
Umeed-Dhadkan initiative (AANCHAL)

e  Support access to medical care through charitable
dispensaries, outreach clinics & health Camps
(CHHAYA)

e Design models on health information dissemination
to reach to vulnerable sections of the community
and provide awareness on preventive and
remedial healthcare through different channels of
communication (SAVERA)
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e  Provide timely medical relief to people affected in
the event of disasters (SEWA)

Fortis Healthcare Limited and its subsidiaries (except
SRL Limited) supports SAVERA program which focuses
on Preventive health and Health Education under Section
135 of Companies Act 2013.

SRL Limited supports Chhaya Program which focuses on
providing primary and basic healthcare services through
Charitable Medical Infrastructure & Health Camp under
Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013.

Fortis Healthcare Limited also supports the disaster
relief initiative SEWA through its volunteer base and
contributing donations in the event of disasters.

ABOUT SAVERA PROGRAM

Better health is central to human happiness and well-
being. It also makes an important contribution to
economic progress, as healthy population live longer
and are more productive. The key to a healthy life is
awareness/knowledge of how to stay healthy.

In line with India’s Sustainable Development Goal of
Good health and well-being, Savera program seeks to
provide a platform to create awareness on health issues
and leverage on different channels of communication.
The objective is to design models on health information
dissemination to reach the vulnerable sections of the
community.

SAVERA which focuses on “Health Education and
identified two target
intervention areas on preventive health and health
education:

Preventive Healthcare” has

e  First Aid and Basic Life Support (BLS) Training

Emergency needs are critical. Timely action of
providing first-aid is crucial in preventing or
minimising further suffering. Knowledge on
addressing emergency need is important for
community. The objective is to raise the level of
basic knowledge on First Aid Response & increase
number of people who can help.

e Awareness on health and hygiene to young children

The objective is to raise the awareness on health &
hygiene among children by developing illustrative
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a)

knowledge material and equip the capacity building
of stakeholders working with underprivileged
children

FIRST AID and BASIC LIFE SUPPORT TRAINING

Under this initiative, training on First Aid and Basic
Life support are provided to beneficiaries enabling
them as a first responder to handle mishaps that can
be tackled with simple yet effective first-aid and also
to save lives in case of emergency situations. Some of
the key topics covered under the 2.5 hours training
program are choking, nose bleeding, fainting, Insect
bites, Bruise, cuts & wounds, Cardiopulmonary
Resuscitation (CPR). The beneficiaries are
provided First-Aid Guide, First Aid Kit along with
certification.

Fortis  Malar Hospitals Limited supported the
following:

Training on First Aid and Basic Life Support
training provided to 1531 beneficiaries in Tamil
Nadu. Target groups are:

(a) “School Safety First”: Making schools safer
with First Aid and BLS training program to
1153 Govt. Higher Secondary School Students
and teachers. Youth being future of the society,
awareness was provided with the theme: “Learn
First Aid, Be A Hero”

(b) Anganwadi: In Integrated Child Development
Centre’s, training on First Aid and BLS
provided to 138 Anganwadi workers and
helpers who are key personnel handling the
children community

(¢) Non-Government organizations: First Aid and
BLS to 181 Social workers and volunteers of
NGO who address the community at large

(d) Road Safety: Since drivers spend so much
time on the road the incidence of injuries and
accidents, they come across are high. First
Aid and BLS training provided to 59 truck
drivers as their early intervention can save
lives or decrease the impact of injuries, leading
to quicker recovery or lesser injuries for the
victims

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (A Fortis
Network Hospital) supported the following:



(b)

Training on First Aid and Basic Life Support training
provided to 359 beneficiaries in Maharashtra. Target
group benefitted from this program are: Govt.
Higher secondary school students and teachers;
Anganwadi workers and helpers; Bus drivers and
conductors; Construction workers

Fortis Hospotel Limited also supported the initiative
of First Aid and Basic Life support Program.

The First Aid and Basic Life support training has
enabled the beneficiaries to be equipped with the
knowledge to address emergency medical needs.

HEALTH EDUCATION AND AWARENESS ON
HEALTH & HYGIENE TO CHILDREN

This program works in collaboration with NGO
partners, corporates, District child centres working
with the underprivileged children. The method
adopted to raise awareness on the nutritional
needs and hygiene aspects of young children, is
by developing illustrative books which involves art
therapy and storytelling session, specifically for the
not so privileged community as storytelling and
creative art work encourages active participation
thereby increasing their willingness to apply the
learning in their daily life.

Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited in FY 18-19 supported
the following:

Awareness spread to over 9500 children (Street
children, children in shelter homes, children in
adopted village schools and communities) in
Tamilnadu through distribution of Illustrative art
and storytelling books on health and hygiene to
8 NGO partners and 3 corporates (including its
Foundation working with the community children).
NGO partners catered to the awareness needs
of 6540 children and Corporates & Foundations
reached to over 2989 children

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (A Fortis
Network Hospital) supported the following:

Awareness spread to over 1700 children (Street
children, children in shelter homes, children in
adopted village schools and communities) in
Maharashtra through distribution of Illustrative
art and storytelling books on health and hygiene

Directors’ Report

to NGO partner and corporates (including its
Foundation working with the community children).

Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited

Awareness spread to over 2400 children (Street
children, children in shelter homes, children in
adopted village schools and communities) in Delhi,
Uttar Pradesh, Bihar, Haryana, Punjab through
distribution of previous year’s Illustrative art and
storytelling books on health and hygiene to NGO’s
and corporates (including its Foundation working
with the community children). Also, awareness on
First Aid spread through distribution of previous
year’s First Aid Guide to 220 children from different
NGO’s & community schools, who participated in
Khel Yatra event, Delhi.

In addition to awareness to children, Escorts
Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited
also supported anti-tobacco campaign. Fortis
Foundation has collaborated with Sambandh Health
Foundation to increase awareness on anti-tobacco
through talks and training.

Fortis Healthcare Limited

Fortis Healthcare Limited supported the platform
to initiate and share research to create awareness
on critical health issues. Under this, knowledge
repository of disease related information was shared
under the open platform called Gyaankari- a web
portal for awareness on health issues.

ABOUT CHHAYA

Chhaya is program designed to provide primary and
basic healthcare services to people in need. The treatment
is provided through charitable Clinics and outreach
clinics set up across different regions & Health Camps.

SRL Limited supported the following:
(a) CHARITABLE DISPENSARIES

CHHAYA program - supports access to medical
care through Charitable Dispensaries and Health
Camps. The initiative runs 7 charitable dispensaries
and 3 outreach clinics. Each dispensary has a
qualified MBBS doctor, nurse and paramedic staff.
The dispensaries provide free access to primary
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healthcare services for routine ailments and are
open for 6 days of the week.

Fortis CSR Foundation has treated over 0.67 lakhs
people through its charitable dispensaries from
(I October 2018 to 31" March 2019).

1. Golden Temple Dispensary, Amritsar

e  All India Women Conference (AIWC)
2. Birla Mandir Dispensary, New Delhi
3. Durgiana Temple Dispensary, Amritsar

e  Rag Pickers School, Amritsar

4. Aggarwal Dharamshala Dispensary, Bhogal,
New Delhi

5. Ramakrishna Ashram Dispensary, Dehradun

e  Purukul School for

Dehradun

Underprivilege,

6. Anubhavi Ashram Dispensary, Haridwar

7.  Gurudwara Sach Khand Darbar Dispensary,
Udaipur

(b) HEALTH CAMPS

The initiative collaborates with several like-minded
partners to conduct health camps for economically
weaker sections of society.

No. of Patient got benefited through charitable
dispensaries in FY 2018-19 - 1.23 lacs

ABOUT SEWA PROGRAM - DISASTER RELIEF
INITIATIVE

India has been historically vulnerable to disasters
with floods, cyclones, earthquakes and landslides
being a recurrent phenomenon. In the event of a
disaster, thousands of lives are affected, and livelihoods
worth millions are destroyed. The urgent need in such
situations is access to medical care. SEWA is a Disaster
Relief Initiative that aims to provide emergency
medical relief services in an organised and time
sensitive manner to people affected by disasters.
SEWAs core commitment is to support the
government’s efforts in providing medical relief during
a calamity.

When Kerala was ravaged by Century’s worst flood,
21-member SEWA volunteer team drawn from various
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Fortis Hospitals across India (including doctors, nurses,
paramedics and counsellor) reached to 2774 beneficiaries
via medical relief operations in Wayanad and Alappuzha,
Kerala.

Key drivers of Kerala- Disaster Relief Initiative are:

e  Volunteerism
e Payroll giving and donation program

e Partnerships with NGOs and Health Department,
Kerala

e Powerful communication engine that helps build a
culture of giving

Fortis units across India, raised donation from 4506
employees. The employees of Fortis (including doctors,
nurses, paramedics and counsellor) contributed to 2175
volunteer hours during medical relief operations in
Wayanad and Alappuzha, Kerala.

Particulars pursuant to Clause O of Sub-Section 3 of
Section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule
9 of the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility)
Rules, 2014 is given in “Annexure - V"’

DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

The Board of Directors of the Company as on date
comprises of nine directors, of which one is a Managing
Director and CEO (Executive Director) and 3 are
Independent Directors. Rest of the 5 directors are Non-
Executive Non-independent Directors. Pursuant to
Sections 149 and 152 of the Companies Act, 2013, no
director is liable to retire by rotation at the ensuing
Annual General Meeting. Further, Dr. Tan See Leng,
Dr. Chan Boon Kheng, Mr. Low Soon Teck and
Mr. Chintamani Aniruddha Bhagat, who were appointed
on the Board of the Company on November 13, 2018
and Mr. Shirish Moreshwar Apte, who was appointed
on the Board of the Company on December 31, 2018
are proposed to appointed in the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting. Further, Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi
was appointed as the Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer effective March 19, 2019.

Further, the following changes took place in the
directorship during the Financial Year 2018-19 and till
the date of this report:



a) Mr. Rohit Bhasin was appointed as an additional
independent director in the Company on April 19,
2018. He subsequently resigned on June 26, 2018;

b) Lt Gen. Tejinder Singh Shergill was regularised
as Independent Director by the shareholders w.e.f.
May 5, 2018;

¢) Ms. Suvalaxmi Chakraborty, Mr. Ravi Rajagopal
and Mr. Indrajit Banerjee were appointed as
Non-Executive Independent Directors of the
Company by the Board on April 27, 2018 and their
appointments were regularized by the members in
the extra-ordinary general meeting (“EGM”) of the
Company held on May 22, 2018. At the same EGM,
Dr. Brian William Tempest was disassociated from
his position on the basis of resolution passed by the
members;

d) Mr. Harpal Singh, Lt. Gen. Tejinder Singh Shergill
and Ms. Sabina Vaisoha resigned from directorship
of the Company w.e.f. May 20, 2018;

e) Mr. Ravi Rajagopal was appointed as Chairman of
the Board with effect from June 1, 2018;

f) Dr. Tan See Leng, Dr. Chan Boon Kheng,
Mr. Low Soon Teck and Mr. Chintamani Aniruddha
Bhagat were appointed as Additional Directors
of the Company effective November 13, 2018 and
Mr. Shirish Moreshwar Apte was appointed as
Additional Director (designated as Non-Executive
Vice Chairman) effective December 31, 2018; and

g) Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi was appointed as Chief
Executive Officer w.e.f. March 18, 2019 and as
Managing Director effective March 19, 2019.

Brief resume of the directors being appointed and/or
regularized at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting
is separately disclosed in the Notice of the ensuing
Annual General Meeting.

All Independent Directors have submitted declarations
that they meet the criteria of independence as laid down
under Section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015.

During the Financial Year 2018-19, twenty five meetings
were held by the Board of Directors. The details of board/
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committee meetings and the attendance of Directors are
provided in the Corporate Governance Report.

Details of Key Managerial Personnel are as under:

Name

Mr. Bhavdeep
Singh

Dr. Ashutosh
Raghuvanshi

Mr. Gagandeep
Singh Bedi

Mr. Girish Kumar
Gupta

Mr. Vivek Kumar
Goyal

Mr. Rahul Ranjan

Designation

Chief Executive Officer (Resigned
vide letter dated November 8, 2018
and effective March 17, 2019)

Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer (Appointed as
CEO w.e.f. March 18, 2019 and as
Director and Managing Director
effective March 19, 2019)

Chief Financial Officer (Resigned
vide letter dated August 30, 2018
and effective September 30, 2018)

Chief Financial Officer (Appointed
on October 1, 2018 and resigned
effective April 8, 2019)

Chief Financial Officer (Appointed
w.e.f April 8,2019)

Company Secretary (Resigned

effective October 1, 2018)

Company Secretary (Appointed
w.e.f. October 1, 2018)

Mr. Sumit Goel

Disclosures regarding the following are mentioned in

report on Corporate Governance forming part of this

report.

1. Composition of Committee(s) of the Board of
Director and other details;

2. Details of establishment of Vigil Mechanism;

3.  Details of remuneration paid to all the Directors
including Stock options; and

4. Commission received by Managing Director and/or
Whole Time Director; if any.

BOARD EVALUATION

Pursuant to the provisions of Companies Act, 2013 and
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015, the Board and the respective
committees are required to carry out performance
evaluation of the Board as a body, the Directors
individually, Chairman as well as that of its Committees.

The following process of evaluation was approved by
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the
Board of Directors:
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Process Remarks

No.

1. Individual Self- Duly filled in self-evaluation forms

Assessment were shared by the Directors.

2. One to One Process Coordinator interacted

discussion with the Board members to
assess performance, invite direct
feedback and seek inputs to identify
opportunities for improvement.

3. Evaluation by A compilation of the individual
the Board and  self-assessments and one to one
of Independent discussions were placed at the
Directors meetings of the Independent

Director’s (ID’s) and the Board of
Directors (BoD) for them to review
collectively.

4. Final recording Based on the above, a final report

on Board Evaluation 2018-19 was
presented at a meeting of the Board
of Directors.

and reporting

MANAGERIAL REMUNERATION

Disclosures pursuant to Rule 5 of the Companies
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial
Personnel) Rules, 2014 are as under:

(a) Comparison and ratio of the remuneration of
each director to the median remuneration of the
employees of the Company for the Financial Year
2018-19

Criteria for Evaluation (including Independent
Directors)

This includes Members Selection and Induction
Process, Knowledge, skills, Diligence, participation,
Leadership skills and Personnel attributes.

This includes Board focus (Strategic inputs),
Board Meeting Management, Board Effectiveness
Management Engagement and addressing of follow up
requests.

This includes demonstration of integrity, commitment,
attendance at the meetings, contribution and
participation, professionalism, contribution while
developing Annual Operating Plans, demonstration of
roles and responsibilities, review of high risk issues &
grievance redressal mechanism, succession planning,
working of Board Committees etc.

Name Remuneration Median
of the of Director = Remuneration Ratio
Director (R in crore) of employees

(R in crore)
*NIL

* Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi joined on 18-Mar-19
and his salary for the month of March, 2019 was
paid with April 19 month’s salary. Accordingly, for the
Financial Year 2018-19, no remuneration was paid to
any director (except sitting fees)

(b) The percentage increase in remuneration of each
director, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Executive
Officer, Company Secretary or Manager, if any,

during the financial year under review

/2
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NA

Name of Designation *% increase in
Director/ KMP Remuneration
Mr. Bhavdeep Singh ~ Chief Executive 0%

Officer
'Dr. Ashutosh Managing Director N.A
Raghuvanshi and Chief Executive

Officer
*Mr. Gagandeep Chief Financial 0%
Singh Bedi Officer
Mr. Girish Kumar  Chief Financial NA
Gupta Officer
Mr. Rahul Ranjan Company Secretary 7%
*Mr. Sumit Goel Company Secretary N.A

! Appointed as CEO effective 18-Mar-2019 and as
Managing Director effective 19-Mar-2019
Resigned effective September 30, 2018

*Appointed w.e.f. October 1, 2018 and resigned
effective April 8, 2019

*Appointed w.e.f. October 1, 2018

*% increase in remuneration is effective 1st April
2018

The percentage increase in the median
remuneration of employees in the financial year
is 6.6% (8% in the last year) (Median remuneration



increase of the employees is eligible for appraisal as
on 1* April 2018)

(d) The number of permanent employees on the rolls
of Company is 2610 as on March 31, 2019.

(e) Average percentile increase already made
in the salaries of employees other than the
managerial personnel in the last financial year
and its comparison with the percentile increase
in the managerial remuneration and justification
thereof and any exceptional circumstances for
increase in the managerial remuneration

Particulars For the
Financial Year
2018-19
(A) Average  percentile 5.4%
increase already

made in the salaries
of employees other
than the managerial
personnel

(B) Percentile increase -
in the managerial
remuneration

Comparison of (A) and (B) -

Justification 5.4% is the company
average. The incre-
ment band for eligible
employees was 0%
to 10%. There was
no increment for Sr.
leadership team in
Band 4.

Any exceptional

circumstances for NA

increase in the managerial

remuneration

(f) Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi’s remuneration

structure includes variable pay, however, the
variable payout for Financial Year 2018-19 (his
appointment dated being March 18, 2019) will
be made alongwith the Financial Year 2019-20.
There is no variable payment being made to any
other director of the Company.

(g) Remuneration paid to Directors and KMPs is as
g p
per the Remuneration Policy of the Company.

Directors’ Report

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Board has, on the recommendation of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee framed a
policy for selection and appointment of Directors, Senior
Management and their remuneration including criteria
for determining qualifications, positive attributes,
independence of a Director etc. Details of Remuneration
Policy and changes, if any, are stated in the Corporate
Governance Report.

The Company has from time to time familiarised the
Board of Directors with the Company’s operations, their
roles, rights, responsibilities in the Company, nature of
the industry in which the Company operates, business
model of the Company, etc. The same is governed by a
template viz Board of Directors Governance Standard
and it is available at https://d3frl090092vlr.cloudfront.
net/Board%200f%20Directors%20Governance%20
Standards.pdf.

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES

The information required pursuant to Section 197 read
with Rule 5(2) of the Companies (Appointment and
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 in
respect of employees of the Company, will be provided
upon request. In terms of Section 136 of the Companies
Act, 2013, the Report and Accounts are being sent to
the Members and others entitled thereto, excluding the
information on employees’ particulars which is available
for inspection by the Members at the Registered Office
and/or Corporate Office of the Company during business
hours between 10.00 am to 12.00 noon on working days
(except Saturday) of the Company upto the date of the
ensuing Annual General Meeting. If any Member is
interested in obtaining a copy thereof, such Member may
write to the Company Secretary in this regard.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There are a few materially significant Related Party
Transactions made by the Company with other related
parties which forms part of the Annual Report.
Disclosures as required under Section 134(3)(h) read
with Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules,
2014, are given in “Annexure - VI” in Form AOC- 2 as
specified under the Companies Act, 2013.

The Related Party Transactions are placed before the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for approval
as required under SEBI (Listing Obligations and
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. Prior
omnibus approval of the Audit and Risk Management
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Committee is obtained for the transactions which are
of a foreseeable and repetitive nature. The transactions
entered into pursuant to the omnibus approval so granted
are audited and a statement giving details of all related
party transactions is placed before the Audit and Risk
Management Committee for their review on a quarterly
basis.

The Company has developed a Related Party Transactions
Framework and Standard Operating Procedures for
the purpose of identification and monitoring of such
transactions.

The policy on Related Party Transactions as approved
by the Board is uploaded on the Company’s website
and the same is available at the following link https://
d3frl090092vlr.cloudfront.net/Related-Party-
Transactions-Framework-Document.pdf.

None of the current Directors has any pecuniary
relationship or transaction vis-a-vis the Company, except
to the extent of sitting fees and remuneration approved
by the Board of Directors and/or shareholders of the
Company and as disclosed in this Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

The Company has designed a risk management policy
and framework for risk identification, assessment,
mitigation plan development and monitoring of action
to mitigate the risks. The key objective of the policy is
to provide a formalized framework to enable judicious
allocation of resources on the critical areas which can
adversely impact the Company’s ability to achieve its
objectives. The policy is applicable to the Company and
its subsidiaries. The policy defines an architecture and
oversight structure to assist effective implementation.
The details thereof are covered under the Management
and Discussion Analysis Report which forms part of the
Annual Report.

POLICY FOR PREVENTION, PROHIBITION AND
REDRESSAL OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT

Your Company has adopted a Policy for Prevention,
Prohibition and Redressal of Sexual Harassment. As per
the requirement of the Sexual Harassment of Women at
Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition & Redressal) Act,
2013 and Rules made thereunder, your Company has
constituted Internal Complaints Committees (ICC).
During the Financial Year 2018-19, the Company
has received 10 complaints on sexual harassment and
these complaints have been resolved with appropriate
action taken and hence no complaint is pending as on
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March 31, 2019. The same may also be read in terms of
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014.

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

As per SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements)  Regulations, =~ 2015,  Corporate
Governance Report with Auditors’ certificate thereon
and Management Discussion and Analysis Report are
attached, which form part of this report.

CODE OF CONDUCT

Declaration by Dr. Ashutosh Raghuvanshi, Managing
Director and Chief Executive Officer confirming
compliance with the ‘Fortis Code of Conduct’ is enclosed
with Corporate Governance Report.

CERTIFICATE BY STATUTORY AUDITORS FOR
DOWNSTREAM INVESTMENT

A certificate from the Statutory Auditors of the Company
stating that the Company has duly complied with the
requirements of downstream investment made by the
Company to second level entities in accordance with
Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer or Issue of
Security by a Person Resident Outside India) Regulations,
2017 would be placed at the Annual General Meeting for
inspection by members.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

To the best of their knowledge and belief and according
to the information and explanations obtained by them,
your Directors make the following statements in terms of
Section 134(3)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013:

(a) in the preparation of the Annual Accounts, the
applicable accounting standards have been followed
along with proper explanations relating to material
departures therefrom;

(b) we have assessed the selection and application of
accounting policies for their consistent application
and made judgements and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair
view of the state of the affairs of the Company at
the end of the financial year and of the loss of the
Company for the Financial Year ended March 31,
2019;

(c) except for the findings of the Investigation Report,
including matters on internal control described in
Notes 29 and 30 in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements and in the notes to the
Standalone Financial Statements and our inability at



(d)

(e)

()

this juncture to make a determination on whether
a fraud has occurred on the Company considering
the limitations on the information available to
Luthra and their qualifications and disclaimers as
described in their investigation report, proper and
sufficient care has been taken for the maintenance
of adequate accounting records in accordance with
the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets
of the Company and for preventing and detecting
fraud and other irregularities;

the Statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis for the reasons stated in Note 38 in
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
and Note 33 in the notes to the Standalone Financial
Statements; and

except for certain systemic and control lapses
identified in the Investigation Report as described
in Notes 29 and 30 in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements and in the Notes to the
Standalone Financial Statements, proper internal
financial controls have been laid down and that
such internal financial controls are adequate and are
operating effectively;

except for the matters on related parties and
managerial remuneration described in Note 32(4) in
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
and Note 32 in the notes to the Standalone Financial
Statements and certain systemic and control lapses,

Directors’ Report

as detailed in Notes 29 and 30 in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements and in the Notes
to the Standalone Financial Statements, there are
proper systems in place to ensure compliance with
the provisions of all applicable laws and that such
systems are adequate and operating effectively.
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Your Directors place on record their gratitude to the
Central Government, State Governments and all other
Government agencies for the assistance, co-operation
and encouragement they have extended to the Company.

Your Directors also take this opportunity to extend a
special thanks to the medical fraternity and patients for
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in the Company. Your Directors also greatly appreciate
the commitment and dedication of all the employees at
all levels, that has contributed to the growth and success
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By Order of the Board of Directors
For Fortis Healthcare Limited

Sd/-
Date: May 24, 2019 Ravi Rajagopal
Place: Gurugram Chairman
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Annexure II to Directors’ Report

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2019

[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of the Companies (Appointment and
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,

The Members

Fortis Healthcare Limited

Fortis Hospital, Sector-62, Phase-VIII,
Mohali-160062.

We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to good
corporate practices by Fortis Healthcare Limited (hereinafter called the Company). Secretarial Audit was conducted
in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/ statutory compliances and
expressing our opinion thereon.

We report that:-

a) Maintenance of secretarial records are the responsibility of the management of the Company. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these secretarial records based on our audit.

b) We have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance about
the correctness of the contents of the secretarial records. The verification was done on test basis to ensure that
correct facts are reflected in secretarial records. We believe that the processes and practices, we followed, provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

c)  We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of the financial statements of the Company.

d) Wherever required, we have obtained the management representation about the compliances of laws, rules and
regulations and happening of events etc.

e) 'The compliance of the provisions of the corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards is the
responsibility of the management. Our examination was limited to the verification of procedures on test basis.

f)  The Secretarial Audit Report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the efficacy
or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records
maintained by the Company and also the information provided by the Company, its officers, agents and authorized
representatives during the conduct of Secretarial Audit, we hereby report that in our opinion, the Company has, during
the audit period covering the financial year ended on March 31, 2019 (“audit period”) complied with the statutory
provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company has proper Board processes and compliance mechanism in
place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made hereinafter:

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by the
Company for the financial year ended on March 31, 2019 according to the provisions of:

(i) 'The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder;
(ii) The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA)) and the rules made thereunder;
(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder;

(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder to the extent of Foreign
Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial Borrowings, to the extent applicable;
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(v) The following Regulations prescribed under the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’):-

30

(a)

(b)
(c)

(d)
(e)
(f)

(g)
(h)
(i)

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations,
2011;

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015;

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2009 & 2018;

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014;
*The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008;

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations,
1993 regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client;

*The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 2009;
*The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 1998; &

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2015 (herein after referred as “SEBI LODR”);

* No event took place under these regulations during the audit period.

We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the Secretarial Standard on Meetings of the
Board of Directors and Secretarial Standard on General Meetings issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries
of India, with which the Company has generally complied with.

During the audit period, the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations and
Guidelines, to the extent applicable, as mentioned above, except that:

>

The audited financial statements/ results for the year ended on March 31, 2018 were submitted to the stock
exchange(s) after a delay of 37 days against the specified period as required under Regulation 33(3)(d) of SEBI
LODR. In respect thereto, necessary penal provisions were duly complied with;

Statement on Impact of Audit Qualifications for audit report with modified opinion was submitted with the stock
exchange(s) after a delay of almost 1 month against the specified period as required under Regulation 33(3)(d) of
SEBI LODR. Necessary compliances including newspaper publication(s) were duly complied with;

Prior intimation to the stock exchanges was not given for the board meeting held on July 07, 2018 for the approval
of annual financial statements/ results for the year ended on March 31, 2018, which is not in compliance with
Regulation 29(2) of SEBI LODR;

Composition of Audit Committee was modified on November 13, 2018 which was not in accordance with
Regulation 18 of SEBI LODR. The same was thereafter rectified on January 30, 2019. In respect thereto, necessary
penal provisions were duly complied with;

No independent director(s) of the Company were appointed on the board of Fortis Hospotel Limited and Fortis
Hospitals Limited, both being unlisted material subsidiaries of the Company, which is not in compliance with
Regulation 24(1) of SEBI LODR;

The proceedings of Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on August 13, 2018 was submitted to the
stock exchanges after the delay of 2 days which is not in compliance with Regulation 30 of SEBI LODR;

Credit rating of the Company was revised by ICRA Limited on September 06, 2018 and the same was intimated
to the stock exchanges on September 20, 2018 which is not in compliance with Regulation 30 of SEBI LODR;

Fortis Healthcare Limited
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»  The Company disclosed to the stock exchanges about Share subscription Agreement entered into with IHH
Healthcare Berhad on July 13, 2018, however, the same was not in the format as prescribed under Para No. 5 of
the SEBI Circular CIR/CFD/CMD/4/2015 dated September 09, 2015;

»  Necessary documentation in respect of secured loan obtained from Yes Bank amounting to Rs. 614 Crore is
yet to be completed and accordingly, the Company has not filed Form CHG-1 with Registrar of Companies,
Chandigarh;

»  Disclosures as required under the provisions of Section 149(7) of the Companies Act, 2013 were not placed before
first meeting of board of directors held in Financial Year ended on March 31, 2019, however, same was placed at
subsequent meeting of the board;

»  Disclosures as required under the provisions of Section 184(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 were not placed before
first meeting of board of directors held in Financial Year ended on March 31, 2019, however, same was placed at
subsequent meeting of the board;

»  The Company has initiated the process of performance evaluation of the Board as a whole, its Committees and
Individual Directors, as per the requirements of Section 134(3)(p) of the Act read with Regulation 17(10) of SEBI
LODR Regulations and report of same is yet to be placed before the board; &

> As reported in the secretarial audit report of Financial year ended March 31, 2018, the remuneration of
R 20,02,39,000/- paid to the erstwhile Executive Chairman of the Company in relation to his role as ‘Lead:
Strategic Initiatives’, in the Strategy Function, was in excess of the limits approved by the Central Government
as under Section 197 of the Act. As per the management, the Company is in the process of seeking refund of such
excess amount paid to him.

(vi) The Company is engaged in the healthcare delivery services and networks of multispecialty hospitals and diagnostic
centers in India and overseas through its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associate companies. Following are some
of the laws specifically applicable to the Company:-

» The Clinical Establishment (Registration and Regulation) Act, 2010 and Rules made thereunder;
» The Drugs Control Act, 1950 and Rules made thereunder; and
» The Transplantation of Human Organs Act, 1994 and bye laws made thereunder.

We have checked the compliance management system of the Company to obtain reasonable assurance about the
adequacy of systems in place to ensure compliance of specifically applicable laws and this verification was done on test
basis. We believe that the Audit evidence which we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion. Except elsewhere mentioned in this report, in our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to explanations given to us, we believe that the compliance management system of the Company is adequate
to ensure compliance of laws specifically applicable to the Company.

We further report that Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive Director,
Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors. The changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that
took place during the audit period were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act.

Adequate notices were given to all directors of the Board Meetings. Agenda and detailed notes on agenda are sent in
advance of the meetings other than those held at shorter notice and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further
information and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting for meaningful participation at the meeting.

Board decisions are carried out with majority consent and, no dissenting views were required to be captured and
recorded as part of the minutes.

We further report that systems and processes of the company needs to be strengthened to commensurate with the
size and operations of the company to monitor and to ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and
guidelines.
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We further report that:-

>

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 186, 188 and other applicable provisions of the Act and Regulation 23 of
the SEBI LODR, members of the Company passed a special resolution on May 05, 2018 vide postal ballot for
the approval of definitive agreements entered into by the Company with inter alia, RHT Health Trust Manager
Pte Limited (“Trustee Manager”), acting in its capacity as trustee-manager of RHT Health Trust (“RHT”), Fortis
Global Healthcare Infrastructure Pte. Ltd. and RHT Health Trust Services Pte. Ltd. for acquisition of equity and
debt securities of International Hospital Limited, Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Hospital Limited, Fortis
Health Management Limited, Hospitalia Eastern Private Limited and Fortis Hospotel Limited from Fortis Global
Healthcare Infrastructure Pte. Ltd. and RHT Health Trust Services Pte. Ltd. for an overall consideration of
<. 4,650 Crores.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 42, 62(1)(c) of the Act and provisions of other applicable law for the time
being in force, members of the Company passed a special resolution on August 13, 2018 in their extraordinary
general meeting to create, issue, offer and allot on preferential basis, for cash, 23,52,94,117 (Twenty Three Crore
Fifty Two Lakh Ninety Four Thousand One Hundred and Seventeen) equity shares of the Company of the face
value of R. 10/- (Rupees Ten only) each at a price of . 170 (including a premium of %. 160) per equity share
aggregating upto . 4,000 Crore (Rupees Four Thousand Crores Only) to Northern TK Venture Pte Ltd.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 13, 61 of the Act and provisions of other applicable law for the time being
in force, Members of the Company passed a special resolution on August 13, 2018 in their extraordinary general
meeting for increase of authorised capital of the Company and alteration of capital clause of memorandum of
association of the Company.

Pursuant to Regulation 31A of SEBI LODR and provisions of other applicable law for the time being in force,
Members of the Company passed an ordinary resolution on August 13, 2018 in their extraordinary general
meeting for reclassification of members of the promoter/ promoter group to the public shareholder category and
classification of Northern Tk Venture Pte Ltd as promoter.

Members of the Company passed a special resolution on October 29, 2018 vide postal ballot for the approval of

amendment made in Master Purchase Agreement entered into with the Trustee Manager of RHT, Fortis Global

Healthcare Infrastructure Pte. Ltd. and RHT Health Trust Services Pte. Ltd. for acquisition of equity and debt

securities issued by International Hospital Limited, Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Hospital Limited, Fortis

Health Management Limited, Hospitalia Eastern Private Limited and Fortis Hospotel Limited to Fortis Global

Healthcare Infrastructure Pte. Ltd. and RHT Healthtrust Services Pte. Ltd. and for extension of Long Stop Date
from September 30, 2018 to December 31, 2018.

For Sanjay Grover & Associates

Company Secretaries

Firm Registration No. P2001DE052900

Sd/-

Sanjay Grover

New Delhi Managing Partner
May 23, 2019 CP No. 3850
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Annexure III to Directors’ Report
FORM NO. MGT 9
EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN
As on Financial Year ended on 31.03.2019

(Pursuant to Section 92 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 12(1) of the Companies
(Management & Administration) Rules, 2014)

I.  REGISTRATION & OTHER DETAILS:

S.  Particulars Details
No.
1. CIN L85110PB1996PLC045933
2. Registration Date February 28, 1996
3. Name of the Company Fortis Healthcare Limited
4.  Category/Sub-category of the Company Public Company/Limited by Shares
5. Address of the Registered Office & contact Fortis Hospital, Sector 62, Phase VIII, Mohali-160062
details Tel. 0172-5096001 Fax: 0172-5096221

Email Id: secretarial@fortishealthcare.com
Website: www.fortishealthcare.com

6.  Whether listed company Yes

7. Name, Address & contact details of the Karvy Fintech Private Limited
Registrar & Transfer Agent, if any. Karvy Selenium, Tower B,

Plot No. 31 & 32, Financial District,
Nanakramguda, Serilingampally Mandal
Hyderabad-500032
Phone No. - +91 40 6716 2222
Fax No. - +91 40 23420814
E-mail: einward.ris@karvy.com
Website: www.karvyfintech.com

II  PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY

S. Name and Description of main products / services *NIC Code of the % to total turnover
No. Product/service of the Company
1 To establish, maintain, operate, run, manage or administer 861 100%

hospitals, medicare, healthcare, diagnostic, health aids and
research centers

*As per National Industrial Classification - Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation
http://mospi.nic.in/Mospi_New/site/home.aspx#
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III. PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

34

(A) HOLDING COMPANIES
S.No Name and address of the Company CIN/GLN Holding/ % of shares
Subsidiary/ held
Associate
1 IHH Healthcare Berhad Foreign Ultimate -
Level 11 Block A, Pantai Hospital Company Holding
Kuala Lumpur, 8 Jalan Bukit Pantai, Company
59100, Malaysia
2 Integrated Healthcare Holdings Limited Foreign Intermediate -
Level 11 Block A, Pantai Hospital Kuala ~ Company Holding
Lumpur, 8 Jalan Bukit Pantai, 59100 Company
Malaysia
3 Parkway Pantai Limited Foreign Intermediate -
111, Somerset Road, # 15-01, TripleOne =~ Company Holding
Somerset, Singapore 238164 Company
4 Northern TK Venture Pte Ltd Foreign Immediate 31.1
111, Somerset Road, # 15-01, TripleOne =~ Company Holding
Somerset, Singapore 238164 Company
(B) DIRECT SUBSIDIARIES OF FORTIS HEALTHCARE LIMITED
S. No Name and address of the CIN/GLN Holding/ % of
Company Subsidiary/ shares
Associate held
1  Hiranandani Healthcare Private  U85100MH2005PTC154823  Subsidiary 100
Limited Company
Mini Seashore Road, Sector-
10A, Plot No. 28, Vashi, Navi
Mumbai-400703
2 *Fortis Hospotel Limited U74899HR1990PLC054770  Subsidiary =~ 74.35
Fortis Memorial Research Company
Institute, Sector-44,
Gurgaon-122002
3 Fortis La Femme Limited U85100DL2011PLC217500  Subsidiary 100
Escorts Heart Institute and Company
Research Centre, Okhla Road,
Delhi-110025
4 SRL Limited U74899PB1995PLC045956  Subsidiary 56.90
Fortis Hospital, Sector 62, Phase- Company (on
VIII, Mohali-160062 diluted
basis)
5  Fortis Healthcare International Foreign Company Subsidiary 100
Limited Company
4™ Floor, Ebene Skies, Rue de
I'Institut, Ebéne, Mauritius
6  Fortis Hospitals Limited U93000DL2009PLC222166  Subsidiary 100
Escorts Heart Institute and Company

Research Centre, Okhla Road,
Delhi-110025
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S. No Name and address of the CIN/GLN Holding/ % of Applicable
Company Subsidiary/ shares Section
Associate held
7  Escorts Heart Institute and U85110CH2000PLC023744  Subsidiary 100 2(87)
Research Centre Limited Company

OPD City Centre, SCO 11,
Sector-11-D Chandigarh-160011

8  Fortis CSR Foundation U85100DL2014NPL271782  Subsidiary 100 2(87)
Escorts Heart Institute and Company
Research Centre, Okhla Road,
New Delhi-110025

9  *International Hospital Limited =~ U74999HR1994PLC048225 Subsidiary 78.4 2(87)
Fortis Memorial Research Company
Institute, Sector-44,
Gurgaon-122002

10  *Fortis Health Management U85110DL2008PLC176412  Subsidiary 52 2(87)
Limited Company
Escorts Heart Institute and
Research Centre, Okhla Road,
New Delhi-110025
11  *Escorts Heart and Super U85110DL2003PLC120016  Subsidiary  48.58 2(87)
Speciality Hospital Limited Company
Escorts Heart Institute and
Research Centre, Okhla Road,
New Delhi-110025

*In direct wholly owned subsidiaries

(C) DIRECT SUBSIDIARIES OF FORTIS HOSPITALS LIMITED

S.No Name and address of the CIN/GLN Holding/ % of  Applicable
Company Subsidiary/ shares Section
Associate held
1 Fortis Cancer Care Limited U85110DL2011PLC217420  Subsidiary 100 2(87)
Escorts Heart Institute and Company

Research Centre, Okhla Road,
New Delhi-110025

2 Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited L85110PB1989PLC045948  Subsidiary = 62.71 2(87)
Fortis Hospital, Sector 62, Phase Company
VIII, Mohali-160062, Punjab.

3 Fortis Health Management (East) U85190DL2011PLC217462  Subsidiary 100 2(87)
Limited Company

Escorts Heart Institute and
Research Centre, Okhla Road,
New Delhi-110025

4  Fortis C-Doc Healthcare Limited =~ U85110DL2010PLC208379  Subsidiary 60 2(87)
Escorts Heart Institute and Company
Research Centre, Okhla Road,
New Delhi-110025
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S.No Name and address of the CIN/GLN Holding/ % of  Applicable

Company Subsidiary/ shares Section
Associate held
5  Birdie & Birdie Realtors Private U45400DL2008PTC173959  Subsidiary 100 2(87)
Limited Company

Escorts Heart Institute and
Research Centre, Okhla Road,
New Delhi-110025

6  Stellant Capital Advisory Services U31300MH2005PTC153134  Subsidiary 100 2(87)
Private Limited Company
Fortis Hospitals Limited, Mulund
Goregaon Link Road, Bhandup
(West), Mumbai-400078

7 Fortis Global Healthcare Foreign Company Subsidiary 100 2(87)
(Mauritius) Limited Company
4™ Floor, Ebene Skies, Rue de
I'Institut, Ebéne, Mauritius
8  Fortis Emergency Services U93000DL2009PLC189866  Subsidiary 100 2(87)
Limited Company
Escorts Heart Institute and
Research Centre, Okhla R